
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Kathrin Sears, Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Tom Butt, Vice Chair 
City of Richmond 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Alan Schwartzman 
City of Benicia 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Greg Lyman 
City of El Cerrito 
 
Barbara Coler 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Sashi McEntee 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Brad Wagenknecht  
County of Napa 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Genoveva Calloway 
City of San Pablo 
 
Andrew McCullough 
City of San Rafael 
 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 
 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901  

1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  

Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday, February 18, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
 

The Charles F. McGlashan Board Room 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue, San Rafael, CA 94901 

 
Agenda Page 1 of 2 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected at 1125 Tamalpais Avenue, San Rafael, CA 94901 on the Mission Avenue side of the building. The meeting 
facilities are in accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large 
Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, 
reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) 
or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

1. Swearing in of New Board Member Sashi McEntee  
 
 
2. Board Announcements (Discussion) 

 
 

3. Public Open Time (Discussion) 
 
 

4. Report from Chief Executive Officer (Discussion) 
 
 
5. Consent Calendar (Discussion/Action)  

C.1 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes 
C.2 Approved Contracts Update 
C.3 Monthly Budget Report 
C.4 Second Agreement with River City Bank for On Bill 

Repayment Services 
 

 
6.  Proposed Budgets for FY16/17 (Discussion/Action) 

 
 

7. Proposed Rates for FY16/17 (Discussion/Action) 
 
 

8. Electric Schedule Local Sol – 100% Local Solar Electricity Supply 
(Discussion/Action) 

 
 

MCE 



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Kathrin Sears, Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Tom Butt, Vice Chair 
City of Richmond 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Alan Schwartzman 
City of Benicia 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Greg Lyman 
City of El Cerrito 
 
Barbara Coler 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 

 
Sashi McEntee 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Brad Wagenknecht  
County of Napa 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 

 
Genoveva Calloway 
City of San Pablo 
 
Andrew McCullough 
City of San Rafael 
 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 
 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901  

1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  
 

 

 

  
Marin Clean Energy  

Board of Directors Meeting 
Thursday, February 18, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
 

The Charles F. McGlashan Board Room 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue, San Rafael, CA 94901 

 
Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda material can be inspected at 1125 Tamalpais Avenue, San Rafael, CA 94901 on the Mission Avenue side of the building. The meeting 
facilities are in accessible locations. If you are a person with a disability and require this document in an alternate format (example: Braille, Large 
Print, Audiotape, CD-ROM), you may request it by using the contact information below. If you require accommodation (example: ASL Interpreter, 
reader, note taker) to participate in any MCE program, service or activity, you may request an accommodation by calling (415) 464-6032 (voice) 
or 711 for the California Relay Service or by e-mail at djackson@mceCleanEnergy.org not less than four work days in advance of the event. 

 
9. Draft Reserve Policy 013 (Discussion/Action) 

 
 

10. Update on Voting Shares for MCE Service Area Communities 
(Discussion) 

 
 
11. Regulatory and Legislative Updates (Discussion) 
 
 
12. Board Member & Staff Matters (Discussion) 
 
 
13. Adjourn 

MCE 



Revised:  02/09/16 

 
 
 

OATH OF OFFICE 
 
 
 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF MARIN 
 
 
I, Sashi McEntee, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support and defend the 
Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of California against all 
enemies, foreign and domestic; that I will bear true faith and allegiance to the 
Constitution of the United States and the constitution of the State of California; that I take 
this obligation freely, without any mental reservation or purpose of evasion; and that I 
will well and faithfully discharge the duties upon which I am about to enter. 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
       Sashi McEntee 
 
 
subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this 18th day of February 2016 
 
 
 
DAWN WEISZ 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, MARIN CLEAN ENERGY  
 
 
By____________________________________________, 
       
 
 
 
 
 
Note: Language of Oath is prescribed to Article XX, Sect. 3 of the Constitution of the 
State of California and applicable case law as verified by Marin County Counsel, May, 
1989. 
 

Oath of Office - Sashi McEntee, Mill Valley



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 1 January 21, 2016 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
 

BOARD MEETING MINUTES 
Thursday, January 21, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
THE CHARLES F. MCGLASHAN BOARD ROOM 

1125 TAMALPAIS AVENUE, SAN RAFAEL, CA  94901 
 

 
Roll Call:  Director Tom Butt called the regular Board meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. An established 

quorum was met. 
 
Present: Denise Athas, City of Novato 
 Sloan Bailey, Town of Corte Madera 
 Tom Butt, City of Richmond 
 Genoveva Calloway, City of San Pablo 
 Barbara Coler, Town of Fairfax 
 Ford Greene, Town of San Anselmo 
 Kevin Haroff, City of Larkspur 
 Greg Lyman, City of El Cerrito 
 Bob McCaskill, City of Belvedere 
 Andrew McCullough, City of San Rafael 
 Emmett O’Donnell, Town of Tiburon 
 Alan Schwartzman, City of Benicia 
 Katie Rice, (Alternate to Kate Sears), County of Marin 
 Carla Small, Town of Ross 
 Brad Wagenknecht, County of Napa 
   
Absent: City of Mill Valley Representative Not Yet Assigned 
 Ray Withy, City of Sausalito 
 
Staff:  Greg Brehm, Director of Power Resources 

John Dalessi, Operations & Development 
Alex DiGiorgio, Community Development Manager 
Carol Dorsett, Administrative Assistant 
Katie Gaier, Human Resources Manager 
Brian Goldstein, Resource Planning & Implementation 
LaWanda Hill, Administrative Assistant 
Darlene Jackson, Board Clerk 
Michael Maher, Maher Accountancy 
David McNeil, Project and Finance Manager 
Beckie Menten, Director of Energy Efficiency 
Jamie Tuckey, Director of Public Affairs 
Dawn Weisz, Chief Executive Officer 

 
1. Board Announcements (Discussion) 
 
Director Butt wished CEO Dawn Weisz a happy birthday, and a round of applause followed. 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 2 January 21, 2016 

 
2. Public Open Time (Discussion): 
 
Stan Sparrow, an electrician working on the Buck Institute Solar project, drew the Board’s attention to 
new PG&E tariffs impacting commercial customers.  Mr Sparrow suggested that media coverage of 
tariffs and PCIA charges and municipally sponsored ballot surveys would help draw public attention to 
the issues and promote the success of solar energy in California.   
 
3. Report from Chief Executive Officer (Discussion) 

Dawn Weisz, Executive Officer gave the following report: 
 

• MCE is streaming the Board meeting live for the first time. She briefly spoke about the video 
technology and said meetings are uploaded and posted to MCE’s website.  

• On Tuesday the City of Napa voted unanimously to adopt an ordinance to join MCE subject to 
the approval of the MCE Board. Four cities in Napa have now taken this step, with Yountville 
expected to take action in the next 4-6 weeks. 

• Last Wednesday the San Francisco PUC signed power supply contracts to supply their CCA 
program, Clean Power SF, which is expected to launch  in May of this year. They feature a green 
program and a 100% renewable super-green product. They will start by serving 30 MW in May, 
add another 20 MW in August and then they will be phasing in additional customers in future 
phases. 

• The Ad Hoc Rate Setting Committee discussed the proposed rates for the 2016/17 fiscal year. 
These will be presented along with the proposed budget at the February Board Executive 
Committee meetings.. 

 
4. Board Introductions for 2016 (Discussion) 
 
Ms. Weisz stated that in some of her individual discussions with Directors at the beginning of the year it 
was suggested it might be helpful to do a roundtable at the beginning of each year so Directors have an 
opportunity to introduce themselves. Directors introduced themselves and each provided a brief 
description of their backgrounds and qualifications.   
 
5. Consent Calendar (Discussion/Action): 

C.1 12.17.15 Meeting Minutes 
C.2 Approved Contracts Update 
C.3 Monthly Budget Report 
C.4 MCE New Staff Legal Team Positions for 2016 
C.5 2nd Addendum to 2nd Agreement with Rincon Consultants 

ACTION: It was M/S/C (Wagenknecht/Bailey) to approve Consent Calendar Items C.1 through C.5. 
Motion carried by unanimous roll call vote: (Abstain on Item C.1: Small; Absent: Withy). 
 
6. Formation of 2016 Ad Hoc Contracts Committee (Discussion/Action) 
 
Greg Brehm, Director of Power Resources, stated that the Ad Hoc Contracts committee is part of the 
MCE Open Season process and reviews and recommends MCE’s longer term contract opportunities of 5 
years or longer in duration. MCE expects to have a significant year of contracting with expansion of the 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 3 January 21, 2016 

light green program to include a higher percentage of renewables starting in 2016 and continuing over 
the next 5 years and also filling MCE open positions for 2018 and beyond.  
 
Ms. Weisz explained that MCE can have up to 7 members, but they must ensure they do not violate the 
Brown Act by constituting a quorum of any MCE standing committee or a quorum of the MCE Board. 
 
Mr. Brehm asked if there were questions from the Board regarding the Open Season process, noting 
that most Directors have already been exposed to it. There were no questions and Director Butt asked 
for volunteers.  
 
Director Bailey asked about the number of times the group meets and Mr. Brehm said he expects the Ad 
Hoc Contracts Committee will hold 3-5 meetings this year. 
 
Director Coler asked whether the committee will meet to approve the contracts or was it making 
decisions as to which suppliers to contract with. Mr. Brehm replied that the Ad Hoc Contracts 
Committee typically reviews Staff proposals, conducts an analysis, and then recommends which 
proposals are presented to the Board of Directors. Director Coler commented that she sometimes gets 
concerned about where MCE is heading on certain power purchases. She asked and confirmed that the 
Committee makes those decisions and thereafter voiced her interest in volunteering. 
 
Director Butt confirmed the composition of the Ad Hoc Committee based on volunteers: 

• Director Bailey 
• Director Greene 
• Director Lyman 
• Director Haroff 
• Director Coler 
• Director Wagenknecht 
• Director Schwartzman 

 
Director Calloway questioned whether the current slate of volunteers constituted a quorum of the 
Executive Committee.   Ms. Weisz stated Directors Bailey, Green, and Haroff are on the Executive 
Committee, and Director Lyman is on the Technical Committee.  The proposed members of the 
Committee therefore do not comprise a quorum of any other committee.  
 
 
 
ACTION: It was M/S/C (Athas/Greene) to approve 2016 Ad Hoc Contracts Committee comprising of 
Directors Bailey, Greene, Lyman, Haroff, Coler, Wagenknecht and Schwartzman. Motion carried by 
unanimous roll call vote: (Absent: Withy). 
 
7. Budget Amendment for FY 2015/16 (Discussion/Action) 
 
David McNeil, Project and Finance Manager, said the item before the Board is consideration of a Budget 
Amendment. The purpose of the Amendment is to seek the Board’s approval of additional expenditures 
in the current fiscal year ending March 31, 2016. These amendments are relatively common occurrences 
and he noted this was the second Amendment brought forward for the Board’s consideration this year. 
 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 4 January 21, 2016 

Mr. McNeil summarized and provided an explanation for increases outlined in the Staff Report.  He 
stated that expenditure increases total $487,000 and are offset by expected lower energy costs.  The net 
impact on the Operating Fund balance is zero.  
 
Michael Maher, Maher Accountancy, suggested comment be given about how MCE expects to finish the 
year.   Mr. McNeil said MCE expects higher total revenues and lower total expenditures than budgeted.  
 
Director Bailey noted that the proposed amendments were discussed at the Executive Committee. He 
stated that the Committee reviewed each line item individually.  He complemented Ms. Weisz and Staff 
for their explanations and expressed support for approval of the Budget Amendment. 
 
ACTION: It was M/S/C (Bailey/Wagenknecht) to approve the Budget Amendment for FY 2015/16. 
Motion carried by unanimous roll call vote: (Absent: Withy). 

 
8. Rates Update (Discussion) 
 
John Dalessi, Operations & Development, provided a PowerPoint presentation and update on PG&E’s 
rate changes. At the end of each year PG&E files an advice letter which consolidates all of the various 
rate changes approved by the CPUC.  Those rates become effective on January 1st. 
 
Mr. Dalessi presented a table identifying MCE customer electric costs for each component of the bill, as 
projected for FY 2017. This compares costs of a bundled PG&E customer and a MCE customer. PG&E’s 
generation rates on average went down 5%. The delivery charges increased about 12% from prior year 
levels, and the total bill for PG&E customers increased about 6%.  
 
For FY beginning April 1, 2016 and ending March 31, 2017 MCE projects that for every dollar of a 
customer’s electric bill, 43 cents goes to MCE in generation services MCE provides for the program. 
About 46 cents of every dollar goes to PG&E for delivery, transmission, distribution and other services 
they provide as the local distribution utility. And, 11 cents of every dollar goes to the PCIA.  On average, 
MCE projects a total of about $36 million in PCIA costs will be paid by MCE customers in the coming 
fiscal year. 
 
As of January MCE’s generation rates are 14% lower on average than PG&E’s generation rates and 
services. This does not account for the PCIA and he said it is important to keep in mind that MCE is 
relatively low cost and it does a good job in managing its rates. If it were not for the PCIA, MCE could be 
saving customers $23 million in the coming year.  
 
Mr. Dalessi then presented a slide on the Annual Generation Cost Comparisons which compares PG&E 
and MCE generation costs by customer Rate Group.  MCE’s generation costs are approximately $24 
million or 14% less expensive than PG&E 
 
Director Bailey asked for an example of the Com-10 structure. Mr. Dalessi replied that it would be 
applicable to a customer the size of a bank or a restaurant. 
 
Director Butt asked for an explanation on the two categories at net 0% which are Com-6 and SL-1. Mr. 
Dalessi stated a Com-6 customer might include small commercial buildings such as a strip mall. SL-1 
customers are street lighting accounts. He said some differences from the way the PCIA is allocated to 
the different groups by PG&E’s rate design, noting that streetlight usage is all nighttime demand so their 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 5 January 21, 2016 

contribution to peak demand is low. As a consequence, the PCIA charge for the Streetlights Rate Group 
is low. The opposite applies to residential customers. He said the costs for MCE customers including the 
PCIA is about 4% above that of PG&E as rates stand today. 
 
Mr. Dalessi then presented average bills for an average residential customer over the year. Since 2010 
when MCE launched it had identical rates at parity with PG&E inclusive of the PCIA at that time. He 
explained the graph which includes the MCE light green program, other delivery, PCIA/FFS fees, and 
PG&E costs. The graph shows that over time MCE rates have varied below and above comparative PG&E 
rates.  Costs were highest in 2012. MCE has been fortunate to have lower costs in recent years despite 
offering a higher renewable energy content. Now given the increased PCIA customer costs are a bit 
higher; however, staff considers the rate comparisons to still be within a competitive range. 
 
Another change from PG&E relates to residential time of use rates and setting the right pricing signal, 
when to use and when to conserve energy and how that aligns with conditions on the electric system as 
a whole. What people are finding is that the old traditional peak definition of noon to 6PM in summer 
months is less and less applicable. The peak time is also shifting, some of which is due to solar coming 
onto the system, both small and large, which is generating the bulk of energy during those daylight 
hours.  
 
Partially as a consequence of this PG&E has proposed to eliminate a couple of their residential time of 
use schedules. The E-7 rate is being eliminated and PG&E will move those customers onto newly 
adopted schedules that have a peak period that is shifted later in the day and shortened by one hour. 
The summer season is also shortened from 6 months to 4 months which will take effect in March.  
 
MCE staff plans to propose a comparable schedule so when a customer is taking delivery service on the 
new ETOU schedule, MCE has a generation schedule that aligns with those time of use periods. 
Therefore, staff anticipates bringing comparable time of use options in February to the Board for 
approval to be effective in March to ensure there is a seamless transition for these customers. 
 
Mr. Dalessi said this has generated a bit of controversy because of the shifts in peak periods and shorter 
summer period, this tends to make rooftop solar less attractive and valuable to the NEM consumer. 
Some of the existing time-of-use schedules are going to be grandfathered and kept open for a period of 
5 years so the E-6 schedule will remain open. MCE has a comparable schedule to Res-6 but the E-7, 8 
and 9 schedules are disappearing which MCE will be discussing in February. 
  
Director Greene stated this is a substantial difference in the cost comparison between what it costs MCE 
and what it costs PG&E. MCE is $23 million less expensive for generation, but he said what is not broken 
out exactly is that PG&E gets fairly compensated for using its infrastructure to deliver MCE’s cheaper 
energy. Basically, PCIA costs are awards of money to PG&E because MCE’s customers are not theirs any 
longer.  
 
Mr. Dalessi stated in theory this is correct; the PCIA’s justification is so that remaining PG&E customers 
do not see rate increases as a result of PG&E losing customers to CCA’s.  
 
Director Greene said the end result is that the costs for all customers are increasing which is resulting in 
it being more difficult to MCE to compete with PG&E, and Mr. Dalessi agreed. He likened it the handicap 
system in golf; if one is a better golfer one is penalized. In that sense, it makes it hard to gain a 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 6 January 21, 2016 

competitive advantage even if they can buy power cheaper which MCE does by 14%. By attaching the 
PCIA charge, it makes it difficult to get closer to parity or, in this case, a bit higher.  
 
Director Greene thanked Mr. Dalessi for his explanation and noted that he did not think the Board could 
be educated too much about the vagaries, the consequences and how the PCIA factors into this 
endeavor MCE is seeking to perform in terms of providing clean energy at a competitive if not cheaper 
rate, and this is making MCE’s job much more difficult. 
 
Director Lyman referred to the E-7 rate changes and the disincentive or the less attractive position for 
new NEM customers. He asked and confirmed with Mr. Dalessi that PG&E customers are going to have 
the same disincentive as MCE customers. 
 
Director Rice referred to questions about the PCIA and she clarified that this fee is helping to backfill 
revenue as PG&E continues to lose customers so it does not have to charge its remaining customers. She 
asked what the forecast is for the PCIA as PG&E loses more and more customers to CCAs.  
 
Mr. Dalessi said MCE has made its best attempts to forecast reasonable expectations of the PCIA in 
moving forward. There is a lack of data availability from PG&E and they claim this is confidential and 
does not release it to MCE. As a result, there is a lot of participation in the regulatory process. Late last 
year the CPUC established a workshop scheduled for March focused on the PCIA and data availability is 
one of the key issues in transparency generally. MCE has put in a data request to PG&E for that very 
information and questions how long the PCIA charge will go on and at what levels. Thus far, PG&E has 
not responded and they are still claiming confidentiality but MCE is hoping to receive better insight at 
the workshop. He said MCE’s own projections are that the PCIA is not being reduced anytime soon. They 
think it is reasonable to assume that it will stay at this level for the foreseeable future.  
 
Ms. Weisz added that while PG&E is not providing MCE with the amount of the PCIA going forward, they 
have responded to data requests asking when they expect it will terminate. For 2010 vintages, they are 
expecting it to terminate in 2043, and 2045 for other vintages. 
 
Director O’Donnell asked if there are variable rates for different CCAs such as Clean Power SF. Mr. 
Dalessi said yes, depending on when the customer departs the PG&E system there is a different charge. 
It is not specific to a CCA. For instance, MCE has some 2010 vintages and more recent vintages, so any 
customer who leaves PG&E in the same year would get that same charge regardless of the program they 
are participating in. He clarified that cost differences among the vintages are marginal, looking at data 
for the past 5-6 years. 
 
Director Coler referred to the pie chart showing the generation rate cost comparisons and the electric 
cost comparison. She asked how much of the difference is PCIA fees versus PG&E infrastructure costs. 
 
Mr. Dalessi displayed the chart and said the PCIA is $36 million and the cost premium is all due to the 
PCIA fee. He added that infrastructure charges do not disadvantage MCE because the rates are the same 
if someone is a bundled or CCA customer. The only charge that really works to MCE’s disadvantage is the 
PCIA. If it were not for the PCIA MCE customers would actually be saving almost $24 million. Because of 
the PCIA their customers are paying $12 million extra which is the result of the PCIA. 
 
Director Athas clarified with Mr. Dalessi that for a customer that came in 2010 PG&E is saying they 
purchased power for them 33 years out. She said for groups who can promote what is being done out 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 7 January 21, 2016 

there, that terminology and the PCIA charge projection of over $36 million alone are the figures the 
Board should focus on and will make sense to people. She was not sure where Directors fall, but said for 
other groups, to tell someone they are going to pay out for 33 years when she has seen articles since 
2010 where PG&E had to buy more power because they did not have enough is just ludicrous. She 
thought these were the things MCE should focus on. 
 
Director Haroff said the PCIA has been part of the overall discussion since he joined the MCE Board 2 
years ago. This is the critical issue for MCE going forward in the future. It is having a disparate, adverse 
impact on their customer base that puts MCE in a non-competitive position and this is an intolerable 
situation.  
 
He said MCE has an opportunity with the workshop on March 8th which is currently the single best 
opportunity MCE has to address this issue on behalf of their customers. He hopes the message is 
conveyed back to respective constituents in respective jurisdictions to get the kind of support they got 
from the public in connection with the last CPUC hearing. He said this is much more important because 
the issues are broader ranging. MCE continues to have opportunities to engage with individual CPUC 
commissioners and he said he was pleased to be able to participate in a meeting yesterday. It was 
educational for commissioners and said while commissioners are smart and sophisticated they do not 
have a good sense of the impact this is having on customers. Therefore, MCE’s engagement with 
individual commissioners and with the public is critical towards the survival of MCE and other CCAs into 
the future.  
 
Director Butt said in addition to the upcoming workshop some Directors have had discussions with their 
State Legislators, and there is a core interested in looking at some kind of legislative remedy to this. 
While speculative, at the end of the day there might be a legal remedy to it as well. Therefore, he 
suggested waiting to see how the workshop plays out in March and depending on what relief if any it 
gives, the Board should be looking at legislative and legal remedies and share this with other existing 
CCAs. He thanked Mr. Dalessi for the thorough presentation. 
 
9. Energy Efficiency Update (Discussion) 
 
Beckie Menten, Director of Energy Efficiency, gave a PowerPoint presentation. She provided the 
following updates: 

• MCE has had a 7 ½-fold increase in savings in 3 years which has been phenomenal, given they 
went from a brand new program to a program that has exceeded its targets. She mentioned 
that the slide showing the results is also being used in CPUC Commissioner “meet and greets”. 

• She displayed the steep trajectory over the last couple of months in MCE’s multi-family program 
and identified slides showing buildings that have been audited, total rebates distributed and 
number of units provided with free energy savings equipment, all of which have exceeded 
targets. 

• MCE’s commercial program often drags down savings given that inefficient lighting upgrades 
emits less heat therefore resulting in negative therm savings and increased usage of natural gas. 
However, the multi-family program has done so well in terms of therms that the program at 
large has achieved targets. 

• She reported on consistent savings in the small commercial programs. 
• Regarding the single-family program almost 2,000 people have logged on to the web portal and 

have been able to develop a customized individual action plan to save energy in their homes.  

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 8 January 21, 2016 

• MCE will have a soft launch for Directors in March regarding the Energy Efficiency Learning 
Center. Staff has been working with interns and developing interpretive displays in conjunction 
with the Marin Sanitary District and Marin School and Environmental Leadership, which is a 
charter school within a high school. She presented coloring books developed by MIG with 
guidance and contributions from an intern to match this year’s and the next few years’ theme 
for the Energy Efficient Learning Center. An owl named SPOC (Single Point of Contact) is MCE’s 
new energy efficiency mascot. SPOC will help to draw in families and children to make the 
program more relatable to people in their service territories.  

• MCE staff is also preparing for a large launch for Earth Day and is working with communities to 
add to their planned activities. 

 
Regarding MCE’s 2016 application: 

• MCE received a pre-hearing conference schedule for their 2016 Application which means the 
CPUC is making forward action on their application.  

• The CPUC noticed the pre-hearing conference in the service list associated with their 
Application, as well as in the larger energy efficiency service list, which indicates they are 
inviting stakeholders across the state to discuss policy issues raised in the Application and 
possibly create some consolidation between the two proceedings. This allows them to draw in a 
larger group of stakeholders aligned with MCE and it allows them to make the case to other 
emerging CCAs that they should be getting engaged as well.  

• The downside of the possible consolidation in the main proceeding is that this proceeding is 
moving very slowly. Initially they were to be accepting business plans and applications from all 
administrators in the first quarter of this year. This has been pushed to September or further 
into the year.  

• MCE has a list of policy questions they will be responding to. They have also requested other 
CCAs to engage and staff has been working with them about energy efficiency programs to help 
educate them on issues and get their voices heard. 

• Independent of the pre-hearing conference, the EE team assumed people would like to know 
more about MCE’s application and they moved forward in setting up workshops of their own. 
Next Thursday the EE team will host a workshop open to the public which will be on webcast 
and the exact same content will be presented February 4, 2016 at Richmond City Hall. The 
content of the workshops will focus on the actual application, the proposal, and nuts and bolts 
of implementing such a large scale expansion of MCE’s program and to provide stakeholders 
with an opportunity to attend. They hope this provides a chance to build some consensus and 
engagement with stakeholders. 

 
Director Athas congratulated Ms. Menten on their program. She said now there are more cities and 
counties on line she asked if staff had an idea of where those energy programs are the most successful. 
She also asked if they are seeing the majority of success in Richmond versus Marin County.  
 
Ms. Menten said it has been pretty evenly split. Their programs are specifically targeted and it is not a 
geographic area in terms of the City boundary. It tends to be more about composition of the 
neighborhood. MCE tends to get more success in the smaller commercial programs in concentrated, 
small commercial parks, and have had a less aggressive approach toward the new communities. But, 
MCE is looking to ramp-up activities in those new communities and she expects some East Bay 
communities to have a lot of opportunity in the small commercial sector. 
 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 9 January 21, 2016 

Director Athas commented on the new forms for the California Association of Realtors which have now 
included lien items in these programs so they can disclose directly to their clients what happens if there 
is a PACE program and what happens with the sale of that and assessment of that charge. She asked 
about the disclosure of all of these programs, given they are seeing more leased programs than lien 
programs which are specifically different things, but they are affecting the sales of real estate. 
 
Ms. Menten said the programs are very much incentive based. A rebate is paid to the participant to 
cover the upfront cost as opposed to more of a financing structure or leasing structure. There are 
programs like the PACE program and Solar City programs that lease solar panels. She would like to 
explore those programs in the future as they move into more streamlined delivery models. She also 
thinks there is opportunity to engage the real estate community on communicating the value of energy. 
As they ramp up more single family opportunities, there will be more relevance, but currently there is 
not a lot of engagement with the realtor community. 
 
Director Haroff echoed Director Athas’ comments on the terrific work done and he thanked the Energy 
Efficiency team and for keeping the momentum as they go through the application proceeding. He 
asked what role if any do they expect PG&E to seek to play in that context and asked whether this may 
have implications for their success. Ms. Menten said she definitely sees a role with PG&E and all 
investor-owned utilities. Thus far, what the utilities have done is suggest MCE’s Application should be 
held and considered on the same schedule of the rest of the administrators. MCE strategically filed early 
so direction can be given to the utilities to work around MCE. She expects all investor owned utilities to 
“throw everything they have” at MCE in this proceeding and staff is trying to anticipate and prepare 
comments about MCE’s results, benchmark against utility programs and they are trying to work actively 
with stakeholders to try to build a coalition. 
 
Director Haroff offered his support in anticipation of the proceedings. Ms. Menten thanked him and 
stated that in looking at the trajectory of savings they have always achieved a new milestone when a 
new member of MCE’s great staff came onboard. 
 
Director Butt asked Ms. Menten to email him a copy of the PowerPoint presentation.  
 
10. Communications Update (Discussion) 
 
Jamie Tuckey, Director of Public Affairs, discussed the following updates: 

• The MCE website has a new look and feel. It has been updated to make sure it is functioning at 
the highest capacity and she presented the Board with snapshots of the website.  

• Videos advertisements are now running in movie theaters throughout MCE’s service area. They 
launched in November and are running in Napa, Corte Madera, Larkspur, Mill Valley, Richmond, 
San Rafael and Sausalito though March. The videos will air 20,000 times during this period. 

• Later on in the year MCE will consider a second campaign of movie theater advertisements in 
additional cities and towns in MCE’s service area. 

• Many local solar projects are under development in MCE’s service area including MCE Solar One, 
Cooley Quarry, Buck Institute, and Cost Plus.  

• She displayed a time lapse video of the Cooley Quarry solar construction and said cameras are 
placed at development sites in order to watch the construction over time. She confirmed this 
video is on the MCE website home page. 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



Marin Clean Energy – Board Meeting Minutes 10 January 21, 2016 

• In the next few days she will be sending out highlights of all local projects that are currently 
under development to the Board. 

• MCE will be electronically distributing the second or winter version of their quarterly newsletter 
called the “RE-Source” next week and delivering hard copies to cities, counties and towns later 
this month and in early February. She asked for Directors’ help in distributing them to their 
respective city offices. 

• Catahoula Coffee is a popular café in the East Bay and recently got a special logo created for 
them which they put on all of their coffee bean bags stating they choose 100% renewable 
energy. Staff hopes to be able to implement this sort of branding opportunity with other 
commercial customers. 

• She presented a slide showing the variety of upcoming community meetings and presentations 
to City Councils throughout the East Bay and in Napa to talk about MCE. 

 
Director Haroff asked if Ms. Tuckey could discuss the Cool California outreach some Directors have been 
participating in.  
 
Ms. Tuckey reported that Directors Haroff, Coler and Butt volunteered to be in videos promoting the 
Cool California Challenge. These are being placed online and on social media. She explained that the 
Cool California Challenge is a challenge where 9 MCE communities have agreed to participate and 
compete among California cities who want to compete for energy savings within their communities. The 
way people are saving their energy is using the My Energy Tool where users create action plans. They 
also have special events in Richmond, Benicia, El Cerrito and San Pablo promoting the Cool California 
Challenge. She stated the top 3 participating MCE communities are El Cerrito, Benicia and Fairfax. 
 
Director Athas thanked Justin Kudo for identifying what the cost would be for her home if they went to 
the Deep Green program. They added onto and remodeled their home for 5 months, and even with 
that, it was $8 more per month to go 100% renewable. She and her husband are therefore going to sign 
up for it and she encouraged other Directors to consider this and sign up. 
 
11. Board Member & Staff Matters (Discussion) 
Director Lyman stated he and Director Butt attended the League of Cities Environmental Policy 
Committee today. There were several comments about energy, how unfair NEM policies were and how 
much the exit tariff is causing issues with CCAs. The League of Cities’ northern and southern agencies are 
generally supportive of CCAs, and he hoped for discussion to occur this year about the current League’s 
policy that the PCIA should be fair. 
 
12. Adjournment 
The Board of Directors adjourned the meeting at 8:29 p.m. to the next Regular Board Meeting on 
February 18, 2016.  
 
____________________________ 
Kate Sears, Chair 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________ 
Dawn Weisz, Secretary 

Agenda Item #5_C.1: 1.21.16 Meeting Minutes



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  Sarah Estes-Smith, Director of Internal Operations  
 
RE: Report on Approved Contracts (Agenda Item #05 – C.2) 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
SUMMARY:  This report summarizes agreements entered into by the Chief Executive Officer in 
the past month.  This summary is provided to the Board for information purposes only.   
 
Review of Procurement Authorities  
 
In March 2013 your Board adopted Resolution 2013-04 as follows; 

The Chief Executive Officer is hereby authorized to enter into and execute contracts for 
an amount not to exceed $25,000 per contractor per fiscal year, consistent with the 
Board approved budget, the Joint Powers Agreement, and the Operating Rules and 
Regulations.   

In November 2012 your Board approved the MCE Integrated Resource Plan stating;   

Power purchase agreements (energy, capacity, RECs) with terms of 12 months or less 
may be entered into on MCE’s behalf by the Chief Executive Officer.  

Power purchase agreements (energy, capacity, RECs) with terms of greater than 12 
months and less than or equal to 5 years and which are made pursuant to a Board 
approved resource plan may be entered into on MCE’s behalf by the Chief Executive 
Officer in conjunction with the MCE Board Chair. An ad hoc committee of the MCE 
Board will be consulted prior to execution of any medium-term contracts. 

Power purchase agreements (energy, capacity, RECs) with terms of greater than 5 
years shall require Board approval prior to execution. 

The Chief Executive Officer is required to report all such contracts and agreements to the MCE 
Board on a monthly basis. 

Summary of Agreements entered into by the Chief Executive Officer in the past month 

Month Purpose Contractor Maximum Annual 
Contract Amount 

Term of 
Contract 

January Purchase of 6 MW Resource 
Adequacy April 2016 Calpine Energy $5,400 1 month 



January Purchase of 16 MW Resource 
Adequacy April-June 2016 Calpine Energy $14,400 3 months 

January 

Recruitment, training, and 
placement of Climate Corp. Bay 
Area Fellow for MCE’s Energy 

Efficiency Team 

Strategic Energy 
Innovations  $23,650 6 months 

January 

Professional video production 
support services for the 

broadcasting of MCE meetings 
and events 

Community 
Media Center of 

Marin 
$2,000 3 months 

January Sale of 5 MW Resource 
Adequacy May 2016 Direct Energy ($4,000) 1 month 

February Purchase of System Energy Direct Energy $39,399,379 3 years 

January ADA signs for MCE office Durkin Signs & 
Graphics  $2,687 N/A 

February 
Incentive program for 100 Fairfax 

households to participate in 
MCE’s Deep Green Program 

Fairfax, Town of ($6,000) 12 months 

February Sale of 2 MW Resource 
Adequacy May 2016 Lancaster, City of ($1,600) 1 month 

January 

Addendum increasing contract 
maximum for website content 

development, editing, and 
updates 

Marketing 
Machine $25,000 10 months 

January 
Construction related consulting 

services for projects at MCE 
office 

Precision GCC $25,000 7 months 

 
 
Budget Impact: Expenses that occur in FY 2015/16 are included in the approved FY 2015/16 
Budget.  Expenses that are expected to occur in FY 2016/17 are included in the FY 2016/17 
Budget that will be submitted to the Board for approval in March 2016. 
 
Recommendation: Information only. No action required.   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  David McNeil, Finance and Project Manager 
 Mike Maher, Maher Accountancy 
 
RE: Monthly FY 15/16 Budget Report (Agenda Item #05 – C.3) 
 
ATTACHMENT: MCE Budget Reports 2015-12 (Unaudited) 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
 
SUMMARY:   
 
The attached budget update compares the FY 2015/16 budget to the unaudited revenue 
and expenses of MCE for the month ending December 2015.  
 
OPERATING BUDGET: 
 
Year-to-date revenues continue slightly over budget by approximately 1.5%, with cost of 
energy at levels under budget by approximately 5%. Operating expenditures are 
generally below anticipated year-to-date levels, but much of this will be smoothed as the 
year continues. In the January 21, 2016 Board meeting, a Budget Amendment was 
approved. This staff report presents the year-to-date figures through December 31, 
2015, and so does not reflect the subsequent budget amendment. 
 
Overall, MCE continues to spend near projections, as reflected in year-to-date figures.  
 
ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM BUDGET: 
 
The Energy Efficiency Program is entirely funded by the California Public Utilities 
Commission. For financial reporting purposes. MCE treats funds received from this 
program as a reimbursable grant. The result is that program expenses are offset by 
revenue. A deferred asset is recorded for funds received by the CPUC that have yet to 
be expended by MCE. 
 
In FY 2015/16, Energy Efficiency (EE) revenue is being recognized to offset $52,784 of 
prior year EE "planning" expenses not originally intended to be provided for by EE grant 
funds. The $52,784 2015/16 "increase" in fund balance equals the prior year "decrease" 
in fund balance. There is no cumulative effect on fund balance. 
 
 
 
 

MCE 



 
 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT RENEWABLE ENERGY BUDGET: 
 
This program is funded through a portion of the Deep Green service provided to 
customers. To date, expenses primarily relate to legal and consulting costs associated 
with establishing a local renewable energy project.  
 
RENEWABLE ENERGY RESERVE BUDGET: 
 
This fund is intended for the procurement or development of renewable energy not 
planned for in the operating funds. Resources may accumulate from year to year and be 
expended as management determines.  
 
Recommendation:  No action needed. Informational only. 
 



 

1 
 

 
 

ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT 
 
 
 

  
Board of Directors 
Marin Clean Energy 
 
Management is responsible for the accompanying special purpose budgetary comparison statement 
of Marin Clean Energy (a California Joint Powers Authority) as of December 31, 2015.  We have 
performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting 
and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 
AICPA. We did not audit or review the accompanying statement nor were we required to perform 
any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, conclusion, nor provide any assurance on this special 
purpose budgetary comparison statement.  
 
Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures required by accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  If the omitted disclosures were 
included in the special purpose budgetary comparison statement, they might influence the user’s 
conclusions about the Authority’s results of operations. Accordingly, this special purpose budgetary 
comparison statement is not designed for those who are not informed about such matters. 
 
The supplementary information contained on page 4 is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis. The supplementary information has been compiled from information that is the 
representation of management. We have not audited or reviewed the supplementary information 
and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on such supplementary 
information. 
 
Certain accounting functions provided by Maher Accountancy are considered management 
functions by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Accordingly, we are not 
independent with respect to Marin Clean Energy. 
 
 

Maher Accountancy 
San Rafael, CA 
January 19, 2016 

1101 FIFTH AVENUE • SUITE 200 • SAN RAFAEL, CA 94901 

Agenda Item #5_C.3_Att: Monthly Budget Reports 2015-12 (Unaudited)

MAHER ACCOUNTANCY 

TEL 415.459.1249 
FAX 415.459.5406 
WEB www.mahercpa.com 



 Actual from April 
1, 2014 through    

December 31, 2014 

 2015/16 YTD 
Budget 

(Amended) 
 2015/16 YTD 

Actual 

2015/16 YTD 
Budget Variance 

(Under) Over
2015/16 YTD 

Actual/Budget %

2015/16 Annual  
Budget 

(Amended) 
 2015/16 Budget 

Remaining 
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
    Revenue - Electricity (net of allowance) 75,097,634$           112,849,677        114,461,924$      1,612,247$            101.43% 145,933,098$      31,471,174$        
    Other revenues 42,463                     -                           448,532               448,532                 -                            -                           -                           
     Total sources 75,140,097             112,849,677        114,910,456        2,060,779              101.83% 145,933,098        31,471,174          

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES:
CURRENT EXPENDITURES
    Cost of energy 62,378,692             97,169,059          92,308,367          (4,860,692)             95.00% 129,522,715        37,214,348          
    Staffing 1,480,210               2,185,950            2,197,940            11,990                   100.55% 2,964,000            766,060               
    Technical consultants 375,477                   486,404               464,271               (22,133)                  95.45% 629,000               164,729               
    Legal counsel 252,198                   270,000               267,257               (2,743)                    98.98% 360,000               92,743                 
    Communications consultants
         and related expenses 436,510                   563,250               516,169               (47,081)                  91.64% 751,000               234,831               
    Data manager 1,951,871               2,146,500            2,144,336            (2,164)                    99.90% 2,862,000            717,664               
    Service fees- PG&E 506,799                   690,750               636,227               (54,523)                  92.11% 921,000               284,773               
    Other services 244,887                   313,500               313,237               (263)                       99.92% 418,000               104,763               
    General and administration 283,396                   246,750               187,126               (59,624)                  75.84% 329,000               141,874               
    Occupancy -                               195,000               157,020               (37,980)                  80.52% 260,000               102,980               
    Integrated Demand side pilot programs -                               37,500                 10,190                 (27,310)                  27.17% 50,000                 39,810                 
    Marin County green business program -                               10,000                 -                           (10,000)                  0.00% 10,000                 10,000                 
    Solar rebates -                               14,000                 4,000                   (10,000)                  0.00% 35,000                 31,000                 
     Total current expenditures 67,910,040             104,328,663        99,206,140          (5,122,523)             95.09% 139,111,715        39,905,575          

CAPITAL OUTLAY 18,695                     136,500               154,557               18,057                   113.23% 150,000               (4,557)                  

DEBT SERVICE * 895,409                   2,080,000            2,147,718            67,718                   103.26% 2,080,000            (67,718)                

INTERFUND TRANSFER TO:
    Renewable Energy Reserve Fund -                               1,000,000            1,000,000            -                             100.00% 1,000,000            -                           
    Local Renewable Energy Development Fund 109,994                   151,383               151,383               -                             100.00% 151,383               -                           

     Total expenditures 68,934,138             107,696,546        102,659,798        (5,036,748)$           95.32% 142,493,098        39,833,300$        

Net increase (decrease) in available fund balance 6,205,959$             5,153,132$          12,250,658$        7,097,526$            3,440,000$          (8,362,126)$         

*   Debt Service includes fees related to a Line of Credit and a Letter of Credit issued during the 2015/16 year.

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY
OPERATING FUND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

See accountants' compilation report. 2

Agenda Item #5_C.3_Att: Monthly Budget Reports 2015-12 (Unaudited)



 Budget  Actual 
Budget 

Remaining 
Actual/ 
Budget

REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
    Public purpose energy efficiency program 1,505,702$     1,299,431$   206,271$     86.30%

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES:
CURRENT EXPENDITURES
    Public purpose energy efficiency program 1,505,702       1,246,647     259,055       82.80%

Net increase (decrease) in fund balance -$                    52,784$        

 Budget  Actual 
Budget 

Remaining 
Actual/ 
Budget

REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
  Transfer from Operating Fund 151,383$        151,383$      -$                 100.00%

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES:
Capital Outlay 151,383          81,115          70,268         53.58%

Net increase (decrease) in fund balance -$                    70,268$        

 Budget  Actual 
Budget 

Remaining 
Actual/ 
Budget

REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
  Transfer from Operating Fund 1,000,000$     1,000,000$   -$                 100.00%

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES: -                      -                    -                   -         

Net increase (decrease) in fund balance 1,000,000$     1,000,000$   

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

RENEWABLE ENERGY RESERVE FUND
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

LOCAL RENEWABLE ENERGY DEVELOPMENT FUND

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM FUND

See accountants' compilation report.
3

Agenda Item #5_C.3_Att: Monthly Budget Reports 2015-12 (Unaudited)



Actual 
Other services
  Audit 35,500$         
  Accounting 116,660       
  IT Consulting 55,323          
  Human resources & payroll fees 5,699            
  Legislative consulting 67,500          
  Miscellaneous professional fees 32,555          
    Other services 313,237$       

General and administration
  Cell phones 672$              
  Data and telephone service 24,551          
  Insurance 7,169            
  Office and meeting rentals 3,156            
  Office equipment lease 4,093            
  Dues and subscriptions 44,657          
  Conferences and professional education 17,917          
  Travel 16,282          
  Business meals 5,901            
  Office supplies and postage 62,728          
    General and administration 187,126$       

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY
 BUDGETARY SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE

April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015

See accountants' compilation report.
4

Agenda Item #5_C.3_Att: Monthly Budget Reports 2015-12 (Unaudited)



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  Beckie Menten, Energy Efficiency Director 
 David McNeil, Finance and Project Manager 
 
RE: MCE On-Bill Repayment Program Second Operating Agreement 

with River City Bank (Agenda Item #05 – C.4) 
 
ATTACHMENTS: A. Draft MCE On-Bill Repayment Program Second Operating 

Agreement  
 B. Executed First Operating Agreement  
 
Dear Board Members; 
 
SUMMARY:   
The proposed MCE On-Bill Repayment Program Second Operating Agreement with 
River City Bank (“Agreement”) makes changes to the program allowing MCE to offer this 
program to non-customers.  Other changes to the agreement are as follows; 
 

• The pilot period is increased from 6 to 12 months. 
• The purpose of the pilot is amended to include testing on bill repayment and 

the loan loss reserve (previously OBR only) 
• Available loan terms were increased from a minimum of five years to a 

minimum of 2 years.  Shorter loan terms are expected to enable more 
financing transactions.   

• Loan disbursement to borrowers, vendors and contractors is now permitted.  
Previously loan disbursement was only allowed to the borrower only.  This is 
expected to increase vendor and contractor support for the program.   

• Availability period of the program is defined as December 31, 2015 to 
December 31, 2017.  Previously the period of the program was the earlier of 
2 years from disbursement of first loan or December 31 2016. 

• The loan loss reserve definition was changed from “an amount not to exceed 
equal to twenty (20%) of the total Loan Commitment” (sic) to “an amount 
equal to twenty percent (20%) of the Loan Commitment” 

 
Background 
On November 9, 2012, the CPUC approved MCE’s application for funding for 2013 – 
2014 energy efficiency programs, allocating over $4 million to MCE. The 2013 – 2014 
portfolio of programs includes continuation of the MCE multi-family energy efficiency 
program (EE), implementation of small commercial and single family energy efficiency 
programs, and four financing pilots: on-bill repayment (OBR) for the multi-family, 

MCE 



2 
 

commercial, and single family sectors, and a standard offer program. On June 6, 2013 
the MCE Board approved the original Agreement, which defined the basic terms and 
function of the Multi-Family and Small Commercial OBR Program (OBR Program, or the 
Program) and the relationship between River City Bank (RCB) and MCE. In February 
2014, the MCE Board approved an amended and restated version of the Agreement 
making minor non-substantive changes. The Second Agreement offered for 
consideration today makes several adjustments to the terms of the program as noted 
above.    
 
Discussion 
Financing is a critical step towards accomplishing energy efficiency upgrades. The initial 
costs associated with implementing an energy efficiency project can serve as a barrier 
for property owners who may be interested in making such improvements. While some 
financing programs exist, many financial institutions are unfamiliar with energy efficiency 
lending and tend to place a higher interest rate on their products due to perceived risk of 
default on loans.  
 
The OBR Program is an innovative financing concept that allows the loan to be tied to, 
and repaid on, the utility bill. This creates a strong link between the anticipated energy 
savings resulting from the projects and the cost of financing the project. If the program is 
successful in demonstrating lower default rates than anticipated, banks may become 
more likely to lend for energy efficiency improvements in the future and the cost of 
capital for these projects could drop over time.    
 
RCB and MCE agreed on a set of terms for an OBR program in February 2013. RCB 
has offered an interest rate of 5%; additionally, the MCE OBR Program is secured with 
two components. First, RCB has requested that a UCC-1 Fixture Filing be placed on 
participating properties to record the debt on the title and ensure that RCB has a means 
of recuperating lost loan expenses upon foreclosure of the property or bankruptcy of the 
borrower. Second, MCE is providing a loan loss reserve that is funded through the 
Energy Efficiency program funds. The loan loss reserve is a fund that will be available to 
RCB upon default of loans and will help RCB to recuperate the losses it incurs through 
participating in this program. The First Agreement set the total loss that RCB could 
collect at 15% of the total program volume (though RCB may collect 100% of any 
individual loss up to that 15% cap). For example, RCB agreed to lend $3.65 million to 
MCE customers during the program term.1  MCE has agreed to provide a total of 
$547,000 (15% of $3.65 million), which will be available upon default. Thus, RCB can 
collect up to $547,000 for losses incurred during participation in the program, but no 
more. RCB will be responsible for collections on any defaulted loans, and when 
collection efforts are successful, will refund the loan loss reserve fund (less any legal 
and collection fees incurred to obtain those funds). 
 
In October 2014, MCE received confirmation from the Energy Division of the CPUC that 
non-MCE customers are eligible to participate in the MCE OBR Program. As MCE does 
not have a direct billing relationship with non-MCE customers, RCB originally expressed 
concern about extending the eligibility of the program to non-customers. To mitigate 
                                            
1 $1 million is available for small commercial customers, and $2.65 million is available for multi-family 
customers. These program volumes were suggested by MCE staff and are based on projections in the 
original application submitted to the CPUC in July of 2012. 

 



3 
 

potential risk associated with the expansion of the program, but leave one set interest 
rate for all participants, MCE and RCB negotiated a change to the terms of the loan loss 
reserve. MCE agreed to increase the loan loss reserve to 20%, and accomplished this 
by reducing the bank’s commitment to lend proportionally. Thus, RCB has now agreed to 
fund $2,737,500 worth of energy efficiency projects which will be secured by a loan loss 
reserve of $547,500 (or 20%). 
 
During the duration of the program, MCE has yet to field a single applicant for the 
financing program. Recently, MCE closed its single-family OBR program when the 
financial institution, First Community Bank, withdrew participation. At the time, MCE 
considered whether or not it made sense to continue the OBR for multifamily and small 
commercial. As there are no similar products currently available on the market, MCE 
staff intends to market the availability of the program in early 2016 and revise and 
improve program documents to generate more interest in the program. The success of 
the program can be reevaluated in mid-2016 to determine if it is providing meaningful 
solutions for energy efficiency projects.  
 
RCB is a strong partner in this program, continually offering assistance to review and 
revise agreements and negotiate solutions to problems. MCE appreciates the ongoing 
relationship with RCB and the willingness to participate in pilot programs such as the 
multifamily and small commercial OBR program.   
 
Budget Impacts: The amount of the loan loss reserve commitment has not changed as 
a result of proposed changes to the Agreement.  The LLR is completely funded through 
CPUC energy efficiency funds. There are no impacts on the MCE Operating Fund 
resulting from this Agreement.  
 
Recommendation: Approve the MCE On-Bill Repayment Program Second Operating 
Agreement with River City Bank. 



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 1 of 52 

 

 

 

 

 

MCE ON-BILL REPAYMENT PROGRAM 

SECOND OPERATING AGREEMENT  

 

 

 

 

Dated as of 01/15/2016 

 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 2 of 52 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
RECITALS ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

PROGRAM OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................ 5 

1.01. Name. ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

1.02. Program Phases. ............................................................................................................................... 6 

1.03. Pilot Program Goals. ........................................................................................................................ 6 

1.04. Service Description. ......................................................................................................................... 6 

1.05. Term of Agreement. ......................................................................................................................... 7 

1.06. Representations and Warranties ....................................................................................................... 7 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................................................................ 7 

2.01. Marketing and Information Delivery ............................................................................................... 7 

2.01.1 MCE ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.01.2 RCB ....................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.02. Summary of OBR Loan Terms ........................................................................................................ 8 

2.02.1 Basic Terms .......................................................................................................................... 8 

2.02.2 MCE Delivery of Information in connection with Loan Applications ................................. 9 

2.03. Documentation, Changes to Scope of Work & Project Completion .............................................. 10 

2.03.1 RCB approval of Applications ............................................................................................ 10 

2.03.2 Changes to Scope of Work .................................................................................................. 10 

2.03.3 Project Completion ............................................................................................................. 11 

LOAN FUNDING AND PAYMENT PROCESSING ............................................................................... 11 

3.01. Loan Balances ................................................................................................................................ 11 

3.02. MCE as Billing Agent .................................................................................................................... 12 

3.02.1 Monthly Reports ................................................................................................................. 12 

3.02.2 Reconciliation of Loan Information .................................................................................... 13 

3.02.3 Loan Correction Notice ....................................................................................................... 13 

3.02.4 Delivery of Payments .......................................................................................................... 13 

3.02.5 Prepayments on OBR Loans ............................................................................................... 13 

CUSTOMER INQUIRIES – DISPUTE RESOLUTION ........................................................................... 13 

4.01. Customer Inquiries ......................................................................................................................... 13 

4.02. Dispute Resolution ......................................................................................................................... 14 

LATE PAYMENTS, SHARING OF PAYMENTS AND LOAN LOSS RESERVE ................................ 14 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 3 of 52 

5.01. Late Payments ................................................................................................................................ 14 

5.01.1 Timing Issues – Corrected Bills .......................................................................................... 14 

5.01.1 (a) Carve-Out ...................................................................................................................... 15 

5.01.1 (b) Termination of Carve-Out Availability ......................................................................... 15 

5.02. Payment Default ............................................................................................................................ 15 

5.02.1 Notification to Borrower ..................................................................................................... 15 

5.03. Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments ....................................................................................................... 15 

5.03.1 Method for Determining Pro-Rata Sharing ......................................................................... 16 

5.04. Excess Payments Received During Default ................................................................................... 17 

5.05. Loan Loss Reserve ......................................................................................................................... 17 

5.05.1 Charges to the Loan Loss Reserve Account ............................................................................ 17 

5.05.2 Credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account .............................................................................. 17 

5.05.3 Reporting of Loan Loss Reserve Balance ........................................................................... 17 

5.05.4 Loan Loss Reserve Account – Early Termination of Program ........................................... 18 

5.05.5 Loan Loss Reserve Termination Date ................................................................................. 18 

5.05.6 Interest Earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account ................................................................ 18 

MISCELLANEOUS ................................................................................................................................... 18 

6.01. Modifications to Program .............................................................................................................. 18 

6.02 Information Security – Delivery of Information ............................................................................ 18 

6.03 Confidentiality ............................................................................................................................... 19 

6.04 Reliance among Parties .................................................................................................................. 19 

6.05 Limitation of Liability.................................................................................................................... 20 

6.06 Communications - Notices ............................................................................................................. 20 

6.07 Amendments .................................................................................................................................. 20 

6.08 Survival – Representations and Warranties ................................................................................... 20 

6.09 No Recourse to Constituent Members of MCE ............................................................................. 20 

6.10 Entire Agreement ........................................................................................................................... 21 

6.11 Governing Law .............................................................................................................................. 21 

6.12 Waiver ............................................................................................................................................ 21 

6.13 Attorneys’ Fees; Prejudgment Interest ........................................................................................... 21 

6.14 Counterparts ................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.15 Severability .................................................................................................................................... 21 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 4 of 52 

6.16. Publicity ......................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.17 Independent Contractors ................................................................................................................ 22 

6.18 Assignment .................................................................................................................................... 22 

6.19 Arbitration ...................................................................................................................................... 22 

6.20 Insurance ........................................................................................................................................ 23 

EXHIBIT A – CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION .................................................................................. 28 

EXHIBIT B – BORROWER/CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT .................................................................... 30 

EXHIBIT C - LOAN INFORMATION NOTICE ...................................................................................... 31 

EXHIBIT D – OBR LOAN CORRECTION NOTICE .............................................................................. 32 

EXHIBIT E – NOTICE OF LOAN LOSS RESERVE ADVANCE .......................................................... 33 

EXHIBIT F – FORM OF LATE PAYMENT NOTIFICATION ............................................................... 34 

EXHIBIT G – SCHEDULE OF MCE SERVICE PROVIDERS ............................................................... 37 

EXHIBIT H – CUSTOMER DISCLOSURE AND CERTIFICATION ..................................................... 38 

EXHIBIT I: MULTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM STATEMENT OF COMPLETION
 .................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

EXHIBIT J: SMARTLIGHTS CHECK LIST-POST INSTALL SITE INSPECTION .............................. 44 

EXHIBIT K: OWNER PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT ....................................................................... 47 

 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 5 of 52 

MCE ON-BILL REPAYMENT PROGRAM 

SECOND OPERATING AGREEMENT 

 This MCE On-Bill Repayment Program Second Operating Agreement (“Agreement”)  is 
hereby made and entered into as of September 21, 2015, between Marin Clean Energy, as 
Program Developer (“MCE”), and River City Bank, a California corporation (“RCB”).  MCE 
and RCB shall together hereinafter be referred to individually as a “Party” and collectively as 
“Parties”.  Other capitalized terms used without definition at first use shall have the meanings set 
forth for them in Article VII, Definitions, below. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, MCE has developed a program to provide resources and loans for 
enhancing the energy efficiency of existing buildings (the “Program”) in an effort to increase the 
adoption of energy efficiency measures by commercial property owners and multi-family 
property owners within its jurisdiction; 

WHEREAS, MCE has sought the assistance of RCB in developing the Program to 
explore on-bill repayment and a loan loss reserve fund as ways to facilitate long-term financing 
for investments in energy efficiency to building owners; 

WHEREAS, on July 8, 2013 MCE and RCB entered into that certain MCE On-Bill 
Repayment Program Operating Agreement; 

WHEREAS, MCE and RCB seek to continue this Program partnership with this 
Agreement; 

WHEREAS, RCB will serve as the lender for qualifying Borrowers; 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to (i) establish the terms of a 
Pilot Program to test the business assumptions associated with the Program, (ii) identify the roles 
and responsibilities of each Party during the Availability Period; (iii) set forth the respective 
rights and obligations of the Parties in managing the Program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals, of mutual promises of 
the Parties hereto and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which hereby are acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree to the Program pursuant to the terms 
and conditions set forth in this Agreement, which reads in its entirety as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 

PROGRAM OVERVIEW 

1.01. Name. 

The name of the Program is the MCE On-Bill Repayment Program. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 6 of 52 

1.02. Program Phases. 

The Program shall be delivered in two phases: 

(a) The Pilot Program.  The Pilot Program will be available either during the first 
twelve (12) months of the Availability Period or until $500,000 in loans have been originated 
through this program, whichever comes first.  The purpose of the Pilot Program is to permit the 
Parties to test and evaluate the assumptions, procedures and processes related to (i) the 
operational and technical aspects of the Program, (ii) the roles and responsibilities of each Party, 
(iii) the effectiveness of the marketing and web-based information, and (iv) revisions by the 
Parties to documents, processes, procedures and assumptions prior to Full Implementation. 

(b) Full Implementation.  No later than two (2) weeks prior to the end of the Pilot 
Program, the Parties will determine whether or not to continue the Program to Full 
Implementation.  To the extent there is mutual agreement, Full Implementation will begin and 
continue through the Termination Date.  If there is not mutual agreement, this Agreement shall 
terminate except as to OBR Loans already made. 

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Parties agree to offer the 
Program during the Availability Period. 

1.03. Pilot Program Goals. 

(a) During the Pilot Program, the Parties will endeavor to: 

(i) test the established processes and procedures using funded loans; 

(ii) evaluate the effectiveness and viability of the Program; 

(iii) test repayment of energy efficiency loans via the utility bill as a method for 
reducing potential financial barriers to Borrowers; 

(iv) evaluate whether the Program is the optimal and most cost-effective vehicle for 
stimulating the adoption of energy efficiency measures; 

(v) refine process and procedures as agreed; and 

(vi) determine if the Program should continue to Full Implementation. 

1.04. Service Description. 

Operational elements offered under the Program include the following functions: (i) marketing 
the Program to prospective Borrowers, (ii) loan underwriting, analysis and approval, (iii) loan 
set-up for qualifying Borrowers, (iv) monthly billing of the OBR Loan, (v) report generation and 
review, (vi) account maintenance and reconciliation functions, (vii) customer inquiry and 
problem resolution, (viii) payment processing, (ix) payment remittance to RCB, (x) loan 
removal, (xi) delinquency management, (xii) ongoing training and refinements to the Program, 
and (xiii) debits from and credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 7 of 52 

1.05. Term of Agreement. 

This Agreement takes effect upon the signature of the Parties and shall remain in effect until the 
first of the following occurs: (a) final repayment in full of all OBR Loans issued in connection 
with the Program, (b) the mutual agreement of the Parties to terminate this Agreement and (3) 
termination pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

1.06. Representations and Warranties 

MCE represents and warrants to RCB as follows: 

(a) Neither the execution of this Agreement nor compliance with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement on the part of MCE shall breach any statute or regulation of any 
governmental authority or result in any breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, 
or constitute a default under, any agreement or other instrument to which MCE is a party or by 
which it is bound. 

(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated hereunder have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary actions and 
proceedings to be taken by MCE. 

ARTICLE II. 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.01. Marketing and Information Delivery 

2.01.1 MCE  

(a) MCE will identify potential applicants, oversee the installation of appropriate energy 
efficiency improvements, certify satisfactory completion of the energy project, and be 
responsible for maintaining compliance with any and all rules and regulatory requirements that 
are applicable to it. 

(b) Except as provided herein, MCE will not act as a representative or agent of RCB and 
will ensure that public information does not contain any representations or warranties of RCB in 
connection with the application, underwriting or approval processes associated with the Loans 
without the prior express written consent of RCB. 

(c) Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, MCE, within authority granted to it 
by the CPUC, shall have full, complete and exclusive discretion to manage and control the 
delivery of Program information to the public. 

(d) MCE will define the business and information technology requirements, processes, 
procedures and reports necessary to implement the services described in this Agreement to RCB. 

(e) Subject to Section 6.03, Confidentiality, MCE will treat all information received from 
RCB as highly confidential and will ensure that all financial information received by it either 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 8 of 52 

directly through RCB, or indirectly through a Borrower or Service Provider, is maintained with 
the standard of care generally afforded to sensitive information. 

(f) MCE will comply with any and all regulatory requirements for information and will 
respond to any discovery requests issued in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.  

(g) MCE will provide advance copy to RCB of draft agreements or draft amendments of 
agreements, or schedules attached to said agreements, that relate to the OBR program including 
but not limited to agreements executed with PG&E relating to the billing procedures of the OBR 
program. 

2.01.2 RCB  

RCB will (i) provide MCE with an approved form of Application for distribution to Borrowers 
interested in financing options and other information intended for public distribution and  (ii) 
notify MCE of any material regulatory or policy change that may have an impact on the 
Program. RCB reserves the right, upon review of any change proposed or mandated by PG&E as 
provided in 2.01.1(g) above, to assess and determine if RCB, in its sole discretion, is able to 
implement and/or comply with the proposed change. If RCB is not able to implement and/or 
comply with the proposed change, RCB upon written notice to MCE shall have the right to 
terminate its role as lender under the OBR Program for loans originated on or after the date of 
such proposed change. Any OBR Loan originated or approved prior to the date of such 
termination notice shall continue to be governed by the terms of this Agreement including any 
Loan Loss Reserve offsets that apply to loans originated before the date of termination. 

2.02. Summary of OBR Loan Terms 

2.02.1 Basic Terms 

Unless otherwise agreed by RCB, OBR Loans shall be subject to the following terms and 
conditions: 

(a) During the Pilot Program, the total combined Pilot Loan Commitment shall not 
exceed $500,000.  During Full Implementation, the maximum amount of RCB funded OBR 
Loans will not exceed the Commercial Property Loan Commitment and the Multi-Family Loan 
Commitment, inclusive of Pilot Loan Commitment. 

(b) OBR Loans will be no less than $10,000 per Borrower and no more than $265,000 
per Borrower; larger loans will be considered on a case-by-case basis by RCB.  In each case, the 
OBR Loan amount will not be greater than the “Estimated Contractor Cost LESS the Rebate” as 
provided in the Energy Audit. 

(c) The Total Loan Commitment is a non-revolving line of credit offered for the Program 
during the Availability Period in connection with the funding of OBR Loans; any OBR Loans 
repaid will not restore availability to, or increase, the Total Loan Commitment. 

(d) Any part of the Total Loan Commitment not utilized after the Availability Period will 
be cancelled and no longer available for OBR Loans. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 9 of 52 

(e) RCB, in its sole and absolute discretion, will approve Applicants for OBR Loans 
based on underwriting criteria established by RCB.  RCB will notify all Applicants whether or 
not the Application was approved or declined. 

(f) OBR Loans will be disbursed by RCB to each Borrower or directly to vendors and 
contractors in a single advance following evidence satisfactory to RCB that all conditions 
precedent to funding and project completion have occurred in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement, the Loan Documents, the Energy Audit, Scope of Work and Final Inspection Report. 

(g) The Loan Documents will require each OBR Loan to be repaid in equal monthly 
payments of principal and interest amortized over a period between two (2) to ten (10) years as 
determined by RCB. 

(h) Subject to Section 6.01 and provided no default has occurred, the interest rate on 
OBR Loans will be fixed at a rate of five percent (5%) for the life of each OBR Loan. The OBR 
Loan will accrue interest daily and be calculated on a basis of actual days lapsed/360 days. 

(i) Collateral held by RCB for each OBR Loan will include a UCC specific filing on the 
improvements and a fixture filing recorded with the respective county where the property is 
located. 

(j) The OBR Loans shall be subject to defaults typically enforced by RCB in similar 
loans.  In addition, Program specific defaults will include; 1) Due on Sale, the OBR Loan will be 
due and payable in full if the Borrower sells the property on which the improvements were made, 
2) the Borrower is no longer a PG&E Customer or a MCE Customer, 3) the Borrower fails to 
pay Energy Amounts in full, resulting in partial payments such that RCB deems the balance of 
the OBR Loan uncollectible, or 4) PG&E removes the OBR Loan from the PG&E on-bill 
process. 

(k) MCE shall establish a Loan Loss Reserve Account with RCB as provided in Section 
5.05  

(l) RCB will charge a non-refundable documentation fee equal to $250 for each OBR 
Loan, payable by each Borrower at the time of execution of the Loan Documents. 

(m) With prior approval by MCE, which approval shall not unreasonably be withheld, 
MCE will pay all RCB’s reasonable out-of-pocket expenses related to subsequent refinement of 
the Agreement including, but not limited to, legal fees and any expenses incurred by RCB as part 
of providing financing to MCE’s customers under the OBR Program. RCB will notify MCE in 
advance regarding proposed scope of work and projected ranges of such expenses. Legal and 
out-of-pocket expenses reimbursable under this Agreement by MCE shall not exceed $1,000. In 
the event that transaction expenses are projected to exceed the $1,000 covered by MCE, RCB 
will maintain the option to decline the request. 

RCB shall provide all disclosures to Borrowers in accordance with applicable law.  

2.02.2 MCE Delivery of Information in connection with Loan Applications 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 10 of 52 

In connection with an Application for a Loan, MCE will deliver to RCB: 

(a) An Energy Audit; 

(b) Scope of Work and Owner Agreement Form (substantially in the form of Exhibit K 
for Multi-Family Loans or Exhibit L for Small Commercial) Property Loans;  

MCE acknowledges and agrees that RCB will rely on the accuracy and content of the 
information provided on the Energy Audit and Scope of Work, including Rebate Amount for 
purposes of underwriting and loan approval. 

RCB acknowledges that MCE will not provide a guarantee of the projected energy savings as 
may be reflected in the Energy Audit. 

  

2.03. Documentation, Changes to Scope of Work & Project Completion 

2.03.1 RCB approval of Applications 

RCB retains the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to determine whether or not to approve 
an Application for an OBR Loan. 

Following approval by RCB of an Application, RCB will (i) prepare Loan Documents in 
accordance with its standard practices and procedures, (ii) obtain Applicant’s signature on Loan 
Documents, and (iii) notify MCE that an OBR Loan has been approved and provide MCE with 
the Borrower information required pursuant to Section 3.02.  

MCE will (i) register Borrower information on MCE Systems and (ii) notify Project Consultants 
and Service Providers of the OBR Loan.  

2.03.2 Changes to Scope of Work 

The Parties agree that OBR Loans are provided for the sole and exclusive purpose of financing 
the energy efficiency measures defined in the Energy Audit and Scope of Work.  Any additional 
or unforeseen costs and expenses arising during the course of construction are not subject to the 
OBR Loan or RCB’s commitment to fund the OBR Loan. 

(a) Under the terms of the Loan Documents, each Borrower will be required to 
immediately notify RCB of any condition relating to the Energy Project that will result in either 
an increase or a decrease to the amount stated in the Scope of Work and Energy Audit.  Failure 
by a Borrower to promptly notify RCB may result in a cancellation of RCB’s obligations under 
the Loan Documents and the OBR Loan. 

(b) RCB will require written confirmation of the change in the Scope of Work and the 
Energy Audit by the Project Consultant and MCE.  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 11 of 52 

(c) To the extent the Scope of Work is decreased, RCB will reduce the OBR Loan 
downward to conform to the changes provided in the change order or other documentation, but 
only to the extent that RCB approves of the confirmations as provided in paragraph (b) above 
from the Project Consultant and MCE. 

(d) If there is an increase in the projected cost of the Energy Audit or Scope of Work, the 
Loan Documents will require that the Borrower either: 

(i) Pay for such increased cost from Borrower’s own resources, with confirmation 
of such amounts paid prior to any funding of the OBR Loan; 

(ii) Cancel the OBR Loan with RCB until such time as the conditions resulting in 
the increase are resolved such that the original Scope of Work can be reinstated; or 

(iii) Apply for a separate loan with RCB to finance the cost of the unforeseen 
condition resulting in the increase.  To the extent a separate loan is granted for any purpose other 
than that contemplated herein, it shall not be deemed an OBR Loan and shall not be subject to 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

2.03.3 Project Completion 

(a) MCE and the Project Consultant shall notify RCB of Project Completion by 
submitting of the Certificate of Completion form attached as Exhibit A in addition to the 
statement of completion or post-install required by MCE.  The Certificate of Completion shall be 
accompanied by a copy of (i) the Energy Audit, (ii) an executed Unconditional Waiver and 
Release signed by the Contractor, (iii) evidence that payment of the Rebate Amount has been 
authorized to Contractor, if relevant, and (iv) the “Installation Verification and Rebate Approval” 
memo provided with the Certificate of Completion. 

ARTICLE III. 

LOAN FUNDING AND PAYMENT PROCESSING 

3.01. Loan Balances 

The books and records of RCB will serve as the agreed upon contractual outstanding OBR Loan 
balance, payments due, and payment history of each Borrower. On or before the initial OBR 
Loan funding, RCB will deliver a Loan Information Notice to MCE substantially in the form of 
Exhibit C for all new OBR Loans. 

Following the initial funding: 

(a) RCB will be responsible for notifying MCE of delinquent OBR Loan information; 

(b) RCB will review reports and information provided by MCE and provide corrections 
on OBR Loan information in a timely manner substantially in the form of Exhibit D; 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 12 of 52 

(c) RCB will treat all information received from MCE as highly confidential and all 
information received by RCB, whether directly or indirectly through a Service Provider will be 
controlled and maintained with the standard of care generally afforded to sensitive information 
and as provided in the MCE Non-Disclosure Agreement and CPUC Decision 12-08-045. 

(d) RCB will be responsible for complying with any and all regulatory requirements of 
public content including Office of Foreign Asset Control and will respond to any discovery 
requests issued by or under the authority of a governmental agency or court regarding any 
Borrower or OBR Loan issued under the Program.  

3.02. MCE as Billing Agent 

MCE shall serve as the “Billing Agent” for RCB and provide the following services outlined in 
Section 1.04 which include (a) monthly billing of the OBR Loan Payments due, (b) report 
generation and review, (c) PG&E and MCE billing account maintenance and reconciliation 
functions, (d) customer inquiry and problem resolution for questions regarding the energy 
portion of the bill, (e) payment processing, and (f) payment remittance to RCB.  In addition, 
MCE will (1) communicate to RCB any issues that will impede timely or accurate remittance of 
payments and (2) authorize transfers from the Loan Loss Reserve for the portion of those OBR 
Loans deemed uncollectable by RCB in accordance with Section 5.05.  

 

(a) MCE shall ensure that the amounts due and payable to RCB under any OBR Loan to 
a Borrower shall be clearly and accurately reflected on the monthly PG&E Billing Statement 
submitted to the Borrower. 

(b) The OBR Loan payment will be billed in conjunction with the Borrower’s standard 
PG&E Billing Statement. 

(c) MCE will comply with all applicable laws and regulations.   

(d) MCE will not modify or otherwise alter any loan payments delivered from PG&E 
from Borrowers.  

3.02.1 Monthly Reports 

(a) On or before the 15th business day of each month, MCE will provide to RCB a 
“Scheduled Payments Report” detailing scheduled payments due for the next month, including 
delinquent and partial payments due, and the outstanding balance remaining on each OBR Loan. 

(b) On or before the last business day of each month, MCE will provide to RCB a 
“Delinquent Payment Report” detailing payments that were due and not received in the prior 
month. 

(c) On or before the last business day of each month, MCE will provide to RCB a 
“Partial Payment Report” report detailing payments that were due and not received in full in the 
prior month. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 13 of 52 

3.02.2 Reconciliation of Loan Information 

(a) MCE and RCB will use all reasonable efforts to ensure the accuracy of the 
information transmitted to and between each Party.  RCB will reconcile the OBR Loan data 
contained on its systems and records against that of the Scheduled Payment Report on or before 
the 25th day of each month.  RCB will notify MCE of any discrepancies or corrections. 

(b) MCE will not make corrections or adjustments to OBR Loan information submitted 
by RCB unless so authorized under this Article III. 

3.02.3 Loan Correction Notice 

(a) No later than five (5) business days following receipt of reports as provided in 
Section 3.02.1, RCB will reconcile the amounts due, delinquent, or partially paid against its 
records. To the extent there is a discrepancy between the information provided in the report and 
that contained on the records of RCB, RCB shall complete and submit an “OBR Loan Correction 
Notice” substantially in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto. 

(b) MCE will make good faith efforts to correct the information such that then current 
energy PG&E Billing Statement reflects the correct amounts due from the Borrower as reflected 
by RCB’s records. 

3.02.4 Delivery of Payments 

(a) Payments of amounts due under the OBR Loans shall be made on each Friday, or if 
Friday is not a business day, on the next following business day (the “Payment Date”). 

(b) The payment shall be an aggregate of all payments received by MCE for the prior 
week as reconciled in accordance with Section 3.02.2. 

(c) Payments shall be disbursed by MCE to an account designated by RCB. 

3.02.5 Prepayments on OBR Loans 

Borrowers shall be permitted to prepay OBR Loans provided that no default has occurred 
resulting in a Defaulted OBR Payment and provided further that there is no Pro-Rata Sharing of 
Payments. All prepayments made under an OBR Loan must be sent directly to RCB and not 
submitted through the Energy Bill.  RCB shall notify MCE if a payment is made directly to 
RCB, outside of the PG&E Billing Statement, to confirm that the payment is not subject to Pro-
Rata Sharing of Payments. RCB shall (a) apply the payment to the OBR Loan only if Pro-Rata 
Sharing of Payments is not in effect or (b) remit the excess payment to MCE for allocation if 
Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments is in effect. 

ARTICLE IV 

CUSTOMER INQUIRIES – DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

4.01. Customer Inquiries 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 14 of 52 

(a) MCE shall cause each PG&E Billing Statement to contain the amounts due and 
payable for the OBR Loan as a clear and distinct line item. 

(b) MCE shall cause each PG&E Billing Statement to contain the contact information for 
problem resolution or questions regarding the OBR Loan portion of the PG&E Billing Statement 
including a phone number for RCB. 

(c) MCE shall refer all OBR Loan questions from Borrowers to RCB for problem 
resolution. 

(d) MCE will provide MCE Service Providers with scripts, pre-approved by RCB, to 
provide clear guidance on OBR Loan inquiries. 

(e) RCB shall refer all questions regarding the Energy Amount to MCE for problem 
resolution. 

(f) During the Pilot Program, MCE and RCB will meet no less than monthly to discuss 
and resolve any customer inquiries and disputes. 

(g) To the extent there is any discrepancy between the OBR Loan Payment due according 
to RCB records and the amount due according to MCE records, RCB records will prevail. 

4.02. Dispute Resolution 

The Parties agree to collaborate to resolve customer disputes that may arise from the timing of 
application of payments, either OBR Loan payments or energy related payments.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, MCE shall be able to utilize the Carve-Out portion of the Loan 
Loss Reserve Account for adjustments to MCE Customer bills in accordance with Section 5.01 
to temporarily stabilize interim billing adjustments. 

To the extent the customer dispute results in a non-payment of an OBR Loan, actual delinquency 
or partial payment, upon receipt, such payment will be processed in accordance with Section 
5.02. MCE and RCB agree to resolve disputes in a period of less than 10 calendar days. In the 
event a dispute remains unresolved for a period of 10 calendar days, PG&E may remove a loan 
charge from the bill, at which time the loan will immediately become due and payable. 

ARTICLE V 

LATE PAYMENTS, SHARING OF PAYMENTS AND LOAN LOSS RESERVE 

5.01. Late Payments 

5.01.1 Timing Issues – Corrected Bills 

On occasion, PG&E will require corrections or adjustments to PG&E Billing Statements 
(“Corrected Bills”) that are outside of the control of MCE or RCB. Corrected Bills may result in 
(i) timing gaps between the due dates for an OBR Loan Payment or (ii) duplicated or omitted 
OBR Payments for the month subject to correction (each an “Administrative Error”). 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 15 of 52 

Administrative Errors are temporary in nature and are generally corrected on the following 
PG&E Billing Statement.  Any delayed, past-due or omitted payment that is not temporary in 
nature or subject to correction in the following PG&E Billing Statement does not constitute an 
Administrative Error and is not subject to the authorities granted in this Section. 

As provided herein, MCE shall have the authority to correct or adjust Administrative Errors in an 
amount not to exceed $200.00 per Administrative Error for MCE Customers in accordance with 
the Carve-Out provision. Adjustments are not permitted for PG&E Customers. 

5.01.1 (a) Carve-Out 

MCE shall utilize the Carve-Out portion to adjust timing issues associated with Administrative 
Errors in connection with MCE Customer accounts.  However, the Carve-Out is not to be used 
for adjustments associated with PG&E Customer accounts. MCE acknowledges and agrees that 
any funds debited from the Carve-Out must be restored in full within sixty (60) days after such 
debit.  MCE will record and track the debits and credits to the Carve-Out with such information 
made available to RCB upon request.  

5.01.1 (b) Termination of Carve-Out Availability 

The Carve-Out is available for Administrative Errors associated with MCE Customer accounts 
only to the extent that funds allocated to the Carve-Out do not impede RCB’s availability to use 
the Carve-Out pursuant to a defaulted OBR Loan as contemplated by the Loan Loss Reserve. To 
the extent Carve-Out funds will be needed by RCB, RCB shall provide a thirty (30) day notice to 
MCE of the termination of the Carve-Out. MCE shall have a period of thirty (30) days following 
such notice to restore the Carve-Out to $5,000. 

5.02. Payment Default 

MCE shall notify RCB of Defaulted OBR Payments on a monthly basis on or before the 15th day 
of the following month.  RCB shall notify MCE of any OBR Loan Payment that is delinquent 
fifteen (15) days or more that is not reflected on the reports and information provided by MCE. 

5.02.1 Notification to Borrower 

MCE, upon notice from RCB, will provide a Late Payment Notification substantially in the form 
of Exhibit F to the applicable Borrower. 

5.02.2 Late Fees imposed by RCB 

To the extent a Borrower defaults under an OBR Loan, RCB shall have the right to (i) impose a 
late charge equal to the greater of 5.00% of the regularly scheduled payment or $10.00 for 
payments past due in excess of 15 days, and (ii) increase the interest rate by 5.00%. 

5.03. Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments 

It is agreed that all Defaulted OBR Payments shall be subject to Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments as 
provided herein.  Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments shall be in effect the earlier of (i) failure by a 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 16 of 52 

Borrower to pay a PG&E Billing Statement in full (outside of an Administrative Error), (ii) upon 
notice from RCB that an OBR Loan Payment is delinquent fifteen (15) days or more, and (iii) 
upon notice from MCE to RCB that the PG&E Billing Statement has not been paid in full 
(outside of an Administrative Error). 

5.03.1 Method for Determining Pro-Rata Sharing 

Pro-Rata Sharing will be applied to the funds subsequent to the application of PG&E’s Pro Rata 
Share (as determined in the CCA Tariff, Electric Rule 23); neither MCE nor RCB will dispute 
the amount of payment applied to PG&E’s Pro-Rata Share.  The remaining portion of the 
payment will be applied according to the methodology outlined herein. 
 
Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments will be determined as follows: 
Determining the Pro Rata Percentage: The Pro Rata Percentage is determined by taking i) the 
sum of a) the total amount of outstanding OBR Loan Payments reflected therein due and payable 
to RCB (the “RCB Share”) and b) the total amount of MCE charges reflected therein due and 
payable (the “MCE Share”) (together the “Total Amount Due”) and dividing the Total Amount 
Due by the RCB Share to arrive at the RCB Pro Rata Percentage and dividing the Total 
Remaining Payment by the MCE Share to arrive at the MCE Pro Rata Percentage. 
 
Example: 
RCB Total Amount Due on bill: $600.00 
MCE Total Amount Due on bill: $250.00 
Total Amount Due on Bill (less PG&E’s Pro Rata Share): $850.00 
RCB Pro-Rata Percentage = $600/$850 = 70.59% 
MCE Pro-Rata Percentage = $250/$850 = 29.41% 
 
Determining the Pro Rata Sharing of the Payment: Short payments on delinquent Borrowers 
will be distributed based on the respective RCB Pro-Rata Percentage and MCE Pro-Rata 
Percentage for the particular billing statement as follows: The actual payment received (which 
will be less PG&E’s Pro Rata Share) multiplied by RCB and MCE’s respective Pro-Rata 
Percentages. 
 
Example: 
Total Amount Due: $850.00 
Actual Payment Received: $600.00 
Based on the Pro-Rata Percentages provided above, the actual payment received would be 
disbursed as follows: 
RCB Pro Rata Share = $600.00 * .7059 = $423.54 
MCE Pro Rata Share = $600.00 * .2941 = $176.46 
 
In no event will the sum of the RCB Pro-Rata Percentage and the MCE Pro-Rata Percentage 
exceed 100% (together the “Pro-Rata Percentages”).  The respective percentages will be 
expressed to four decimal places.  It is hereby acknowledged that the Pro-Rata Percentages may 
change on a month to month basis depending on variables such as energy use or increased 
amounts due to penalty rates or late charges.  All payments applied to Defaulted OBR Payments 
shall be done in accordance with the Pro-Rata Percentages. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 17 of 52 

5.04. Excess Payments Received During Default 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 3.02.04, neither Party will accept 
or apply payments to new OBR Loan payments or Energy Amounts when a Defaulted OBR 
Payment exists.  All payments received will be submitted to MCE to be paid in accordance with 
the Pro-Rata Percentages until such time as the OBR Loan and Energy Amount are either (i) 
restored to current payment status as mutually agreed between the Parties, or (ii) the OBR Loan 
has been repaid in full through the Loan Loss Reserve. 

5.05. Loan Loss Reserve 

Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, MCE shall initially have on deposit in an 
account with RCB an amount equal to twenty percent (20%) of the Loan Commitment 
($547,500), which includes the Carve-Out (the “Loan Loss Reserve”).  The Loan Loss Reserve 
Account shall be in the name of MCE with debits and credits from and to the Loan Loss Reserve 
Account restricted as provided herein. 

5.05.1 Charges to the Loan Loss Reserve Account 

The sole purpose of the Loan Loss Reserve is to provide a source of repayment for OBR Loans 
whereby the Borrower has defaulted under the terms of the Loan Documents and RCB deems the 
OBR Loan or a portion thereof as uncollectible.  RCB in its sole discretion will request advances 
from the Loan Loss Reserve Account in accordance with this Section. 

The amount available from the Loan Loss Reserve Account to RCB for each defaulted OBR 
Loan will include unpaid principal, interest, fees. Any amounts credited back to the Loan Loss 
Reserve Account in accordance with Section 5.05.2 shall be available to RCB for future OBR 
Loans. 

RCB will submit a Notice of Loan Loss Reserve Advance to MCE substantially in the form of 
Exhibit E providing the reason for the advance, a summary of the delinquent amounts and dates, 
a summary of expenses related to the collection efforts and the amount required to satisfy 
repayment of the OBR Loan. 

5.05.2 Credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account 

RCB will continue collection efforts on defaulted OBR Loans in accordance with its standard 
practices and procedures, regardless of whether or not the defaulted OBR Loan has been repaid 
through an advance from the Loan Loss Reserve Account.  In the event RCB recovers or collects 
amounts on a defaulted OBR Loan where the unpaid balances were advanced from the Loan 
Loss Reserve Account, RCB shall deposit such recovered amounts into the Loan Loss Reserve 
Account, less any collection and legal fees necessary to recover the funds. 

5.05.3 Reporting of Loan Loss Reserve Balance 

From and following the first advance from the Loan Loss Reserve Account (other than Carve-
Out charges originated by MCE), RCB shall provide MCE with a monthly summary of 
transaction activity (including advances and recoveries) within the Loan Loss Reserve Account. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 18 of 52 

5.05.4 Loan Loss Reserve Account – Early Termination of Program 

Should the Parties mutually agree to terminate the Program at any time prior to the end of the 
Availability Period, the balance of the Loan Loss Reserve shall be reduced to twenty percent 
(20%) of the outstanding funded OBR Loans and remain in effect until the Loan Loss Reserve 
Termination Date (the “Remaining Loan Loss Reserve”).  Amounts in excess of the Remaining 
Loan Loss Reserve shall be remitted to MCE. 

5.05.5 Loan Loss Reserve Termination Date 

The Loan Loss Reserve Account shall remain in effect and available to RCB until the earlier of 
(i) all collection efforts by RCB have ceased and the Loan Loss Reserve is depleted to a $0.00 
balance, and (ii) until all OBR Loans have been repaid in full (the “Loan Loss Reserve 
Termination Date”).  The CPUC may request the return of any Loan Loss Reserve Funds that 
have not been committed to an originated loan before December 31, 2025, or at such time that 
the CPUC issues a superseding funding decision  RCB agrees to cooperate with this return of 
funds and to provide an account statement showing the status of the fund at that time. 

5.05.6 Interest Earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account 

The Loan Loss Reserve Account may be interest bearing so long as such interest bearing account 
does not violate any applicable regulations. Interest earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account 
will be for the benefit of MCE for use in accordance with CPUC requirements. 

ARTICLE VI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

6.01. Modifications to Program 

The Parties agree to collaborate on changes that may be required during the Pilot Program or 
during Full Implementation.  

RCB reserves the right to modify the Basic Terms of OBR Loans as may be necessary or deemed 
appropriate by RCB, provided however, that if RCB determines that the interest rate and 
maximum term for the OBR Loans may be subject to change, RCB shall give forty-five (45) 
days’ notice of such change to enable MCE to provide comment and to modify any Program 
marketing material as appropriate.  To the extent MCE does not concur with the proposed change 
in interest rate, MCE reserves the right to terminate the Program with RCB.  Such termination 
shall not impact any existing OBR Loans. 

6.02 Information Security – Delivery of Information 

Each Party will take, and include provisions in its contract with its Service Providers to require 
them to take, all reasonable steps to ensure that any information that is delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement is delivered in a safe and secure manner so as to protect that information from 
unauthorized disclosure. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 19 of 52 

6.03 Confidentiality 

(a) Each Party agrees that it shall not use or disclose to any third party including MCE 
Service Providers, any information that is confidential or proprietary to the other party including, 
without limitation, such party’s business plans and practices, trade secrets, methods, processes or 
procedures or any other confidential information (collectively, the “Confidential Information”) 
of the other Party which it learns during the course of its performance of this Agreement other 
than (i) as required by law, regulation, or order of a court or regulatory agency or other authority 
having appropriate jurisdiction or (ii) to perform its obligations under this Agreement.  The 
Confidential Information may be oral or written or in electronic or tangible form, and all 
information, unless otherwise indicated, shall be deemed to be confidential.  Confidential 
Information shall not include any information that can be shown through contemporaneous 
documentation (a) is or becomes publicly known through no fault on the part of the recipient; (b) 
is, at the time of disclosure, already known to the recipient without obligation restricting 
disclosure; (c) is, or subsequently becomes, rightfully and without breach of this Agreement, in 
the recipient’s possession without any obligation restricting disclosure; or (d) is independently 
developed by a recipient without breach of this Agreement or any other agreement, with the 
recipient bearing the burden of proving such independent development.  Any employee to whom 
the recipient of Confidential Information gives access to any such Confidential Information must 
have a legitimate “need to know” such Confidential Information and shall be bound in writing to 
maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information under terms and conditions no less 
stringent than those set forth in this Agreement.  Neither Party shall reverse engineer any such 
Confidential Information of the other Party or, unless expressly permitted in this Agreement, 
copy the same.  Upon termination of this Agreement, each Party shall return all Confidential 
Information in its possession (including all copies thereof) of the other Party within fifteen (15) 
days of such termination. 

(b) Each Party recognizes and acknowledges that the non-disclosing Party would suffer 
irreparable injury from the unauthorized use or disclosure of any of its Confidential Information 
and each Party agrees and acknowledges that the non-disclosing Party shall have the right to 
obtain injunctive or other equitable relief against the unauthorized use, disclosure or transfer of 
any of the Confidential Information, as well as the right to pursue all of its other remedies in 
equity and at law.  This Section 6.03 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

(c) MCE will cause each of its Service Providers to sign nondisclosure agreements 
pursuant to which each Service Provider will agree to not use or disclose the financial 
information of a Borrower. 

(d) Each Party agrees to notify the other Party within ten (10) business days of any 
confirmed security breach incident involving the disclosure of confidential, non-public personal 
customer information to an unauthorized Party, whether the security breach occurred at MCE, 
RCB, or at one of each Party’s Service Providers. 

6.04 Reliance among Parties 

All information MCE provides to RCB hereunder (including that of MCE Service Providers but 
excluding confidential information provided within RCB loan applications) other than actual 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 20 of 52 

energy savings versus projected energy savings estimated on the Energy Evaluations shall be 
true, complete and accurate to the best of MCE’s knowledge, so that RCB may rely upon its 
accuracy.  MCE shall immediately notify RCB in writing of any change in the accuracy of any 
information MCE has previously provided to RCB. 

6.05 Limitation of Liability  

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT. NO PARTY WILL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY (NOR TO ANY 
PERSON CLAIMING RIGHTS DERIVED FROM THE OTHER PARTY’S RIGHTS) FOR 
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY 
DAMAGES OF ANY KIND – INCLUDING LOST REVENUES OR PROFITS, LOSS OF 
BUSINESS OR LOSS OF DATA – ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE SERVICES PROVIDED HEREUNDER (INCLUDING WITHOUT 
LIMITATION AS A RESULT OF ANY BREACH OF ANY WARRANTY OR OTHER TERM 
OF THIS AGREEMENT), REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE PARTY LIABLE OR 
ALLEGEDLY LIABLE WAS ADVISED, HAD OTHER REASON TO KNOW, OR IN FACT 
KNEW OF THE POSSIBLITY THEREOF. 

6.06 Communications - Notices 

Any notice under this Agreement shall be in writing, and any written notice or other document 
shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) on the date of personal service on the Parties, (ii) on 
the third business day after mailing, if the document is mailed by registered or certified mail, (iii) 
one day after being sent by professional or overnight courier or messenger service guaranteeing 
one-day delivery, with receipt confirmed by the courier, or (iv) on the date of transmission if sent 
by telegram, telex, telecopy or other means of electronic transmission resulting in written copies, 
with receipt confirmed.  Any such notice shall be delivered or addressed to the Parties at the 
addresses set forth below or at the most recent address specified by the addressee through written 
notice under this provision.  Failure to give notice in accordance with any of the foregoing 
methods shall not defeat the effectiveness of notice actually received by the addressee. 

6.07 Amendments 

The provisions of this Agreement may be modified at any time by a written agreement signed by 
all of the Parties.  

6.08 Survival – Representations and Warranties 

Each representation and warranty contained herein or made pursuant hereto shall be deemed to 
be material and to have been relied upon, and shall survive the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, any investigation at any time made by or on behalf of any Party hereto, and the 
closing of the transaction. 

6.09 No Recourse to Constituent Members of MCE 

MCE is organized as a Joint Powers Authority in accordance with the Joint Exercise of Powers 
Act of the State of California (Government Code Section 6500, et seq.) pursuant to a Joint 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 21 of 52 

Powers Agreement and is a public entity separate from its constituent members.  MCE shall 
solely be responsible for all debts, obligations and liabilities accruing and arising out of this 
Agreement.  RCB shall have no rights and shall not make any claims, take any actions or assert 
any remedies against any of MCE’s constituent members in connection with this Agreement.  

6.10 Entire Agreement 

This document, including its exhibits, constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties, all 
oral agreements being merged herein, and supersedes all prior representations.  There are no 
representations, agreements, arrangements, or understandings, oral or written, between or among 
the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement that are not fully expressed herein. 

6.11 Governing Law 

The rights and obligations of the Parties and the interpretation and performance of this 
Agreement shall be governed by the law of California, excluding its conflict of laws and rules. 

6.12 Waiver 

Any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement may be waived at any time by the Party 
entitled to the benefit thereof, but no such waiver shall affect or impair the right of the waiving 
Party to require observance, performance or satisfaction either of that term or condition as it 
applies on a subsequent occasion or of any other term or condition. 

6.13 Attorneys’ Fees; Prejudgment Interest 

If the services of an attorney are required by any Party to secure the performance of this 
Agreement or otherwise upon the breach or default of another Party to this Agreement, or if any 
judicial remedy or arbitration is necessary to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement 
or the rights and duties of any person in relation thereto, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to 
reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and other expenses, in addition to any other relief to which such 
Party may be entitled.  Any award of damages following judicial remedy or arbitration as a result 
of the breach of this Agreement or any of its provisions shall include an award of prejudgment 
interest from the date of the breach at the maximum amount of interest allowed by law. 

6.14 Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if the 
Parties had all signed the same document. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall 
constitute one Agreement. 

6.15 Severability 

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision shall continue in full force and effect and shall in no way be impaired or invalidated. 

6.16. Publicity  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 22 of 52 

Neither Party shall issue or cause to be issued any press release, public announcement or other 
public statement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement without the prior written 
consent of the other Party as to the form, content, and timing of such release.  

6.17 Independent Contractors 

The Parties shall be considered independent contractors with respect to each other.  This 
Agreement does not authorize either Party to act on behalf of or as the agent of the other Party, 
and does not create a partnership, joint venture or similar relationship between the Parties, and 
neither Party shall have the power to obligate or bind the other Party in any manner whatsoever. 

6.18 Assignment 

No Party may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, voluntarily or by operation of law, 
without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not unreasonably be 
withheld. 

6.19 Arbitration 

The Parties agree that any and all disputes arising out of the terms of this Agreement, their 
interpretation, and any of the matters herein discussed, shall be subject to binding arbitration in 
Sacramento County before the American Arbitration Association under its Commercial 
Arbitration Rules.  The Parties agree that the prevailing Party in any arbitration shall be entitled 
to injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the arbitration award.  The 
Parties agree that the prevailing Party in any arbitration shall be awarded its reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and costs.  The Parties hereby agree to waive their right to have any dispute 
between them resolved in a court of law by a judge or jury.  The Parties specifically agree that 
the provisions of Section 1283.05 of the Code of Civil Procedure of the State of California are 
incorporated into, made a part of, and made applicable to any arbitration pursuant to this Section 
6.19.  The arbitration shall be conducted by a single arbitrator.  The arbitration also will be 
subject to the following agreed terms: 

 6.19.1 After written notice of a potential claim by a Party, each Party will have thirty 
(30) days to submit the names of one or more proposed arbitrators. 

 6.19.2 The Parties will then have ten (10) days to agree upon the arbitrator based upon 
the names proposed. 

 6.19.3 If the Parties cannot agree upon the arbitrator, either Party will have fifteen (15) 
days to file a motion or petition with a Superior Court in the State of California, in and for the 
County of Sacramento for the sole purpose of having the court designate the arbitrator. 

 6.19.4 To the extent applicable in civil actions in California courts, the following shall 
apply and be observed: all rules of pleading (including the right of demurrer), all rules of 
evidence, all rights to resolution of the dispute by means of motions for summary judgment, 
judgment on the pleadings, and judgment under Code of Civil Procedure Section 631. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 23 of 52 

 6.19.5 Resolution of the dispute shall be based solely upon the evidence and the law 
governing the claims and defenses pleaded, and the arbitrator may not invoke any basis other 
than such controlling law, including but not limited to, notions of “just cause.” 

 6.19.6 The arbitrator shall not award punitive damages. 

 6.20 Insurance  
During the term of this Agreement, each Party shall maintain in full force and effect such 
insurance as is maintained by other entities engaged in similar businesses in the same general 
geographic area as the applicable Party, including comparable coverage amounts and 
deductibles.  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 24 of 52 

ARTICLE VII. 

DEFINITIONS 

Applicant.  A MCE Customer or a PG&E Customer  who submits an Application for an OBR 
Loan with RCB pursuant to the Program. 

Application.  A loan request form prepared by RCB available to MCE Customers and PG&E 
Customers to apply for financing of the energy efficiency measures set forth in the Energy Audit. 

Availability Period.  From December 31, 2015 to December 31, 2017. 

Borrower.  Any Applicant who is approved by RCB in its sole discretion for an OBR Loan 
pursuant to the Program. 

Carve-Out.  A portion of the Loan Loss Reserve not to exceed $5,000 for use as provided in 
Section 5.02. 

Commercial Property Loan Commitment.  Except as provided during the Pilot Program, an 
amount not to exceed $737,500 in total OBR Loans funded by RCB for the purpose of energy 
upgrades to commercial real estate. 

Contractor.  A licensed general contractor engaged by Borrower and approved by MCE to 
complete the Scope of Work in accordance with the Energy Audit. 

CPUC.  California Public Utilities Commission 

Defaulted OBR Payment.  Any payment due pursuant to a PG&E Billing Statement that 
includes the OBR Loan Payment, the PG&E Energy Amount and the MCE Energy Amount, and 
which is not paid when due unless it is a Corrected Bill as defined in Section 5.01.1. 

Energy Amount. The amount due and payable to PG&E by a Borrower for energy related costs 
and expenses, which include fees and charges.  

Energy Audit.  A written report prepared by MCE or its subcontractor which includes a 
comprehensive evaluation, proposal and line item summary of energy efficiency measures 
submitted upon the request of an Borrower. The Energy Audit includes the Rebate Amount and 
is provided to Borrowers to assess potential savings and understand the estimated costs 
associated with such measures.  For Multi-Family Commitments, the “Energy Evaluation 
Report” is the Energy Audit; for Commercial Property Commitments, the “Customer Report” is 
the Energy Audit. 

Energy Project.  The project as outlined in the Energy Audit and Scope of Work form executed 
by the Borrower. 

Event of Default.  A violation of a payment term, covenant or other condition of the Loan 
Documents as defined in section 2.02(1). 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 25 of 52 

Final Inspection Report.  A report completed by MCE, or its designee, confirming completion 
in full of the work required pursuant to the Energy Audit and Scope of Work.  For Multi-Family 
Commitments, the “Multi-Family Energy Efficiency Program Statement of Completion” is the 
Final Inspection Report (substantially in the form of Exhibit I); for Commercial Property 
Commitments, the “SmartLights Check List-Post Install Site Inspection” is the Final Inspection 
Report (substantially in the form of Exhibit J). 

Full Implementation.  The period from the end of the Pilot Program to the date that is eighteen 
(18) months from the last day of the Pilot Program. 

Late Payment Notification.  A notice sent by MCE on behalf of RCB notifying a Borrower of a 
delinquent OBR Loan Payment substantially in the form of Exhibit F. 

Loan Commitment.  Except as provided during the Pilot Program, an amount not to exceed 
$2,737,500 in total Commercial Property Loan Commitments and Multi-Family Loan 
Commitments funded by RCB in connection with the Program. 

Loan Documents.  Documents prepared by RCB obligating the Borrower to repay indebtedness 
issued in connection with the Program.  

Loan Loss Reserve Account.  A deposit account established in accordance with this Agreement 
in an amount equal to twenty (20%) of the total Loan Commitment ($547,500). 

Loan Loss Reserve Termination Date.  The date as defined in Section 5.05.5. 

MCE Systems.  Systems of record established by MCE or its Service Provider capturing 
Borrower and OBR Loan information including billing and payment processing. 

MCE.  Marin Clean Energy - the energy program provided by MCE. 

MCE Charges: Charges for electricity generation provided to customers of the MCE program. 

MCE Customer: A commercial customer or a multifamily customer within MCE’s service 
territory who receives electricity generation service from MCE. 

Multi-Family Loan Commitment.  Except as provided during the Pilot Program, an amount not 
to exceed $2,000,000 in total OBR Loans funded by RCB for the purpose of energy upgrades to 
multi-family real estate. 

NES.  Noble Americas Energy Solutions; a Service Provider of MCE. 

OBR Loan.  A financial accommodation to a Borrower issued by RCB in connection with the 
Program. 

OBR Loan Payment.  The scheduled loan payment due and payable to RCB in connection with 
an OBR Loan which includes, principal, interest, fees and charges. 

PG&E.  Pacific Gas & Electric Company. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 26 of 52 

PG&E Billing Statement.  The monthly energy billing statement produced by PG&E detailing 
energy usage and costs associated with such usage; the MCE charges for the PG&E Billing 
Statement is processed by NES on behalf of MCE.  

PG&E Customer. A commercial customer or a multi-family customer within MCE’s service 
territory who receives electricity generation service from PG&E. 

Pilot Loan Commitment.  Commercial Loan Commitments and Multi-family Loan 
Commitments as provided in Section 2.02.1(a). 

Pilot Program.  During the Availability Period, the date which is six (6) months from the 
funding date of the first OBR Loan made under the Program. 

Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments.  The method for determining the pro-rata allocation of 
payments between the amount due under an OBR Loan and the Energy Amount due from a 
Borrower as provided in Section 5.01.3. 

Program.  Program has the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

Project Completion.  The date on which all work is completed by the Contractor in accordance 
with the Scope of Work and Energy Audit as certified by MCE and the Project Consultant to 
RCB. 

Project Consultant.  A Service Provider of MCE; any consultant engaged by MCE to provide 
services on behalf of MCE related to the Program including assessment and preparation of the 
Energy Audit, review and inspection of project progress reports, requests for approval to changes 
to Scope of Work, and certification of project completion. 

Rebate Amount.  The amount of the Energy Project which is subject to refund by the CPUC as 
outlined on the Energy Audit. 

Service Provider.  Any associated person, company or other entity directly or indirectly 
contracted by or related to either party for goods or services offered in connection with the 
delivery and ongoing maintenance of the Program. 

Scope of Work.  The work to be done under a contract or agreement prepared and signed by a 
licensed contractor engaged by an Borrower to complete work as proposed in the Energy Audit, 
as reviewed and approved by MCE.  For Multi-Family Commitments, the “Borrower 
Participation Agreement” is the Scope of Work (substantially in the form of Exhibit K); for 
Commercial Property Commitments, the “Customer Work Authorization” is the Scope of Work 
(substantially in the form of Exhibit L). 

Termination Date.  The date on which all OBR Loans are repaid in full or terminated to the 
satisfaction of RCB.  

   

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 27 of 52 

RCB: 

RIVER CITY BANK 

_______________________________ 
 
By: Alice Harris 

Its: Vice President 

Address: 2485 Natomas Park Drive 
Sacramento, CA 95833 
Fax No.: (916) 567-2780 

 

MCE: 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

_______________________________ 
 
By: Dawn Weisz 

Its: Executive Officer 

Address: 1125 Tamalpais Ave. 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
 
Fax No.: (___) __________________ 

 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 28 of 52 

EXHIBIT A – CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

Date of Certificate: 

Borrower Name: 

Property Address: 

Date of Energy Audit: 

Date of Scope of Work: 

Estimated Contractor Cost: 

Final Contractor Cost: 

Rebate Amount: 

Rebate Amount Assigned to Contractor: ____ Yes  ____No 

Were there any changes to the Scope of Work provided by the Contractor: ____ Yes   ____No 

If Yes – Explain: 

Dollar cost change: 

Description of change: 

Date of Final Inspection: 

The undersigned Program Manager, Auditor and Marin Clean Energy do hereby certify that the 
above referenced energy project (the “Project”) has been completed to the full satisfaction of the 
undersigned and in accordance with the Energy Audit and Scope of Work. There are no 
outstanding obligations incumbent upon the Contractor or Borrower. We attach the following in 
connection with this Certification: 

1) Executed Borrower-Contractor Affidavit (notarized); and 

2) Executed Unconditional Waiver and Release on Progress payment. 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 29 of 52 

This Certificate is issued to River City Bank in connection with the MCE On-Bill Repayment 
Program with the understanding and knowledge that River City Bank will rely on this 
information in providing loan funds to the above referenced Borrower. 

By: __________________________________ Date: _______________ 
Program Manager 
 
By: __________________________________ Date: _______________ 
Auditor 
 
By: __________________________________ Date: _______________ 
Marin Clean Energy 
  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 30 of 52 

EXHIBIT B – BORROWER/CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT 

 

Under penalty of perjury, the undersigned Borrower and General Contractor do hereby swear, 
certify and affirm that: 

1) General Contractor was engaged to perform improvements to property located at: 
_______       in accordance with a Scope of Work 
dated ________ for a contract amount equal to: $ _________. 

2) General Contractor has completed all work as agreed to the full satisfaction of Borrower. 

3) There is no unfinished work or claims by either Borrower or General Contractor against 
each other. 

4) Borrower has executed an assignment of the Rebate Amount equal to $ _______ to 
General Contractor to satisfy that portion of the Scope of Work. 

5) Borrower will pay to General Contractor the balance due under the Scope of Work 
through loan proceeds, with said proceeds paid directly to General Contractor. 

6) Contractor has executed a Conditional Waiver and Lien Release and Unconditional 
Waiver and Release which shall be effective as of the date of receipt of the loan proceeds. 

7) There are no silent or written agreements, claims or disputes between Borrower and 
General Contractor. 

Attested to this day, the _____ of _________, 201__ 

By: _____________________________ 
 Borrower (insert full name) 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 General Contractor (insert full name) 
 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 31 of 52 

EXHIBIT C - LOAN INFORMATION NOTICE 

CONFIDENTIAL 

From: River City Bank 
 Loan Servicing Department 
 
To: Marin Clean Energy 
 Noble Americas Energy Solutions 
 
Re: New Borrower Notice 

MCE On-Bill Repayment Program 
 

Date:  
 
Please accept this notice as authorization to add the following information to the On-Bill 
Repayment Program: 

____ New Borrower 

____ Change to Existing Borrower 

Borrower Name: 

Reference Number: XXXXX-1234 

Funding Date: 

Total Payment Due: 

First Payment Date: 

Term: 

Monthly Payment: 

Authorized by: 

______________________________ Date: ________________________ 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 32 of 52 

EXHIBIT D – OBR LOAN CORRECTION NOTICE 

MCE CUSTOMERS ONLY 

 

PLEASE NOTE THAT A CORRECTION IS REQUIRED FOR THE FOLLOWING OBR LOAN 
CUSTOMER: 

BORROWER NAME: 

BORROWER REFERENCE NUMBER: 

REPORT DATE: 

THE CORRECTION IS REQUIRED IN THE FOLLOWING FIELD: 

o OUTSTANDING OBR LOAN BALANCE SHOULD BE CHANGED  FROM:  TO: 

o CURRENT OBR LOAN PAYMENT SHOULD BE CHANGED  FROM:  TO: 

o DELINQUENT AMOUNT SHOULD BE CHANGED    FROM:  TO: 

o LATE FEES:  $      

 

OTHER: 

 

AUTHORIZED BY: 

______________________________ DATE: ________________________ 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 33 of 52 

EXHIBIT E – NOTICE OF LOAN LOSS RESERVE ADVANCE 

 

From: River City Bank 

 Loan Servicing Department 

To: Marin Clean Energy 

Re: Defaulted OBR Loan 

Date:  

Please be advised that River City Bank will be advancing $_____________ from the Loan Loss 
Reserve Account effective as of __________ (Date) for the following Borrower: 

Borrower Name: 

Reference Number: XXXXX-1234 

Date Last Payment Received: 

Next Payment Due Date: 

Total Delinquent Payments: $ 

Other costs: 

Comment: (describe collection efforts) 

Authorized by: 

______________________________ Date: ________________________ 
(River City Bank) 
  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT – FINAL 12/07/15 Page 34 of 52 

EXHIBIT F – FORM OF LATE PAYMENT NOTIFICATION 

NOTICE OF PAST DUE PAYMENT – IMMEDIATE ACTION REQUIRED 

NOTICE OF OVERDUE PAYMENT: IMMEDIATE ACTION REQUIRED 
 
 

[MCE LETTERHEAD] 
 
[INSERT DATE] 
 
[INSERT NAME] 
[INSERT ADDRESS LINE 1] 
[INSERT ADDRESS LINE 2] 
 
Electric Account Service ID [INSERT SAID#] at [INSERT ADDRESS] 
 
 
Our records indicate that your payment for Electric Account Service ID [INSERT SAID#] is 
overdue. Our records also indicate that this account is participating in the On-Bill Repayment 
program offered by MCE in partnership with River City Bank.  Under the terms of the OBR Loan 
documents, failure to pay the full amount due as provided on your monthly PG&E Billing 
Statement may result in a delinquency to both your OBR Loan and your PG&E Bill.  If full 
payment has already been made or a payment arrangement has been established, thank you, 
and please disregard this notice. 
 
If, however, your account is still outstanding, we ask that full payment of your PG&E bill be 
made by [INSERT DATE]. Making this payment by [INSERT DATE] will ensure you remain a 
customer of MCE and will avoid late fees and penalty charges per the terms of your agreement 
with River City Bank. Please see the reverse page for payment options.  
 
When you review your bill you will notice that MCE only charges for generating your electricity 
while PG&E charges for the transmission and delivery of your electricity. MCE’s charge for 
generation replaces what PG&E would charge you for generation. There are no duplicate 
charges.  You will also notice a line item labeled “On-Bill Repayment Charge.”  This is your loan 
charge, which is due to River City Bank and collected on your energy bill.  Failure to pay this 
charge may result in a default on your loan. 
 
Please note: This is the only reminder you will receive. Should you fail to make your payment in 
full, your service from MCE will be suspended and your electric generation service will be 
returned to PG&E. If your electric account is returned to PG&E, your loan with River City Bank 
will be considered in default as provided in your loan documents. 
 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 35 of 52 

Additionally, If you are returned to PG&E’s electric generation service, PG&E will prohibit you 
from returning to MCE for one year and will enroll you in their Transitional Bundled Commodity 
Cost (TBCC) rate program, whose rates and terms may vary from PG&E’s standard bundled 
rates. For information about PG&E’s TBCC program, please contact PG&E at 1-866-743-0335. 
 
If you think you are receiving this notice in error, you have questions about your bill, or you are 
experiencing financial hardship and wish to discuss possible payment options, please contact 
MCE Customer Service at 1-888-632-3674, Monday to Friday between 7 A.M. and 7 P.M.   For 
questions about your On-Bill Repayment Loan charge only, please contact River City Bank at 
(916) 564-7144. 
 
PAYING YOUR ELECTRIC BILL 
 
Payment can be made at any of PG&E’s local offices, at pay stations, by mail, by phone, or 
online.  
 
By Phone:  
To pay by phone using an ATM/debit card with STAR, ACCEL, PULSE or NYCE symbol or by 
electronic check, call 1-866-743-0335 at any time. You will be charged a small convenience fee 
for each transaction. PG&E will determine how payments are applied.  
 
Online: 
To pay online, sign up for e-bills at www.pge.com.  
 
By Mail: 
To pay by mail send payment to: 
 
 
Pacific Gas and Electric Company 
P.O. Box 997300 
Sacramento, CA 95899-7300 
 
In Person: 
To pay in person go to any PG&E local office or pay station. To find a local office or pay station 
near you, visit www.pge.com/payinperson or call 1-866-743-0335. 
 
Things to remember when paying in person: 
• Credit cards payments may be made over the phone by calling PG&E at 1-866-743-0335 

and are not accepted as a payment method in person.  
• You may pay by cash, check or money order in person.  
• Bring your bill or 11 digit account number with you. 
• Retain the receipt for your records (you will need this if you call PG&E about your 

payment). 
• Payments made by 5:00 P.M. post to your account on the same day. 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

http://www.pge.com/payinperson


 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 36 of 52 

 
 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 37 of 52 

EXHIBIT G – SCHEDULE OF MCE SERVICE PROVIDERS 

PG&E – Pacific Gas and Electric (provide brief description of relationship) 

NES - Noble Americas Energy Solutions 

Project Consultants (list and describe roles) 

Association for Energy Affordability: Multi-Family Program Technical Consultants 

Services Provided: Energy Audits, Project Installation Inspection, Technical Assistance 
to Program. 

Marin City Community Development Corporation 

Services Provided: Outreach and Customer Service for Multi-family Properties; Direct 
Installation of Certain Energy Efficiency Measures 

Community Energy Services Corporation SmartLights Program: Commercial Program 
Administrator 

Services Provided: Energy Audits, Project Installation Inspection, Technical Assistance 
to Program. 

  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 38 of 52 

EXHIBIT H – SAMPLE CUSTOMER DISCLOSURE AND CERTIFICATION 

(FOR LENDER USE) 

You have applied for a loan with River City Bank to finance certain energy efficiency 
improvements using the MCE On-Bill Loan Program to facilitate the payments of your On-Bill 
Repayment Loan (the “OBR Loan”). You must be a direct customer of Marin Clean Energy 
(“MCE”) or a Pacific Gas and Electric Company (“PG&E”) customer within MCE’s service 
territory to apply for this loan. 

This On-Bill Repayment Certification and Consent Form will be included in your executed loan 
documents with River City Bank. 

Please read this information carefully as it contains important information regarding the 
OBR Loan. 

NOTICE: 

1) Monthly installment payments to your OBR Loan will be included as a separate line item 
on your monthly MCE or PG&E Billing Statement; 

2) The OBR Loan installment payment is a separate obligation from your agreement and 
obligations with PG&E and/or MCE. 

3) Failure to pay your monthly PG&E Billing Statement, which includes both the PG&E 
and MCE energy amounts due and the OBR Loan payment due, in full each month can 
result in a short or delinquent payment to your OBR Loan. 

4) If you are an MCE Customer and become delinquent on any portion of an OBR Loan or 
the energy portion of your bill, all future payments will be applied on a pro-rated basis 
between the OBR Loan and the MCE portion of the billing statement. For example, if 
the MCE energy portion of your bill is $50.00 and the OBR Loan payment is $100.00 and 
you pay only $100.00, then $33.00 will be applied to the MCE energy portion and $67.00 
will be applied to your OBR Loan. This short payment may result in penalty rates and 
defaults under your OBR Loan agreement. If you are a PG&E Customer only and 
become delinquent on any portion of your PG&E bill, your OBR Loan payment may be 
applied to repay PG&E prior to repayment of your OBR Loan – this may result in 
delinquency, default and additional charges against your OBR Loan. 

5) River City Bank may bill you separately for any delinquent or late charges due; these 
amounts are due and payable even if they are not included on the PG&E Billing 
Statement. 

6) If you are not delinquent and choose to repay your OBR Loan in full before the 
anticipated final installment, this payment must be made directly to River City Bank. 

7) Your OBR Loan will be immediately due in payable in full if any of the following 
conditions occur: 1) You sell the property to which the improvements are made, 2) You 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 39 of 52 

are no longer a MCE customer or a PG&E customer within MCE’s service territory, 3) 
The information provided in obtaining the OBR Loan was fraudulent, 4) You default 
under any term or condition of your OBR Loan, or 5) PG&E removes the OBR Loan 
payment from the billing statement. 

8) The purpose of the OBR Loan is to fund energy efficient improvements as provided on a 
project summary – energy audit (the “Energy Audit”); you will be required to notify 
River City Bank immediately upon the discovery of any condition during installation or 
construction that would alter or increase the costs provided in the Energy Audit. 

CONSENT 

1) I HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THE INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT; 

2) I HEREBY AUTHORIZE PG&E AND MCE AND ITS AFFILIATES TO SHARE MY 
INFORMATION WITH RIVER CITY BANK 

3) I HEREBY AUTHORIZE RIVER CITY BANK TO SHARE MY INFORMATION 
WITH PG&E, MCE AND ITS AFFILIATES 

4) I UNDERSTAND THAT IF MY ENERGY PAYMENTS ARE DELINQUENT, THAT 
A DELINQUENCY COULD OCCUR UNDER OBLIGATIONS TO MCE AND RIVER 
CITY BANK 

I UNDERSTAND THAT I MUST NOTIFY RIVER CITY BANK OF ANY INCREASED 
COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SCOPE OF THE WORK APPROVED BY RIVER CITY 
BANK. RIVER CITY BANK IS UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO FUND THE OBR LOAN IF 
THE INCREASED COSTS ARE NOT COVERED BY SOURCES OUTSIDE OF THE OBR 

LOAN.  
  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 40 of 52 

EXHIBIT I: MULTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM STATEMENT OF 
COMPLETION 

 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

MUlll-FAMILY ENERGY EFflCIENCY PROGRAM 

STATEMENT OF COMPl ETIO N 

CUSTOMER/OWNER INFORMATION 

ame o Prop,erty Owner 

Property a dd ress 

Zip 

Owner phone 

Co • ractor phone 

City State Organ on name 

Owner email 

O.NTRACTOR INFORMATION 

Co ntrad<>r C,>m pany Name 

Co ntractor email 

INCENTIVE DISBURSEMENT 

Please send the fina l incentive payme of to: 

' ecipient name 

MaT ng, ad dress 

Zip 

City 

Entity re.cei -ng incentwe (ct.eel one): 

D owner • Contracto r 

State 

STATEMENT OF COMPLETION 

MCE Clean Ene,vr 
1 .. mml w,h 



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 41 of 52 

 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

MUlll-FAMIILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGIRAM 

STATEMENT Of COMPLETION 
Sy s ig ing below. bot t he ow er a nd oomracfor ce rtify t hat al I o the wo rk in the attached proposa I has been 

completed to progra m standards a nd is cove red by a, one-ye a r wa rranty on a ll parts a nd labor effect ive a s o 

he date listed be low. he owner a nd contractor are in a.ireem e hat the ' nal ·nee ive payme nt sho uld b e 

se nt to the re cipie nt and locat ion liste abo ve. 

Owner Signature ate 

C.Omrad or Sig nai,ure Date 

C.Omra ctor's One·-Year Warranty E e ci:ive ate : 

0 Check here to confi rm atta.c hm e nt of nal Co ntractor's Worl Order, Purchas e Ord er, o r Cont ract 

EUGJB TY REQ EM BNTS AN D Q, ER TE MS ANID 00 DffiONS: 

L EUG[ 1oie;ncy Prog,a 111 {MFiEEP) offers free energy rurvE-ys. 1:eohnccal 

assistance, and iency measures to ru!.tomesrs who are property OW11.El"S or ma.na:;ers (ou!.to rs) o multi-

fa mily resi ances. Customers must reoei,,e 1 a:rin " Eirsrgy and / or Pa · Gas aru:I Electric gas and/o r e ric de <y s,e,n,ioe to be 

ecl igJb le. incentives are avajla.b e to ru!.to mers fo, t he purchase and insta llat ion of e,nergy e'' •oienc-y mea.sures at the lo c-a · n wltae the 

qua ifying projec,t is to be in!.t:al CE wi• not offer nanoial in<>en ·~es and/o, rebates to those customers woo !ta"' received ' naM ial 

ince,ntives or rebates fo r me sa: esligi measure fro m me Paci c Gas aru:1 Electric Company, !he BayREr-t ar a.ny olher ratepayer 

fu nded en...qgy e ci>sncy program. Signature o th· form oaunts as :affirma · n that no other fma.nc·a r incentives h.ave been applied for 

or callee 

e.lec'1"ic or gars energy e''· oiency measuress ident ified ars ea!" ible 

lementaNon cc,ntractor barsesd o n an eru,,gy su:rvey of the bu i d ing. Qua ifying projects do not includ e an y 

e;leclric or gas er,ergy e oienc-y mea<1.1 res or ene;rgy eflic"eru:y equipment or services pu rcltasecl. contracted fo r. o r · !.tailed p rior to me 
prog,a m !.tart date. 

3. OWNER A.PPUC-ATION/PARTIC!i>A.TIO A.GREEMENi: y scg ning lfh is Pai:t icipatic,n A.greemem to aooess the building's energy UiS:age for 

the p re · u,; 12- 4 mooths. ru!.tolll!!ir iaull\.orizes MCE's techn" I implementa · n oootrac~ to enter th" liuild1ng for the purposes of 

oo.raducting an e;rnergy suN e1• of the bui ing's oommon area ancl in<l ividu ..J u its, · m il" g FiEEP me;asuress in irad"r,idual n· instaling 

a.my ensrgy effici_ r:y meateures subseq111entft agreed to in a Scope of Wool. · specting insta lled . sure, and evalua · g the 

peiformances o · !.tailed meilSlll res. 

4. Resiidents of ind. · ual dwell ing un· in an e ligib building for whic " Pa · ipation Agreanent has bee,n scgned b,y :he build ing 

owner (o r manageme,nt company) are 1g le to re<>eive oertai dire<:tll,• imtalled efficiency sures, indlucling but . at li m,ted to 

MCE Clean Enef'9Y' 
1 n nl ,. h , • 



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 42 of 52 

 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

MUlTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM 

00 

weallt&ization meesur~ 

S. NCENTIVE AMOUNTS: e amounts o ' ilhe iooent · es for ~ ;ct, qu•atrfying projects are et,gible are set fo l1ih in the aud it re port 

p rovided to the rustom,e,r. 

6. CUS O ER WORK A HOR!ZJ!!.TION ' OJECi WORK P N: MCE and/o r MCE's im msntat ion contractor will sst with the 

customer to d iscuss ind ividu•a l building objec,fo1es, ~· e i forma · n o n a ltema · ·es, d01SCuss process and create a work project a:nd 

sche le. CE a d/ or MCE's imp lementa · n cootrocw r may select a ru:I pro\lide ooe or more approved · stallation :ru:boonllractors to 

COII\Pte te t he measure instal ation worl<. 01 t he rusro r may se1ec,t o ne o r mo re oontra,ct ors so 10<19 as the cu stomer is wi g t o 

procu re a, sig:r,ed fo rm from the contractor exp,-~ing in t t o rnrpor.te 'With the qua I· assura '1<le and qu a lity control p rovisio.ms of t he 

MfiEE . t CE's t echnica l imp.Je >E,Bti>lioo 0011tra,cto1 will scL<>du e and/o r onitor the requ· e d install i>!io n s>e.niices. 

7. :t.lP EM ENTA .ON O · W AND PAYM EINT f [~ EINTNES: Mff's imple rnBr>ta1ti<>n oo tra,ct.or, AEA. I need to see that your 

project is o n uack. aru:I know " en yow p1aj,ect is close to OOII\Pler n in ordesr to schemile the iree ;'&iik ation s~e visits. wh ich are 

requi red before you can dla im your , ebate. Due to the hig h d emand for this reibate. projects must show co n · u ou s progr ess t O"Nard 

COII\Pfe~ion.. Projec,,s that do not show progress oward mee ing project m ilemmes, · CM:1· g b ut n ot lim,ted o procu · g perm its. 

sche 1· g Direct tnstall worl<. and mcwin,g m,ward wi constru,:tion (or are · a,:tt,11> for over M days} may lose t · rebate reserva · n 

positi<>n u nless e:ooe;ptio is grant ed in writ ing by MC E. Prnje,ets may rejoin t he rese~ at ioo q eu e if this ha;pp:ns. If com;plex~ies o· your 

project requ ire mo re ime. J>lease n otify AEA · wri · . g with a proposed schedule and re est r an exception.. Projects failing to meet 

t he above t ime e ,~ill l,e requ· ed to re.im burse AEA for eroergy suN ey costs. The D. eel !nstall ,,..,,ioe p,-o~idal . t no oost to 

pan,icipants · not intended to be a sraru:1-alone · e. Ptaj,ects mat choose to take ..dvan tage of the Direct tnsta ll se.vioe but tha, fall 

to meet other p roject maestO<IJE$ ma,y need ro prcwide reimbursement fo r sue ' D. ect Jns'lall s · e to MCE. The cu stomer must pay · 

share of t he oost for eacfo me a.su re IO b e insta led p ursuant to t ile S()ope of Wort: not .er t han the com tion of instal a · n o ' a t 

earure. W hen t. CE"s tee ical im ;;,tion contractor confirm s t hi>I · a.ll i>!i<>n of a specific measure is satisfacto ly competed. 

t CE will arramge fo r p a,yment of the · ·en · e fur tha t measure t o the rust.o sr or, - authori2ed to do so by t he b u in,g own er, d irectly 

CE' s q ual· assurance amd/ w qu a:lity control inspectoJS and/w MCE, · th e ir sofe 

d . a e tion. mar schedu an d conduct a post-insta ll a:tio.m insp ectioo t o erasure satisfactory measure insta a tion.. tnce fa e dnecks wil l be 

sent after t Cc s t:echn ic;;, I im ~a ti<>n contractor confirms sa~isfactory · stal · n. 

a CUSTO ER [N FO · MA .ON: Cusromer ag, ees that CE may prcwide cusromer inf ormation including customer n a:me. acoou , t number, 

e lec111i,;. gas. a:nd/ 01 watsr consumptio n d a:ta a:nd ele<tric.. gas. an,c{/o r water savings to a ird J>anl'/ eva a:tion c=ractor s elected by the 

Ca ifo m ia Pub lic t il" ies Commis:S'ion (CPUCI Bnergy Divisi<>n or by acific Gas a: nd EllecGric or to t he loca.l watesr district fu, pmg:ra.m 

evalua · n purposes. Th e eva ation contractor will ~eep cusro er · o rmation oo.nmd~ t ia l. Cu~me r infor ti m;;,y a o be prnoidal 

to the Ca, li" . rnia Pubric IU · r11ies Commissio n. Any cusromsr · fo rma · n pro · ed to the CP · will be agg regated with informa,t io n about 

omsr rnstomers and i,ot p ersonally iclanti ~ ble. 

9. 1"AX l.!ABILITY aru:I C ,EJDITS; CE is not r~ p <>nsib le for any t «>:es \\¼l idh may be · ose d o n the oustomer as a resu of measur,;s 

insra un der th· p<o gram. 

10. DJSP ES: CE will h iWe sole d"ISCre ion to d ecide o n me fi nal resolut ion of any issues indlud ing but no t timited ro elig i rty o r 

inas.n - 'ES. 

11. P · OGRAM C GES: .tCE reseNes the right t o change. mocr • or te rm· te t h· progra m at any t ime w· out a:ny liabiilfy exoe;pt as 

expressly stated h.a-e.in. MCE I hono r a wriliten co itments d e · Scope of Work provided to ousto - s p.riio, to the date o f ;my 

change. mod" i>l ion o, .ermin. tion of th· J>rogram, provided t hat p rojec, ·u,sta ll ations are fu ll r compe t ed withi t he i e speoified in 

t he Soape o Work. 

12. P OG M EXP[RA ON: 1"his program I expire pon the ea:rliest to ocour. (i) Decemb& 31. 2015. (iii " en fu nds a, e de ted. o, 

(ii i) when the program is te rm· ated. 

13. DlSCLAlMER: MCE ma es n o re;presentatioll!S o r warra t ies, expressed o r im ie<:1., and d oes not guarantee that im;plementation of 

a,ergy-eff;c·eooy ll\"'3rures cr, use of t he equrpment purchased o r irnstal pu rsuant ro is program will ,esu in E11S1gy c,ost savings. 

14 .. INSTALLA .O.N REQ Bt ENTS: All woric: must e · nee with t ile re quirements o ' app lica le laws, ru les and regu t ions 

o ' authorities a s ing go,semmental an d regu lato,y jur is 1c,~ion. Addi · na ly, woric: performed J>UJSUant to this program must be os1&see;n 

MCE Clean Energ;~ 
nwnl ,. w ~ 



 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FIRST DRAFT Page 43 of 52 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

MUl TI-FAMIILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM 

MC ~ AEA (IJ Dther oontractoo idBrrts~1~.T ~ Mttn:£fi (l<=;Q~r!e~~~pp Klant ODnfirms that m5. requireme t Df t e 

progra the ow er oo any subcD:nt ractor ca 11}'ing DUt i ~llatio:n of measures under this program s!hall re.m,o,,.. ;md dispDSe of ;my an d 

a II equip en o r ma~ria Is th al are re aced oo remo i aocoodaooe with a II ap-plr.c~ble laws., rules and regulations. 

M CE CIHn Ene~CJ~ 
1 • wnl 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 44 of 52 

EXHIBIT J: COMMERCIAL CHECK LIST-POST INSTALL SITE INSPECTION 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Site I 

Smart Lights Program 
1013 Pardee Street, Berkeley, CA 94710 
Fax (510) 981-0102 

Audit Number I 

Tel (510) 981-7750 
www.smartlights.org S1nartL iµ/•i!-: 

ilifrr.etrn iLo-:ir U.1r:.-ur: L'i t£" 

Project Completion and Acceptance Certificate 

Customer: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that all equipment and materials Included In the Customer Report and Work Order 
have been furnished and Installed, and that the work has been completed satisfactori ly. The project is now 
complete and ready to be Inspected. 

The undersigned understands that the Contractor Is not an employee nor representative of Community Energy 
Services Corp., and agrees that neither the aforementioned nor the Smartllghts Program are In any way liable or 
responsible for any acts or omissions of Contractor. 

Signature of Authorized agent 

II "'" 
l=Pr=in=t=Na=m=e== =,==========~=============-=1_=11""',t1""e==~~= =--I 

l=================""'?'o=== ==-=•===~---..,.,.-_,._=====-=-=== Business' Name -1·Address , City, State 

I 
Contractor: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that all specified equipment has been furnished and installed to match the 
Smartlights project scope, and that the installed equipment compiles with SmartLights equipment specifications. 
Warranty information has been provided to the customer listed below. 

Signature of Contractor/ Foreman/lnstaffer Date 

.. 
~ -Print Name TIUe 

~ ntracting Company Naiii'; 
- ·--=== =-===-· 1-·"=•= = I Address I City, State 

I 

(RL/RL) 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 45 of 52 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 46 of 52 

 
  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Site I 

Smart Lights Program 
1013 Pardee Street, Berkeley, CA 94710 
Fax (510) 981-0102 

Audit Number I 

Tel (510) 981-7750 
www.srnartlights.org S1nartLi;J:hi !-: 

Bii,:f.!!rn \ i .. ..;r lt.1i:,:ii rr L·itr 

Project Completion and Acceptance Certificate 

Customer: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that all equipment and materials Included In the Customer Report and Work Order 
have been furnished and Installed, and that the work has been completed satisfactorily. The project is now 
complete and ready to be Inspected. 

The undersigned understands that the Contractor is not an employee nor representative of Community Energy 
Services Corp., and agrees that neither the aforementioned nor the SmartLJghts Program are In any way liable or 
responsible for any acts or omissions of Contractor. 

Signature of Authorized agent Date 

= - ·== 
Print Name Title 

Business'Name 
MO-- I Address I City, State 

I 
I 

Contractor: 

The undersigned hereby certifies that all specified equipment has been furnished and installed to match the 
SmartUghts project scope, and that the installed equipment complies with SmartUghts equipment specifications. 
Warranty information has been provided to the customer listed below. 

Signature of Contractor/Foreman/Installer Date 

~ 

Print Name TI~e 

~ntracting Company N-;;;;-,;-·- - --- -------. v- 1-•==--~ =~= - ! City, State I Address 

' 
I 

(RL/RL) 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 47 of 52 

EXHIBIT K: OWNER PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Cl.lSTOMER NAME 

DATE PRESENTED TO OW NER 

PRIMARY PG&E ACCOUNT NUMBER 

PROPERTY STREE T ADDRESS 

ClliY STATE ZIP CODE 

TOTAL NUMBER Of DWELLING UNITS IN BULDI.NG 

Measure 
Me-a.s uire

P-oints 

s.ltldY080<NOto 
co..l,m lntsnfloo o Pr--

Total Points (sum · ail pools 1nrt1:aled ab:Jve)~ AiJt<> GE 

Rebate Anoomt (per unit) #NIA A,Jt,o GE 

otal Pn:;e,::t Rebate AmJunt #NIA AiJto c..k: 

Due to lhe t,v, de!mnd for · rebate. ~ musl shaw oontinuous fllV"SS """3m ccmJieoon. Projects lhal do no, qiow 1""'9'3-• 
toward meE!ing project milestones, iookdng but not liri1ed to procurilg p?rmits and contraCIOr proposals, SCfledgirg Direct lnsial WOO<. and 
mo,,;ng for¥ad vith ,oonstru:,tirn (or are inactive fur <Ne! ~ days) may lose Iha rebate resE<Y.aticn p,sifioo mless e,oceptirn is ga in 
writing by MCE. Projects may re;», lhe resEfVi31ico q<>:Ue ~ !his happens. If ctmf:Erl:ies al 'JDL< i:roject req<ire mare time. please notify 
MCE in \Witing ,ilh a proposed smadiE and re<p25I ior an ex<:etJlion 

I, Ille-.,,,.,,... of !his buiking agreec to use besl efiorls lo implemenl each maasu"' · is .-ed "yes" above, aro:l I herabj accept !he 
Terms and Cond:1irns. 

Cl.lSTOMER SIGNATURE DATE 

MC'E PROGRAM CONTACT SIGNl'\TURE DATE 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 48 of 52 

  
 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

- ie ncy Prog ram 
T T E BUILDI G SCO PE OF WORK 

EUGIBILTY ~RfiMENTSN«:I Olhl:R T6RMS P.MJ COltllflJONS: 
1. El..lGlflll.JTY TheM.al1i'IClei111Ene!g)"S (MCE) t.U1431rll)'BBg)'El"'.dere)'Prngr.n (PJFEEJ>) CIIT€<sfrel'ffiel!l)'&IIV")'S. -~ and 
1tlaidal 1Dr ellli::le,q rrea!UE!, OO WS!llll'IE!o..,. .n ~- a manageis (W61ane.) al rrua-t.mly IE<ldeooes. ClEll:maft; nu;t 
recer ,e Mar.ll Clean Ene!l!I' a'ld l 0f Paanc Ga; .ni Elecl1c ,;;is a'lCt·a etectrrc Oell\ll!f)' seMce 1D be etgDe. 1111lef11Na; are aialliltle ro i:u&:arrsi; ra Ille 
JUtfla&e and l'l6lallallon a1 €<lel!l)' emcserer mei1611"E!6 at Ille kJc3loll l'lflele u-e qmll')1ng p<ried: 16 ro be~ MCE w111 oot cn,, lbillldal ll"<mll,e,; 
ano'a ll!bal!61D llo6e llElmll!lll 'MD ra.>! reoel.-e:I fln;nlal IID!flll.,,,; DI - :0, lhe-ellgllle ml!a!lle l'lil'Jl Ille l'adllC Gas arid Elecl1c canµ,.,y, 
u-e Ba)REN. 0f Jll' <llher ~-E!!IEl1II' etr.d...,, pr0!J,ffl. ~ oo llllti fmn OJUT11; as .m 1ra1 no <lhierfll0ldal menlllle,; ra,e 
been appled fa a col!acle:l 1llrtte "'1rlle ellglble rneaEUB!i lreld!ll Ill llllti 5oope <fWOfl (SOI' 
2 QUll,!Jf'11NG PRO.ETS AHD MEASURES: CmlfYl'1g ~edl; lraJ<le electrrc a ,;;is ene<yy E!fflclency rne;EUl!f; lden::!e<I as ellgtfe D lllc:E!TtM!6 b\' 
MC!:s I~ IXll1rador 006l!d on an ef1SJ1Y mr"'I' <f tte !Juking. ~ prnjeCll5 do nal lraJ<le ;rry el!drl<: a gas E!!IEl1II' ellli::le,q rrE!3WES 
DI E!!IEl1II' emctenc\' eq.J~ a 5SV10e6 ptn:tiased, conia:led ra-, a I1161;fled prtt ro u-e prograns1ilrt Clale. 
3. OWNER APPLIO,.llON,'PARTICIPA.TION AGREEMENr. Bf sg,lng tits Pall~~ 111 ~ the bl.J~ E!1e<gy usage b lhe ~ 12-
24 rmnlh6, aJ!tmler au11ollzl!6 MCE'5 - ~ CDltr.l:la ID l!f1IEr 1115 tJoJalng b :IE> ~ al coo:lJChg an e!1SJ1Y alr"'I' <f tte 
lllll"1'lgS cmrnon aIEil an:J mtmuai urtlli, IJ16lallng MFiffiP rneaw1!6 In Ira.Illa lds.111S1al'1g a1)' €flelll)' elnlJ£flcy rnea&lfi!6 liUll6eqJefT!I) agreed ID In 
a scape al Wart.~ I1161,fled rrE!3WES aid ~ ll1e pemrmance III l'lstali!d -
4 Re!ldem; ltln<lhttal c!Mellng lltlli In an elglble blJl<algfal'lfll<tl aPa-1111paDOO~ ha6 beef1<1g,ed bf h,ttJl<lngcr.t1Er (0f na,ageinert 
IXl'llj:al)') nelgllle ,orecel\le cert11nclrec:lyl1161;fled effldenC\'~ lrudngootrot lr:nted1DCIXT1J0Cllll:fl!6cenl (Cfl) or~ng®cle 
(LED) ~ 1'aJoe1 am--on, """~aoo11g1t...-oomeil611e!i. 
5. INCffiTl.VE ~s: 1l1e ~ <f tte ll1<JE!Ttl\<e61llrMfch ~ng pqea,; are E!lglble are ,;et lml1 In ll1e allllt 1EJD! pu,n,,:I ID.., cu;taner_ 

6. C'IJSTOl,ER V/CRKAJJJHOR!ZATION NO PROJECT \VORK A.Alt MCE ard'a MCE's ~DII ccmaaa l'ill mee: IM'Jl the ct.E1DrnE!" ti ll&W5s 
ndl.ttlal butihg Dlljl!dM!6, ~11! lrramatlDII 00 atl!malll>1!6, cl&1116!i p!llClE"5 arid ..-ea!e a Mn protea .rd - MCE inl'DI MC!:s I~ 
cmtradar rray 6'!1e!d .nl pRMde one DI more ZffJID',-..:1 11161aUbl amJllll3ctm; ID a:mple!!e Ille rne.aa,e __, 'MIit. Of lhe ClBOOEf rray 6'!le!d one 
DI more ""'1ra::loo; 50 long as lhe ctEtrmEr Is ...ang 1D poaie a ag,ed l<m :ran Ille CDl1lradDr ~ ln1l!!t lo carpor.,te '61: the~""""""" 
am~ caTIDl ~ a1 Ille MFEEP. MCE's ll!dncal ~"" ccmaaa --"" mortlDr the requrec1 11161aUbl sefVlce6. 
7. ~/\TION OF WORK .-.ND PAYi.e.T OF INCENmre;: MCE's l"l4ementallct1 omtradDI. AEA, l'ill need ti see llkll yotr project Is Dll n::l, aid 
lroW wtien )'CU ~ect ls cbse o ~a, n artH1D a:ted!Je u-e a-ee ertr.i>tttl ille Vlslb;, - are reqtired bebe )00 c.n catn ~-- o.e 1D 
ll1e l1!;fl llefTlim n- lli5 rEllilte. prcfeds rru;t.,.,,. OOftlnuiu; prngreas--.a ~- Prnjeds 1hat do nal slJMprngreg; - meeting pqe:t 
rrlleSlme&. lndldlCJ CU net ll1ted 111 i:m:utMJ pm1ll:S. scnedllll!I Illrecl I1161,f) lltlfl, and lTllltM!J lmU!l \M'Jl consna:IJon {or are lllild!Ve !CI rNf!I 3J lb)'S) 
rraykl6ettw--po61UOOLJ1£!6Se,xcepllct1 s~edlnlM1UngbyMCE. Plr{edsffl":I' rE!(fnlhi>11!6ef11311DII~ lli5 ~- ~ 
IXl'llJ'iE<ll06 al~ prnfed re<pre rn:.-e me, ~ nat!ly ltEA I ..nlng 111111 a F'fllPOOBd sdle!Ue aid req.,efil a an excepll:n Prnjl!CII; fallng 111 meet.., 
iEClle :tnelne 'M be~ 111 re!ntuse 1'EA :or eflSJIYaJr"")' CDSl5.. The mECI ll'Etal SE!'l1oe! Pf1M(lecl al no CD!t lo pall~ 16 rot ln1Ended ID Ile a 
aano-alooe servi<». Prnje<:S 1hat cmoo;elD t.l>a<I>'~ a111e Cll!!ct ..-- &er~ce tu1ta1fall o~ Dller protea rrlle6tJl1.a,; mayneea lo~ 
- fDr mcfl mECI frl;tal ,avlce 1D MCE. The ClEIDmef rru;t ~ 6/ae <f 111e oos11llr ea:11 rtllSEJI! ID be lrEt:aad ptA!Ht lo Ille SCOpe al 
Villlk rd aler lhan.., ca:Jl)e1m al rnaai1at100 IJ!1ta1 rneasie.. Wl1E!1 MCE's _..cal ~a, llllf1llill:IU ClllTJTr6 tra ,_ al a~ 
rnaasue 16 sallsladoolf COITlfaed, MCE aoranga, :or ~ al Ill, 1"""'11ve lllr tthal lrl!aWl! ro ll1e <lHlllTB" DI, W -111 oo so t:Pf the lllllklng 
....-s.~ti the lnlilalalloncartrada<:nr1hatml!a!lle. ~="1alllYa66lianlll! an<IDI ,pilly<Xrrtml~aml\:Jrr.«:E. 1nira-saec1saet:m, 
rray 6d:ledJI! arid ClllDJd a pa&!-11161,f .m ln&pedlOO ti = ~ rne.aa1e 1ns1a1a11on. IID!flllve ctle(tl; WII be sent nr !oCE's tecmlcal 
~DIICIJ'ltr.aaa<DRm!i ~lno;talaloo. 
6. CUSJ0!,11':R lf/l'ORMI\TION: ~alJEe!i llal \1CE ffl":i' prOltde CIEIDmef hmrnlallon lnatdng ruslane!"name, acmzrl IIIJ11>er, eiedJ1C. 936, 
ano'a \lal:a"OOfl&OOllllOll!lala and eie<:lfc. gas. and.'<lf 'Aiters.w1ng,.ID a111111 ~e..A.lalli:fl IXlltractDrsel2aed bf the calllJmla Pldc llle6 
CllmllBQ:n (CPU::) Enefg)'Dt.t&IIII a b)'Padffc Gas and EIE!dl1<:DI 1111lle lacal \lal:a" rlstr1i:l tt~Naluallct1 pupD6l!6. Tlle E!YalJallooconT.ICIDrl'ill 
~ ClBOOEf mNrnallct1 cxrm CIElDmer rnbmallon 111iYf al5D Ile~ lo Ille C3111Jma A.de LmllleS CDlrmS&lon. Nry aElomaf lntoor.lJOO 
pr<Mded ID lhe CPI.IC 'Ml be~ wltli -a, alJctJ1 - ClEb'.:mall; and oot ~ klnl:I.Ue. 
9. TAX. Ll'o5IIJTY and CREilTS: !oCE Is not ,a;pcn,;l~e fa~ - Yotlcll may Ile llfl)Cl6ed ct1 lhe aJ!II:fnl!r .. a 11!6Ul al rne;EU1!f; lflitalel IRH llfs 
prngran. 
111. DISPUTES: MCE 'A1I ll.l;e sae clSCIKai 1D - a, lhe ll!60Ulloo lJ! any 16We6 lnclllllhg lllll: oot ltnr.ed ro ~ a ....._ 
11. PROGRM! CHANGES: MCE n,,;er,e,; lte l1!#t D clelge, mcxlly, ortsmnale 1111; pnl!J<ll1 al a,y l1i'ne -a1)' llallffly ~llllepl as eJl!ll'!'8)' ota:ed 

--MCE Wll hoollr ill- IXlfTTlllrnenl! mall! ~ It Wen prnrmed ti ctl61orne!!; l=flDI 111 Ille Ible al JI)' cnange,, m:xlr.::alll:rl DI 1l!r.nlllilllct1 al 
llllti l""!J"ffl, prr,1ried 1ta1 protea l'l6lallalla,s are U\' carrµeled 'llllhln Ille Uma op!d::ed In the SOOpe <fW<lrl. 
12. PROGRM! EXPIRATION: lihls ~IM exµre ~ tte M!l1!61 ro ooan: Pl De<amer 31. 2015, Pl) """"1 llrd6 are deple1l!!l. DI (Il l) """" tile 
progra'n Is tsmnaled. 
13. Illsa.AIMER: r.t::Em,&e,;no repe,&efllall0nawair.nle5.~ DI and 111a;no1~eelllall~ aim~ erey 
rrE!3WES a= <lithe '"JIJJlH!lllpuro,ase:I or-puruantro llllti l'f'l!J"fT11111 res.JI I """'lll' =t"""'1g6. 
14. INSTAUATION REOUREMENTS: ,-. _. nut be I II.I ccrnplanlle With lhe ~ al app(c:at:le liMS, nJl!6 arc ~ al artlDttle6 te.1ng 
~ m~Jll"1'licllorl. All:lllonall)', 'MXt pe!1"Dlml!clpu,a,.n ID :Ill!; Pf'l!J"ffimJ6I be....,,_., bof AEA a <:ttiercarlraclD1 kle!1lllledbf 
r.t::E. lnh,rem:rialllllllld eqllffll!!lllhean,lcatcxrfflrm&tthala& aretJJremen alb,~ ttea,r,nera~S1JCmlrad0f~ cu latloolll 
ll"E!3WES inler llllti l'f'l!J"fT1 shall nmM" aid clsjlll6I!' <f aflf and ill~ or rnn.ra.11>a1 are ~ or IE!TMWEd 111 aoooolance wm, ai: awJCab1e 
~-aid~ 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 49 of 52 

 
  

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Measure 

0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

Cumulati v lncerntive 

e Point per 

Total Un it[s) 

2 $50 

3 $1:00 

4 $150 

5 $200 

6 $3()(), 

7 $400' 

s ssoo, 
9 se;oo, 
10 $]()(), 

11 $11()(), 

12 $9()(), 

13 $1,000 

14 $1 ,.125 

15 $1250 

Points L,ow 

Pol nts igh 

Partial Points 

Measure 
Po·nt s 

0.0 

2.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 

0 .0 

0 . .0 

0 .0 

owrnor Sel:el>t ,,..,. 
or Ho to COO.firm 

1nts11ilon o 
Proceed wrtti 

"'838UT& 

0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

Taul Reibale # /A 

D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 
D 

0 .0, 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 50 of 52 

EXHIBIT L: CUSTOMER WORK AUTHORIZATION 
DO-IT-YOURSELF MODEL AGREEMENT SAMPLE 

 
 
 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Site I Sample Customer Audit Number I 12345 

Smartlights Outside Contractor Agreement 
I, the undersigned, on behatf of the Contractor identified below right, acknowledge and agree to the following: 

Eligibility 
The Customer below is an electric or natural gas Customer of PG&E with an active meter serviced by PG&E. I f the. Customer has an existing on-site 
cogeneration or self generation, the SmartLights program will not pay incentives for energy savings that exceed the Customer's annual energy usage from 
PG&E. 

Project Installation 
I am informing the SmartLillhts Program that I have chosen to install the energy efficiency measures identified in the attached irwoice and/or scope of work 
for the Customer identified 'below left, Upon completion of the project and successful inspection,, SmartLights Program will disburse the rebate below directty 
to the Contractor. I ...,derstand that all conb'acts pertaining to the installation of the retrofit will be between myself and the Customer. As such, I am solely 
responsible. for the work performed and final costs of the work performed. It is my responsibility to ensure that all installed equipment complies with the 
SmartLights equipment specifications. Any changes to the scope of worit will be reported to the Smartt.ights Program before installation in order to verify 
e ligibility of any new measures and to recalculate the rebate. 

I understand that funding is limited and incentives are paid on a first-come, first-serve basis ...,til 12/ 31/ 2015, or until funds are depleted, whichever comes 
first. and instaflation must be completed within 60 days of signing this Agreement. The Customer, as a California consumer, is not obligated to purchase any 
fufl.fee or other service not subsillized by this program. Los consumidores en Califomia no est.an obligados a comprar servicios completos o alltcionales que 
no esten cubiertos bajo este programa. 

Required Paperwork and Rebate Disbursement 
The rebate for my project is SX,XXX.XX and is subject to change. The rebate is capped at 100% of equipment costs and any related work done by the 
Contractor, as verified by invoicing that shall be submitted to the Program . In addition, the rebate will be recalculated to reflect actual installed energy and 
demand saW'lgs if any energy efficiency measures were not installed according to the report specifications. 

In order for Community Energy Services Corp. (CESC) to disburse the rebate amount, I will need to submit the following: 1) Rebate Recipient Tax 
Identification Information (in Rebate Application); 2) Outside Conb'actor Completion Certificate (in Rebate Application); and 3) final invoice(s) containing the 
quantities, brands, and model numbers of each piece of equ.,ment installed. Upon receipt of these materials, CESC sf.all make the rebate payable directly 
to the Contractor within 60 days. 

Role of Administra tors and Access Agreement 
This oroaram is funded bv California utility rateoavers under the aUSDices of the California Public utilities Commission. Este oroarama esti frianc iado DOr los 
usuarios de servicios pUbricos en California bajo la jurisdiccion de la Comision de Servicios Pllblicos de California. CESC administers the Smartlights 
Program. I and my contractor a re solely responsible for all aspects of installing equipment. In the event of any defect in such equipment or installation, I 
wifl look solely to the equipment manufacturer or my contractor and absolve CESC and its employees of any liabirrty with respect thereof. I agree to a llow 
CESC staff and/ or external PG&E4 approved verifiers access to the facirity, with reasonable advanced notice, should external inspection be required for 
purposes of verification, monitoring, and program evaluation. 

Estimated Energy Savings 
All claims regarding estimated energy savings provided to me should be based on the operating schedules of the equipment being reb"ofitted. I verify that 
these schedules accurately describe how the equipment is operated at the faci lity. Since many factors contribute to energy use in any facitity, of which the 
installed equipment is onty one factor, I understand that CESC does not guarantee that a specific level of energy or cost savings will result from the 
implementation of energy efficiency measures funded under this program. 

life of Product 
The Customer understands that incentive payments are based on related energy benefits over the life of the product. The customer agrees if 1) the 
Customer does not provide PG&E with 100% of the related benefits for the life of the product or a period of 5 years, whichever is less, or 2) the Customer 
ceases to be a distribution Customer of PG&E during said time period, then the OJstomer shall refund a prorated amount of incentive payment(s) to PG&E 
based on the actual period of time for which I provioed the related energy benefits as an e lectric Customer of PG&E. 

'Double Dipping' 
I can only use the Smartl.illhts Program rebates to offset costs for the worit and equ.,ment specified as part of the project. I will not be able to apply 
friancia l incentives offerecfby another utility,~ or manufacturer program funded by California ratepayers under the auspices of the California Public 
utilities Commission towards work or equipment that is covered by this Agreement. I agree not to apply for or receive incentives or services for the project 
worit or equipment from another utifrty, state, or manufacturer program. 

Exdusion of PG&E Liability 
Neither PG&E nor any of its employees make any warranty, express or implied, nor assume any legal liability or responsibirity for the accuracy, 
completeness, or usefukless of any data, information, method, product or process disclosed in this document and other Program documents (the "disckised 
items"). In adOltion, PG&E and its employees do not represent that use of the disclosed items will not infringe any privately 4 owned rights, including, but not 
limited to, patents, trademarks, or copyrights. 

Para llel Review 
All proposed projects containing calculated lighting measures are subject to the CPIJC Energy Division's ( ED) ParaDel Review process. With the pending 
approval of the Lighting Calculator, the SmartLights Program has received approval to pilot a s'b"eamlined "modified review" process, in order to reduce the 
amo...,t of time and resources require by the ED process. utilizrig the process inducles inherent risks related to changes in savings values and incentive 
values, in any case that changes are made to the Lighting Calculator and/or my project. I agree to allow Smartlights to submit information pertinent to my 
project to the CPIJC ED to implement this review. 

Signature of Autholized CUstomer Representative 

Joanna Pe.-ez-Green 
Oub-each Coordinate.-
Community Energy Services Corp. 

Date Signature of Authonzed Cono·actor Rep.-eseotative Date 

(EB/MD) 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 51 of 52 

CUSTOMER WORK AUTHORIZATION 
GENERAL AGREEMENT SAMPLE WITH WORK ORDER 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Site I Sample Customer Audit Number I 12345 

Smartlighits Customer Participation Agreement 

L the undersigned., on behatf of the business oostomer identified below, acknowledge and agree to the following: 

Eligibility 
I am an electric or natural gas Customer of PG&E with an active meter serviced by PG&E. If I have an existing on-site cogeneration 01 self generation., the 
SmartLights program w ill not pay incentives for energy savings that exceed my annual energy usage from PG&E. 

Project Completion 
I have reviewed the recommendations in the Customer Report and Worit Order. I hereby authorize the SmartLights Program of Community Energy Services 
Corp. ('CESC') to contact a participating licensed contractor r1nstallation Contractor') to complete the recommended energy efficiency project I have 
obtained any necessary authorization from the landlord or property manager to complete the project. In most cases, the project should be completed 
withrl 3 weeks of signrlg the attached Customer Worit Order. Worit will occur dul'Wlg a time that is mutually agreeable to both me and the Installation 
Contractor. labor for work performed ootside of the normal work week will be charged accordingly. I understand that I am responsible for paying my 
portion of the project costs (total costs minus the Instant Rebate), and that my portion is due to the Installation Contractor upon project completion and 
receipt of the project irwoice. L as a California consumer, am not obligated to purchase any full fee service or other service not Mded by this. Program. Los 
consumidores en California no estin obligados a comprar servicios completos o acfteionales que no esten cubiertos bajo este programa. Hilding for the 
Program is limited. Instant Rebates will be paid on a first-come, first-served basis until 12/ 31/2015 or until funds a re depleted, whichever occurs first. 
Rebates are considered taxable income. Prices and rebates subject to change if I delay insta0ation by more than 2 months after contract s igning, 

Correction of Electrical Code Violations is Not Covered 
Although code violation are rarely fo...,d, if any code violations are found that affect the completion of the project., I can either opt to jl) have- the 
Installation Contractor stop worit and charge me onty for completed work, or (2) have the Installation Contractor provide an additiona estimate for 
correcting the code violations. Costs for co1Tecting the code violations are solely my responsiiility and are ootside the scope of this contract. 

Role of Administrators and Conb-actors, Access A.greement 
I will be signing a Customer Work Order contract (attao'.hed) with the Installation Conb'actor for work recommended in the Customer Report and Work 
Order. In the event of any defect in the worit ( indudingi equipment and installation), I will look solely to the equipment manufacturer or Installation 
Contractor aind I absolve CESC and its employees of any liability with respect to the work. I agree to a llow CESC staff and/or exte-mal PG&E-approved 
verifiers access to the fac ility should external inspection be required for purposes of verification, monitoring, and program evaluation. The rebate is subject 
to change if any equipment is not found instaDed as specified. This Program is funded by California utilicy ratepayers under the auspices of the California 
Public utilities Commission. Este programa est.i financiado por los usuarios de servicios pUblicos en Califomia bajo la jurisdicci6n de la Comision de Servicios 
PUblicos de California . 

Estimate En ergy Savings 
The estimated energy savings quoted in the Customer Report and Worit Order are based on the eQjUipment operating schedules that a re induded in the 
proposal and an averaged PG&E utility rate. I believe these schedules accurately describe how the ,equipment is operated at the facility listed in this 
document. S ince many factors contribute to energy use in any facility, and the instaOed equipment is onlv one factor, I understand that CESC .and the 
Installation Contractor assigned to me do not guarantee that a specific level of energy or cost savings will result from the implementation cJ energy 
<onservition meaS\lres Mldecl under this Program, 

Life of Product 
I ...,derstand incentive payments are based on related energy benefits over the life of the product. I agree if 1) I do not provide PG&E with 100% of the 
related benefits fOI' the life of the product or a period of 5 years, whichever is less, or 2) I cease to be a distribution OJstomer of PG&E during said t ime 
period,. then I shall refund a prorated amount of incentive payment(s) to PG&E based on the actual period of time for which I provided the re lated energy 
benefits as an e lectric OJstomer of PG&E. 

"Double Dipping"' 
I can only use the Smarttights Program rebates to offset costs for the worit and equipment specified as part of the project. I will not be able t o apply 
financial incentives offered by another utitlty, state, or manufacturer program funded by California .-atepa_yers under the auspices of the California Pubfte 
Utilities Commission towards work or equipment that is covered by this Agree-ment. I agree not to apply for or receive incentives or services for the project 
work or equipment from another utiflty, state, or manufacturer program. 

Limitation of PG&E Liability 
Neither PG&E nor any of its employees make any warranty, express or implied, nor assume any legal 15clbility or responsiiility for the accuracy. 
completeness, or usefu~ ess of any data, information,, method, product or process disclosed in this document and other Program documents (the •disckised 
items•}, In c1ddition,, PG&E and its employees do not represent that use of the diclosed items wib not infringe any privately-owned rights, including, but not 
limited to, patents, trademarks, or copyrights. 

Parallel Review 
All proposed projects containing calculated fighting measures are subjuect to the CPUC Energy Division's (ED) Parallel Review process. With the pending 
approval of the Lighting Calculator, Smartl.ights Program has receivea approval to pilot a streamlined "'modified review• process, in order to reduce the 
amount of time and resources required by the ED process. utitlZing the process includes inherent risks re lated to changes in savings values and incentive 
values, i1 any case that changes are made to the Lighting calculator and/or my project I agree to allow Smartlights to submit information pertinent to my 
project to the CPUC ED to implement this review. 

Signature of Authorized OJstomer Representative Date 

Joanna Perez-Green 
OUtreach Coordinator 
Community Energy Services Corp. 

(EB/MD) 



 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT –FINAL  Page 52 of 52 

 

Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. A: Draft MCE OBR 2nd Operating Agrmt

Site I Sample Customer Audit Number I 12345 

Ord
customer Work Order and Contracto! !'2!.k_AJl!~!!',!!'!.t _ _____ _ 

CUstomer Work er 

I, the undersigned, on behalf of the business customer identified below, 
acknowledge and agree to the following: 

I hereby authorize the licensed Installation C.Ontractor below to perfonn work as 
recommended in the OJstorner Repo,t and Work Order and to use such labor 
and matelial as deemed advisable. I will be invoiced for the Customer Net c.ost 
of $X,XXX.XX, which is equal to the Total Installed c.ost minus the Instant Rebate. 
Payment is due to the Installation C.Ono·actor immediately upon completion of the 
installation, unless othe,wise ananged with the Installation C.Onoactor. All goods 
remain the prnpertv. of the Installation C.Onoacto,· until paid in full. Invoices aged 
aver 30 days from ilate of invoice will become past due and a monthly service 
charge of 1.5% may be added to any outstanding balance, and may incur legal 
action. 

Warranties 

Per the equipment and installation standards of the Sma1t lights Program, the 
Installation C.Onoacto,· will provide me with the following manufacturer 
wa,ranties: 

• New LED lumina1ies shall be warranted by the manufacture,· fo,· fo,· a period 
not less than S yeais. 
• New LED lamps sh;all be wananted by the manufacturer for a pe,iod not less 
than 3 years. 
• Ballasts for tubular fluorescent lamps shall be wan-anted by the marnufacturer 
fo,- a period of not less than S years. 
• Tubular and compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) shall be warranted by the 
manufacturer for a period of not less than 1 year. 
• New fixtures shall be warranted by the manufacturer for a period of not less 
than 1 year. 
• Exit signs shall be wananted by the manufacturer for a pe,iod of not less than 
10 yeais. 
• Photocells, time clocks, and occupanq senso,s shall be warranted by the 
manufacturer for a period of not less than 3 years. 

In addition, the Installation C.Ontractor will warrant the labor po1tion on all 
installed products for one year after project completion. 

I undelstand that. after the 1-year contiacto,· labor warranty expires and for any 
product that is not cowred by the above, it is my responsibility to contact the 
manufacturer of any failed equipment to take advantage of the manufacturer's 
wa,ranty. 

Change Orders 

Proposed changes adding more than $25 to the original estimate must be 
approved in wnting IDy me befo,·e procee:ling. It is tne responsibility of the 
Installation C.Onoacto,· to identify any discrepancies in fixture quantities and any 
issues affecting retrofit viability prior to or during construction of each space arid 
to notify Smartlights staff in writing of any prO{)Osed changes in scope. It is also 
the responsibility of lhe lnstalle,· to notify me of any proposed 
changes to the scope, and to get my signed a11Prnval on the change orde,· 
provicled to the contiacto,· by Smartlig~ts staff. 

The Srnartlights Customer Work Order is part of this direct agreement with the 
Installation C.Onoacto,·, I agree to sign the forms necessa,y fo,· the Installation 
C.Ontiacto,· to receive the rebate funos when the work is complete. 

I have read, understood, and accept all of the above terms and conditions; I 
authorize the wo,1< to proceed; and I shall be bound by all of the terms and 
conditions as ordered Dy the undersigned and his/her agents. 

Signature of Authorized Business Representative 

_______________ Date ________ _ 

Joanna Perez-Green 
Outreach C-oordinato,· 
C.Ommuni\y Energy Seivices C.Orp. 
1013 Pardee So·eet, Suite 201 
Bell<eley <;A 94710 
joanna@ebenergy.org 

**• CUSTOM ER 00 NOT WRITE I N THIS sox••· 
Contractor W orlc: Agreement 

I, the undersigned, on behalf of the lnstaftation 
Contractor identified below, acknowledge and agree to 
the following: 
The price and specifications of this bid proposal are 
satisfactory and are hereby accepted by the Installation 
Contractor, The cost of the work included in this bid 
proposal is not to exceed $X.XXX.XX unless a customer 
signed and approved change order is received by the 
Smartl.ights Project Manager. I agree to honor the terms 
and conOrtions of the accompanying Customer Wort 
Order, 

All work wil be completed within 3 weeks of the project 
start date shown below or by an agreed upon aftemate 
date provided to SmartLights,. in wri'ting, by me, 

All work wiU be completed pursoant to the SmartLights 
Program Manual and lnstanation Standards. In order for 
the Smartt.ights Program to release the project for 
invoicing, the 111dersigned will provide to the customer 
warranty information for a ll equipment installed, and 
submit to the Program a completed Project Completion 
and Acceptance Certificate, including a complete 
mate.Ritts list. 

• 

• 

Yes, I accept the project, 
to start on: 

No, I do not accept the project -
state reasons below: 

Signature of Contractor Representative: 

Date: 

Print name: ___________ _ 

Company: 

Adiclress: 

City, State, Zip_: ___________ _ 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - {i:WMD) 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

MCE ON•BllL REPAYMENT PROGRAM 

OPERA TING AGREEMENT 

Dated as of July 8, 2013 

• 

{1637126.00CX;}0PlfRA1'1NG AGREEMENT- FINAL Page I of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
RECITALS .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

PROGRAM OVERVIEW .............................................................................................................................. 5 

1.01. Name ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

1. 02. Program Phases ................................................................................................................................ 5 

1.03. Pilot Program Goals ......................................................................................................................... 6 

1.04. Service Description .......................................................................................................................... 6 

1.05. Term of Agreement .......................................................................................................................... 6 

1.06. Representations and Warranties ....................................................................................................... 7 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES .................................................................................. , .......................... 7 

2.01. Marketing and Information Delivery ............................................................................................... 7 

2.01.1 MEA ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.01.2 RCB .................................... ; .................................................................................................. 8 

2.02. Summary of OBR Loan Terms ........................................................................................................ 8 

2.02.1 Basic Terms ............... , ........................................................................................................... 8 

2.02.2 MEA Delivery of Information in connection with Loan Applications .................................. 9 

2.03. Documentation, Changes to Scope of Work & Project Completion .............................................. 10 

2.03.1 RCB approval of Applications .......................................................................................... .. 10 

2.03.2 Changes to Scope ofWork ................................................................................................... 10 

2.03.3 Project Completion ............................................................................................................. . 11 

LOAN FUNDING AND PAYMENT PROCESSING ................................................................................ 11 

3.01. Loan Balances ................................................................................................................................ 11 

3.02. MEA as Billing Agent .................................................................................................................... 11 

3.02.1 Monthly Reports, ................................................................................................................. 12 

3.02.2 Reconciliation of Loan Information .................................................................................... 12 

3.02.3 Loan Correction Notice ....................................................................................................... 12 

3.02.4 Delivery of Payments ........................................................................................................... 13 

3.02.5 Prepayments on OBR Loans ............................................................................................... 13 

CUSTOMER INQUIRIES - DISPUTE RESOLUTION ............................................................................ 13 

4.01. Customer Inquiries ......................................................................................................................... 13 

4.02. Dispute Resolution ......................................................................................................................... 14 

LATE PAYMENTS, SHARING OF PAYMENTS AND LOAN LOSS RESERVE ................................. 14 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page 2 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

5.01. Late Payments ................................................................................................................................ 14 

5.01.1 Timing Issues - Corrected Bills .......................................................................................... 14 

5.01.1 (a) Carve-Out ....................................................................................................................... 14 

5.01.1 (b) Termination of Carve-Out Availability ......................................................................... 14 

-5.02. Payment Default ............................................................................................................................. 15 

5.02.1 Notification to Borrower ..................................................................................................... 15 

5.03. Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments ....................................................................................................... 15 

5.03.1 Method for Determining Pro-Rata Sharing ......................................................................... 15 

5.04. Excess Payments Received During Default ................................................................................... 15 

5.05. Loan Loss Reserve ......................................................................................................................... 16 

5.05.1 Charges to the Loan Loss Reserve Account ............................................................................. 16 

5.05.2 Credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account ..... ......................................................................... 16 

5.05.3 Reporting of Loan Loss Reserve Balance ........................................................................... 16 

S.05.4 Loan Loss Reserve Account-Early Termination of Program ........................................... 16 

5.05.5 Loan Loss Reserve Termination Date .. : .............................................................................. 17 

5.05.6 Interest Earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account.. ............ ................................................... 17 

MISCELLANEOUS .................................................................................................................................... 17 

6.01. Modifications to Program ............................................................................................................... 17 

6.02 Information Security - Delivery of Information ............................................................................ 17 

6.03 Confidentiality .. , ............................................................................................................................. 17 

6.04 Reliance among Parties .................................................................................................................. 18 

6.05 Limitation of Liability .................................................................................................................... 18 

6;06 Communications - Notices ........................................................................ ......... ............................ 19 

6.07 Amendtnents .................................................................................................................................. 19 

6.08 Survival-Representations and Warranties .................................................................................. .. 19 

6.09 No Recourse to Constituent Members ofMEA ............................................................................. 19 

6.10 Entire Agreement ........................................................................................................................... 19 

6.11 Governing Law ............................................................................................................................... 20 

6.12 Waiver ............................................................................................................................................ 20 

6.13 Attorneys' Fees; Prejudginent Interest ........................................................................................... 20 

6.14 Counterparts .................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.15 Severability .................................................................................................................................... 20 

{1 637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT -FINAL Page3 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

6.16. Publicity ......................................................................................................................................... 20 

6.17 Independent Contractors .............................................................................................. .................. 20 

6.18 Assignment. .................................................................................................................................... 21 

6.19 Arbitration ..................................................................................................................................... . 21 

6.20 Insurance ........................................................................................................................................ 22 

EXHIBIT A- CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION ................................................................................... 27 

EXHIBIT B - BORROWER/CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT ................................................................... . 29 

EXIIIBIT C - LOAN IN'FORMATION NOTICE ..................................................................................... . 30 

EXIIIBIT D - OBR LOAN CORRECTION NOTICE .............................................................................. . 31 

EXHIBIT E- NOTICE OF LOAN LOSS RESERVE ADV ANCE ...................................................... : .... 32 

EXHIBIT F - FORM OF LATE PAYMENT NOTIFICATION ................................................................ 33 

EXHIBIT G - SCHEDULE OF MEA SERVICE PROVIDERS ............................................................... 37 

EXHIBIT H - CUSTOMER DISCLOSURE AND CERTIFICATION ..................................................... 38 

EXHIBIT I: MULTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM STATEMENT OF COMPLETION 
..................................................................................................................... ................................................ 40 

EXHIBIT J: SMARTLIGHTS CHECK LIST-POST INSTALL SITE INSPECTION ............................. .43 

EXHIBIT K: OWNER PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT ........................................................................ 45 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page4 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

MCE ON-BILL REPAYMENT PROGRAM 

OPERATING AGREEMENT 

This Operating Agreement for the MCE On-Bill Repayment Program ("Agreement") is 
hereby made and entered into as of July 8, 2013, between Marin Energy Authority, as Program 
Developer ("MEA"), and River City Bank, a California corporation ("RCB"). MEA and RCB 
shall together hereinafter be referred to individually as a "Party" and collectively as "Parties". 
Other capitalized tenns used without definition at first use shall have the meanings set forth for 
them in Article VII, Definitions, below. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, MEA has developed a program to provide resources and loans for 
enhancing the energy efficiency of existing buildings (the "Program") in an effort to increase the 
adoption of energy efficiency measures by commercial property owners and multi-family 
property owners within its jurisdiction; 

WHEREAS, MEA has sought the assistance of RCB in developing the Program to 
explore on-bill repayment as a way to facilitate long-tenn financing for investments in energy 
efficiency to building owners; 

WHEREAS, RCB will serve as the lender for qualifying Borrowers; 

WHEREAS; the Parties now desire to enter into this Agreement to (i) establish the terms 
of a Pilot Program to test the business assumptions associated with the Program, (ii) identify the 
roles and responsibilities of each Party during the Availability Period; (iii) set forth the 
respective rights and obligations of the Parties in managing the Program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals, of mutual promises of 
the Parties hereto and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which hereby are acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree to the Program pursuant to the tenns 
and conditions set forth in this Agreement, which reads in its entirety as follows: 

ARTICLE I. 

PROGRAM OVERVIEW 

1.01. Name. 

The name of the Program is the MCE On-Bill Repayment Program. 

1.02. Program Phases. 

The Program shall be delivered in two phases: 

(a) The Pilot Program. The Pilot Program will be available either during the first six 
(6) months of the Availability Period or until $500,000 in loans have been originated through this 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL PageSofSO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

program, whichever comes first. The purpose of the Pilot Program is to permit the Parties to test 
and evaluate the assumptions, procedures and processes related to (i) the operational and 
technical aspects of the Program, (ii) the roles and responsibilities of each Party, (iii) the 
effectiveness of the marketing and web-based information, and (iv) revisions by the Parties to 
documents, processes, procedures and assumptions prior to Full Implementation. 

(b) Full Implementation. No later than two (2) weeks prior to the end of the Pilot 
Program, the Parties will determine whether or not to continue the Program to Full 
Implementation. To the extent there is mutual agreement, Full Implementation will begin and 
continue through the Termination Date. If there is not mutual agreement, this Agreement shall 
terminate except as to OBR Loans already made. 

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Parties agree to offer the 
Program during the Availability Period. 

1.03. Pilot Program Goals. 

(a) During the Pilot Program, the Parties will endeavor to: 

(i) test the established processes and procedures using funded loans; 

(ii) evaluate the effectiveness and viability of the Program; 

(iii) test repayment of energy efficiency loans via the utility bill as a method for 
reducing potential financial barriers to Borrowers; 

(iv) evaluate whether the Program is the optimal and most cost-effective vehicle for 
stimulating the adoption of energy efficiency measures; 

(v) refine process and procedures as agreed; and 

(vi) determine if the Program should continue to Full Implementation. 

1.04. Service Description. 

Operational elements offered under the Program include the following functions: (i) marketing 
the Program to prospective Borrowers, (ii) loan underwriting, analysis and approval, (iii) loan 
set-up for qualifying Borrowers, (iv) monthly billing of the OBR Loan, (v) report generation and 
review, (vi) account maintenance and reconciliation functions, (vii) customer inquiry and 
problem resolution, (viii) payment processing, (ix) payment remittance to RCB, (x) loan 
removal, (xi) delinquency management, (xii) ongoing training and re:f:jnements to the Program, 
and (xiii) debits from and credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account. 

1.05. Term of Agreement. 

This Agreement talces effect upon the signature of the Parties and shall remain in effect until the 
first of the following occurs: (a) final repayment in full of all OBR Loans issued in connection 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page6of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

with the Program, (b) the mutual agreement of the Parties to terminate this Agreement and (3) 
tennination pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

1.06. Representations and Warranties 

MEA represents and warrants to RCB as follows: 

(a) Neither the execution of this Agreement nor compliance with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement on the part ofMEA shall breach any statute or regulation of any 
governmental authority or result in any breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, 
or constitute a default under, any agreement or other instrwnent to which MEA is a party or by 
which it is bound. 

(b) The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated hereunder have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary actions and 
proceedings to be taken by MEA. 

ARTICLE II. 

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.01. Marketing and Information Delivery 

2.01.1 MEA 

( a) MEA will identify potential applicants, oversee the installation of appropriate energy 
efficiency improvements, certify satisfactory completion of the energy project, and be 
responsible for maintaining compliance with any and all rules and regulatory requirements that 
are applicable to it. 

(b) Except as provided herein, MEA will not act as a representative or agent of RCB and 
will ensure that public information does not contain any representations or warranties of RCB in 
connection with the application, underwriting or approval processes associated with the Loans 
without the prior express written consent of RCB. 

( c) Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, MEA, within authority granted to it 
by the CPUC, shall have full, complete and exclusive discretion to manage and control the 
delivery of Program information to the public. 

(d) MEA will define the business and information technology requirements, processes, 
procedures and reports necessary to implement the services described in this Agreement to RCB. 

(e) Subject to Section 6.03, Confidentiality, MEA will treat all information received from 
RCB as highly confidential and will ensure that all financial information received by it either 
directly through RCB, or indirectly through a Borrower or Service Provider, is maintained with 
the standard of care generally afforded to sensitive information. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page7of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

(f) MEA will comply with any and all regulatory requirements for information and will 
respond to any discovery requests issued in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

2.01.2 RCB 

RCB will (i) provide MEA with an approved form of Application for distribution to Borrowers 
interested in financing options and other information intended for public distribution and (ii) 
notify MEA of any material regulatory or policy change that may have an impact on the 
Program. 

2.02. Summary of OBR Loan Terms 

2.02.1 Basic Terms 

Unless otherwise agreed by RCB, OBR Loans shall be subject to the following terms and 
conditions: 

(a) During the Pilot Program, the total combined Commercial Property Loan 
Commitment and the Multi-Family Loan Commitment shall not exceed $500,000.00. During 
Full Implementation, the maximum amount of RCB funded OBR Loans will not exceed the 
Commercial Property Loan Commitment and the Multi-Family Loan Commitment, inclusive of 
OBR Loans funded during the Pilot Program. 

(b) OBR Loans will be no less than $10,000.00 per Borrower and no more than 
$265,000.00 per Borrower; larger loans will be -considered on a case by case basis by RCB. In 
each case, the OBR Loan amount will not be greater than the "Estimated Contractor Cost LESS 
the Rebate" as provided in the Energy Audit. 

(c) The Total Loan Commitment is a non-revolving line of credit offered for the Program 
during the Availability Period in connection with the funding of OBR Loans; any OBR Loans· 
repaid will not restore availability to, or increase, the Total Loan Commitment. 

( d) Any part of the Total Loan Commitment not utilized after the Availability Period will 
be cancelled and no longer available for OBR Loans. 

(e) RCB, in its sole and absolute discretion, will approve Applicants for OBR Loans 
based on underwriting criteria established by RCB. RCB will notify all Applicants whether or 
not the Application was approved or declined. 

(f) OBR Loans will be disbursed by RCB to each Borrower in a single advance 
following evidence satisfactory to RCB that all conditions precedent to funding and project 
completion have occurred in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Loan Documents, 
the Energy Audit, Scope of Work and Final Inspection Report. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page 8 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

(g) The Loan Documents will require each OBR Loan to be repaid in equal monthly 
payments of principal and interest amortized over a period between five (5) to ten (10) years as 
determined by RCB. 

(h) Subject to Section 6.01 and provided no defa.uit has occurred, the interest rate on 
OBR Loans will be fixed at a rate of five percent (5%) for the life of each OBR Loan. The OBR 
Loan will accrue interest daily and be calculated on a basis of actual days lapsed/360 days. 

(i) Collateral held by RCB for each OBR Loan will include a UCC specific fil0:1g on the 
improvements and a fixture filing recorded with the respective county where the property is 
located. 

(j) The OBR Loans shall be subject to defaults typically enforced by RCB in similar 
loans. In addition, Program specific defaults will include; 1) Due on Sale, the OBR Loan will be 
due and payable in full if the Borrower sells the property on which the improvements were made, 
2) the Borrower is no longer an MCE customer, and 3) the Borrower fails to pay Energy 
Amounts in full, resulting in partial payments such that RCB deems the balance of the OBR 
Loan uncollectible. 

(k) MBA shall establish a Loan Loss Reserve Account with RCB as provided in Section 
5.05 

(1) RCB will charge a non-refundable documentation fee equal to $250 for each OBR 
Loan, payable by each Borrower at the time of execution of the Loan Documents. 

(m) With prior approval by MBA, which approval shall not unreasonably be withheld, 
MEA will pay all RCB's reasonable out-of-pocket expenses including, but not limited to, legal 
fees and any expenses incurred by RCB as part of providing financing to MEA' s customers 
under the OBR Program. RCB will notify MBA in advance regarding proposed scope of work 
and projected ranges of such expenses. 

(n) RCB shall provide all disclosures to Borrowers in accordance with applicable law. 

2.02.2 MBA Delivery of Information in connection with Loan Applications 

In connection with an Application for a Loan, MBA will deliver to RCB: 

(a) An Energy Audit; 

(b) Scope of Work and Owner Agreement Form (substantially in the form of Exhibit K 
for Multi-Family Loans or Exhibit L for Small Commercial) Property Loans; 

MEA acknowledges and agrees that RCB will rely on the accuracy and content of the 
information provided on the Energy Audit and Scope of Work, including Rebate Amount for 
purposes of underwriting and loan approval. 

RCB acknowledges that MEA will not provide a guarantee of the projected energy savings as 
may be reflected in the Energy Audit. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page9of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

2.03. Documentation, Changes to Scope of Work & Project Completion 

2.03.1 RCB approval of Applications 

RCB retains the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to determine whether or not to approve 
an Application for an OBR Loan. 

Following approval by RCB of an Application, RCB will (i) prepare Loan Documents in 
accordance with its standard practices and procedures, (ii) obtain Applicant's signature on Loan 
Documents, and (iii) notify MEA that an OBR Loan has been approved and provide MEA with 
the Borrower information required pursuant to Section 3.02 . . 
MEA will (i) register Borrower information on MEA Systems and (ii) notify Project Consultants 
and Service Providers of the OBR Loan. 

2.03.2 Changes to Scope of Work 

The Parties agree that OBR Loans are provided for the sole and exclusive purpose of financing 
the energy efficiency measures defined in the Energy Audit and Scope of Work. Any additional 
or unforeseen costs and expenses arising during the course of construction are not subject to the 
OBR Loan or RCB's commitment to fund the OBR Loan. 

(a) Under the terms of the Loan Documents, each Borrower will be required to 
immediately notify RCB of any condition relating to the Energy Project that will result in either 
an increase or a decrease to the amount stated in the Scope of Work and Energy Audit. Failure 
by a Borrower to promptly notify RCB may result in a cancellation of RCB's obligations under 
the Loan Documents and the OBR Loan. 

(b) RCB will require written confirmation of the change in the Scope of Work and the 
Energy Audit by the Project Consultant and MEA. 

(c) To the extent the Scope of Work is decreased, RCB will reduce the OBR Loan 
downward to conform to the changes provided in the change order or other documentation, but 
only to the extent that RCB approves of the confirmations as provided in paragraph (b) above 
from the Project Consultant and MEA. 

(d) If there is an increase in the projected cost of the Energy Audit or Scope of Work, the 
Loan Documents will require that the Borrower either: 

(i) Pay for such increased cost from Borrower's own resources, with confirmation 
of such amounts paid prior to any funding of the OBR Loan; 

(ii) · Gancel the OBR Loan with RCB until such time as the conditions resulting in 
the increase are resolved such that the original Scope of Work can be reinstated; or 

(iii) Apply for a separate loan with RCB to finance the cost of the unforeseen: 
condition resulting in the increase. To the extent a separate loan is granted for any purpose other 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL 
f 

Page 10 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

than that contemplated herein, it shall not be deemed an OBR Loan and shall not be subject to 
the tenns and conditions of this Agreement. 

2.03.3 Project Completion 

(a) MEA and the Project Consultant shall notify RCB of Project Completion by 
submitting of the Certificate of Completion form attached as Exhibit A in addition to the 
statement of completion or post-install required by MEA. The Certificate of Completion shall be 
accompanied by a copy of (i) the Energy Audit, (ii) an executed Unconditional Waiver and 
Release signed by the Contractor, (iii) evidence that payment of the Rebate Amount has been 
authorized to Contractor, if relevant, and (iv) the "Installation Verification and Rebate Approval" 
memo provided with the Certificate of Completion. 

ARTICLE III. 

LOAN FUNDING AND PAYMENT PROCESSING 

3.01. Loan Balances 

The books and records ofRCB will serve as the agreed upon contractual outstanding OBR Loan 
balance, payments due, and payment history of each Borrower. On or before the initial OBR 
Loan funding, RCB will deliver a Loan Information Notice to MEA substantially in the form of 
Exhibit C for all new OBR Loans. 

Following the initial funding: 

(a) RCB wUI be responsible for notifying MEA of delinquent OBR Loan information; 

(b) RCB will review reports and information provided by MEA and provide corrections 
on OBR Loan information in a timely manner substantially in the form of Exhibit D; 

(c) RCB will treat all information received from MBA as highly confidential and all 
information received by RCB, whether directly or indirectly through a Service Provider will be 
controlled and maintained with the standard of care generally afforded to sensitive information 
and as provided in the MEANon-Disclosure Agreement and CPUC Decision 12-08-045. 

(d) RCB will be responsible for complying with any and all regulatory requirements of 
public content including Office of Foreign Asset Control and will respond to any discovery 
. requests issued by or under the authority of a governmental agency or court regarding any 
Borrower or OBR Loan issued under the Program. 

3.02. MEA as Billing Agent 

MEA shall serve as the "Billing Agent" for RCB and provide the following services outlined in 
Section 1.04 which include (a) monthly billing of the OBR Loan Payments due, (b) report 
generation and review, (c) POE and MEA billing account maintenance and reconciliation 
functions, ( d) customer inquiry and problem resolution for questions regarding th~ energy 
portion of the bill, (e) payment processing, and (f) payment remittance to RCB. In addition, 

{ 1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page 11 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

• 

MEA will (1) communicate to RCB any issues that will impede timely or accurate remittance of 
payments and (2) authorize transfers from the Loan Loss Reserve for the portion of those OBR 
Loans deemed uncollectable by RCB in accordance with Section 5.05. 

(a) MEA shall ensure that the amounts due and payable to RCB under any OBR Loan to 
a Borrower shall be clearly and accurately reflected on the monthly PGE Billing Statement 
submitted to the Borrower. 

(b) The OBR Loan payment will be billed in conjunction with the Borrower's standard 
PGE Billing Statement. 

(c) MEA will comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 

3.02.1 Monthly Reports 

( a) On or before the 15th business day of each month, MEA will provide to RCB a 
"Scheduled Payments Report" detailing scheduled payments due for the next month, including 
delinquent and partial payments due, and the outstanding balance remaining on each OBR Loan. 

(b) On or before the last business day of each month, MEA will provide to RCB a 
"Delinquent Payment Report" detailing payments that were due and not received in the prior 
month. 

( c) On or before the last business day of each month, MEA will provide to RCB a 
"Partial Payment Report" report detailing payments that were due and not received in full in the 
prior month. 

3.02.2 Reconciliation of Loan Information 

(a) MEA and RCB will use all reasonable efforts to ensure the accuracy of the 
information transmitted to and between each Party. RCB will reconcile the OBR Loan data 
contained on its systems and records against that of the Scheduled Payment Report on or before 
the 25

th 
day of each month. RCB will notify MEA of any discrepancies or corrections. · 

(b) MEA will not make corrections or adjustments to OBR Loan information submitted 
by RCB unless so authorized under this Article III. 

3.02.3 Loan Correction Notice 

(a) No later than five (5) business days following receipt of reports as provided in 
Section 3 .02.1, RCB will reconcile the amounts due, delinquent, or partially paid against its 
records. To the extent there is a discrepancy between the information provided in the report and 
that contained on the records ofRCB, RCB shall complete and submit an ••oBR Loan Correction 
Notice" substantially in the fonn of Exhibit D attached hereto. 

(b) MEA Will make good faith efforts to correct the information such that then current 
energy PGE Billing Statement reflects the correct amounts due from the Borrower as reflected by 
RCB's records. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page 12 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

3.02.4 Delivery of Payments 

(a) Payments of amounts due under the OBR Loans shall be made on each Friday, or if 
Friday is not a business day, on the next following business day (the "Payment Date"). 

(b) The payment shall be an aggregate of all payments received by MEA for the prior 
week as reconciled in accordance with Section 3.02.2. 

( c) Payments shall be disbursed by MEA to an account designated by RCB. 

3.02.5 Prepayments on OBR Loans 

Borrowers shall be permitted to prepay OBR Loans provided that no default has occurred 
resulting in a Defaulted OBR Payment and provided further that there is no Pro-Rata Sharing of 
Payments. All prepayments made under an OBR Loan must be sent directly to RCB and not 
submitted through the Energy Bill. RCB shall notify MEA if a payment is made directly to 
RCB, outside of the PGE Billing Statement, to confirm that the payment is not subject to Pro
Rata Sharing of Payments. RCB shall (a) apply the payment to the OBR Loan only if Pro-Rata 
Sharing of Payments is not in effect or (b) remit the excess payment to MEA for allocation if 
Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments is in effect. 

ARTICLE IV 

CUSTOMER INQUIRIES - DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

4.01. Customer Inquiries 

(a) MEA shall cause each PGE Billing Statement to contain the amounts due and payable 
for the OBR Loan as a clear and distinct line item. 

(b) MEA shall cause each PGE Billing Statement to contain the contact information for 
problem resolution or questions regarding the OBR Loan portion of the PGE Billing Statement 
including a phone number for RCB. 

( c) MEA shall refer all OBR Loan questions from Borrowers to RCB for problem 
resolution . 

. (d) MEA will provide MEA Service Providers with scripts, pre-approved by RCB, to 
provide clear guidance on OBR Loan inquiries. 

(e) RCB shall refer all questions regarding the Energy Amount to MEA for problem 
resolution. 

(f) During the Pilot Program, MEA and RCB will meet no less than monthly to discuss 
and resolve any customer inquiries and disputes. 

(g) To the extent there is any discrepancy between the OBR Loan Payment due according 
to RCB records and the amount due according to MEA records, RCB records will prevail. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page 13 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

4.02. Dispute Resolution 

The Parties agree to collaborate to resolve customer disputes that may arise from the timing of 
application of payments, either OBR Loan payments or energy related payments. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, MEA shall be able to utilize the Carve-Out portion of the Loan 
Loss Reserve Accowit in accordance with Section 5.01 to temporarily stabilize interim billing 
adjustments. 

To the extent the customer dispute results in a non-payment of an OBR Loan, actual delinquency 
or partial payment, upon receipt, such payment will be processed in accordance with Section 
5.02. 

ARTICLEV 

LATE PAYMENTS, SHARING OF PAYMENTS AND LOAN LOSS RESERVE 

5.01. Late Payments 

5.01 .1 Timing Issues - Corrected Bills 

On occasion, PGE will require corrections or adjustments to PGE Billing Statements ("Corrected 
Bills") that are outside of the control ofMEA or RCB. Corrected Bills may result in (i) timing 
gaps between the due dates for an OBR Loan Payment or (ii) duplicated or omitted OBR 
Payments for the month subject to correction ( each an "Administrative Error"). Administrative 
Errors are temporary in nature and are generally corrected on the following PGE Billing 
Statement. Any delayed, past-due or omitted payment that is not temporary in nature or subject 
to correction in the following PGE Billing Statement does not constitute an Administrative Error 
and is not subject to the authorities granted in this Section. 

As provided herein, MEA shall have the authority to correct or adjust Administrative Errors in an 
amowit not to exceed $200.00 per Administrative Error in accordance with the Carve-Out 
provision. 

5.01.1 (a) Carve-Out 

MEA shall utilize the Carve-Out portion to adjust timing issues associated with Administrative 
Errors. MEA acknowledges and agrees that any funds debited from the Carve-Out must be 
restored in full within sixty (60) days after such debit. MEA will record and track the debits and 
credits to the Carve-Out with such information made available to RCB upon request. 

5.01.1 (b) Termination of Carve-Out Availability 

The Carve-Out is available for Administrative Errors only to the extent that funds allocated to 
the Carve-Out do not impede RCB' s availability to use the Carve-Out pursuant to a defaulted 
OBR Loan as contemplated by the Loan Loss Reserve. To the extent Carve-Out funds will be 
needed by RCB, RCB shall provide a thirty (30) day notice to MEA of the termination of the 
Carve-Out. MEA shall have a period of thirty (30) days following such notice to restore the 
Carve-Out to S5,000.00. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page 14 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

5.02. Payment Default 

MEA shall notify RCB of Defaulted OBR Payments on a monthly basis on or before the 15th day 
of the following month. RCB shall notify MEA of any OBR Loan Payment that is delinquent 
fifteen (15) days or more that is not reflected on the reports and information provided by MEA. 

5.02.1 Notification to Borrower 

MEA, upon notice from RCB, will provide a Late Payment Notification substantially in the form 
of Exhibit F to the applicable Borrower. 

5.02.2 Late Fees imposed by RCB 

To the extent a Borrower defaults under an OBR Loan, RCB shall have the right to (i) impose a 
late charge equal to the greater of 5.00% of the regularly scheduled payment or $10.00 for 
payments past due in excess of 15 days, and (ii) increase the interest rate by 5.00%. 

5.03. · Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments 

It is agreed that all Defaulted OBR Payments shall be subject to Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments as 
provided herein. Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments shall be in effect the earlier of (i) failure by a 
Borrower to pay a PGE Billing Statement in full ( outside of an Administrative Error), (ii) upon 
notice from RCB that an OBR Loan Payment is delinquent fifteen (15) days or more, and (iii) 
upon notice from MEA to RCB that the PGE Billing Statement has not been paid in full ( outside 
of an Administrative Error). 

5.03.1 Method for Determining Pro-Rata Sharing 

Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments will be determined by taking the total amount of MCE charges 
(inclusive of RCB charges) due on any single PGE Billing Statement and dividing the total 
amount by (i) the total amount of outstanding OBR Loan Payments reflected therein due and 
payable to RCB to determine the "RCB Pro-Rata Percentage" and (ii) the total amount of all 
Energy Amounts reflected therein due and payable to MCE to determine the "MCE Pro-Rata 
Percentage". In no event will the sum of the RCB Pro-Rata Percentage and the MCE Pro-Rata 
Percentage exceed 100% (together the "Pro-Rata Percentages"). The respective percentages will 
be expressed to four decimal places. It is hereby acknowledged that the Pro-Rata Percentages 
may change on a month to month basis depending on variables such as energy use or increased 
amounts due to penalty rates or late charges. All payments applied to Defaulted OBR Payments 
shall be done in accordance with the Pro-Rata Percentages. 

5.04. Excess Payments Received During Default 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 3.02.04, neither Party will accept 
or apply payments to new OBR Loan payments or Energy Amounts when a Defaulted OBR 
Payment exists. All payments received will be submitted to MEA to be paid in accordance with 
the Pro-Rata Percentages until such time as the OBR Loan and Energy Amount are either (i) 
restored to current payment status as mutually agreed between the Parties, or (ii) the OBR Loan 
has been repaid in full through the Loan Loss Reserve. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page 15 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

5.05. Loan Loss Reserve 

Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, MEA shall deposit in an account with RCB an 
amount equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the Loan Commitment ($547,500.00), which includes 
the Carve-Out (the "Loan Loss Reserve"). The Loan Loss Reserve Account shall be in the name 
of MEA with debits and credits from and to the Loan Loss Reserve Account restricted as 
provided herein. 

5.05.l Charges to the Loan Loss Reserve Account 

The sole purpose of the Loan Loss Reserve is to provide a source of repayment for OBR Loans 
whereby the Borrower has defaulted.under the terms of the Loan Documents and RCB deems the 
OBR Loan or a portion thereof as uncollectible. RCB in its sole discretion will request advances 
from the Loan Loss Reserve Account in accordance with this Section. 

The amount available from the Loan Loss Reserve Account to RCB for each defaulted OBR 
Loan will include unpaid principal, interest, fees. Any amounts credited back to the Loan Loss 
Reserve Account in accordance with Section 5.05.2 shall be available to RCB for future OBR 
Loans. 

RCB will submit a Notice of Loan Loss Reserve Advance to MEA substantially in the form of 
Exhibit E providing the reason for the advance, a summary of the delinquent amounts and dates, 
a summary of expenses related to the collection efforts and the amount required to satisfy 
repayment of the OBR Loan. 

5.05.2 Credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account 

RCB will continue collection efforts on defaulted OBR Loans in-accordance with its standard 
practices and procedures, regardless of whether or not the defaulted OBR Loan has been repaid 
through an advance from the Loan Loss Reserve Account. In the event RCB recovers or collects 
amounts on a defaulted OBR Loan where the unpaid balances were advanced from the Loan 
Loss Reserve Account, RCB shall deposit such recovered amounts into the Loan Loss Reserve 
Account, less any collection and legal fees necessary to recover the funds. 

5.05.3 Reporting of Loan Loss Reserve Balance 

From and following the first advance from the Loan Loss Reserve Account ( other than Carve
Out charges originated by MEA), RCB shall provide MEA with a monthly summary of 
transaction activity (including advances and recoveries) within the Loan Loss Reserve Account. 

5.05.4 Loan Loss Reserve Account-Early Termination of Program 

Should the Parties mutually agree to terminate the Program at any time prior to the end of the 
Availability Period, the balance of the Loan Loss Reserve shall be reduced to fifteen percent 
(15%) of the outstanding funded OBRLoans and remain in effect until the Loan Loss Reserve 
Termination Date (the "Remaining Loan Loss Reserve"). Amounts in excess of the Remaining 
Loan Loss Reserve shall be remitted to MEA. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page 16 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

5.05.5 Loan Loss Reserve Tennination Date 

The Loan Loss Reserve Account shall remain in effect and available to RCB until the earlier of 
(i) all collection efforts by RCB have ceased and the Loan Loss Reserve is depleted to a $0.00 
balance, and (ii) until all OBR Loans have been repaid in full (the "Loan Loss Reserve 
Termination Date"). The CPUC may request the return of any Loan Loss Reserve Funds that 
have not been committed to an originated loan before January 1, 2015. RCB agrees to cooperate 
with this return of funds and to provide an account statement showing the status of the fund at 
that time. 

5.05.6 Interest Earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account 

The Loan Loss Reserve Account may be interest bearing so long as such interest bearing account 
does not violate any applicable regulations. Interest earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account 
will be for the benefit of MEA for use in accordance with CPUC requirements. 

ARTICLE VI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

6.01. Modifications to Program 

The Parties agree to collaborate on changes that may be required during the Pilot Program or 
during Full Implementation. 

RCB reserves the right to modify the Basic Tenns of OBR Loans as may be necessary or deemed 
appropriate_by RCB, provided however, that ifRCB detennines that the interest rate and 
maximum tenn for the OBR Loans may be subject to change, RCB shall give forty-five ( 45) 
days' notice of such change to enable MEA to provide comment and to modify any Program 
marketing material as appropriate. To the extent MEA does not concur with the proposed 
change in interest rate, MEA reserves the right to terminate the Program with RCB. Such 
termination shall not impact any existing OBR Loans. 

6.02 Information Security- Delivery of Information 

Each Party will take, and include provisions in its contract with its Service Providers to require 
them to take, all reasonable steps to ensure that any information that is delivered pursuant to this 
Agreement is delivered in a safe and secure manner so as to protect that information from 
unauthorized disclosure. 

6.03 Confidentiality 

(a) Each Party agrees that it shall not use or disclose to any third party including MEA 
Service Providers, any information that is confidential or proprietary to the other party including, 
without limitation, such party's business plans and practices, trade secrets, methods, processes or 
procedures or any other confidential information (collectively, the "Confidential Information") 
of the other Party which it learns during the course of its performance of this Agreement other 
than (i) as required by law, regulation, or order of a court or regulatory agency or other authority 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page17of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

having appropriate jurisdiction or (ii) to perform its obligations under this Agreement. The 
Confidential Information may be oral or written or in electronic or tangible form, and all 
information, unless otherwise indicated, shall be deemed to be confidential. Confidential 
Information shall not include any information that can be shown through contemporaneous 
documentation ( a) is or becomes publicly known through no fault on the part of the recipient; (b) 
is, at the time of disclosure, already known to the recipient without obligation restricting 
disclosure; (c) is, or subsequently becomes, rightfully and without breach of this Agreement, in 
the recipient's possession '\\-ithout any obligation restricting disclosure; or (d) is independently 
developed by a recipient without breach of this Agreement or any other agreement, with the 
recipient bearing the burden of proving such independent development. Any employee to whom 
the recipient of Confidential Information gives access to any such Confidential Information must 
have a legitimate ''need to know" such Confidential Information and shall be bound in writing to 
maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information under terms and conditions no less 
stringent than those set forth in this Agreement. Neither Party shall reverse engineer any such 
Confidential Information of the other Party or, unless expressly permitted in this Agreement, 
copy the same. Upon termination of this Agreement, each Party shall return all Confidential 
Information in its possession (including all copies thereof) of the other Party within fifteen (15) 
days of such termination. 

(b) Each Party recognizes and acknowledges that the non-disclosing Party would suffer 
irreparable injury from the unauthorized use or disclosure of any of its Confidential Information 
and each Party agrees and acknowledges that the non-disclosing Party shall have the right to 
obtain injunctive or other equitable relief against the unauthorized use, disclosure or transfer of 
any of the Confidential Information, as well as the right to pursue all of its other remedies in 
equity and at law. This Section 6.03 shall survive the tennination of this Agreement. 

(c) MBA will cause each ofits Service Providers to sign nondisclosure agreements 
pursuant to which each Service Provider will agree to not use or disclose the financial 
information of a Borrower. · 

( d) Each Party agrees to notify the other Party within ten (10) business days of any 
confirmed security breach incident involving the disclosure of confidential, non-public personal 
customer information to an unauthorized Party, whether the security breach occurred at MBA, 
RCB, or at one of each Party's Service Providers. 

6.04 Reliance among Parties 

All information MEA provides to RCB hereunder (including that of MBA Service Providers but 
excluding confidential information provided within RCB loan applications) other than actual 
energy savings versus projected energy savings estimated on the Energy Evaluations shall be 
true, complete and accurate to the best of MEA's knowledge, so that RCB may rely upon its.· 
accuracy. MEA shall immediately notify RCB in writing of any change in the accuracy of any 
information MEA has previously provided to RCB. 

6.05 Limitation of Liability 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page 18 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT. NO PARTY WILL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY (NOR TO ANY 
PERSON CLAIMING RIGHTS DERIVED FROM THE OTHER PARTY'S RIGHTS) FOR 
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY 
DAMAGES OF ANY KIND - INCLUDING LOST REVENUES OR PROFITS, LOSS OF 
BUSINESS OR LOSS OF DATA-ARISING OUT OFOR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS 
AGREEMENT OR THE SERVICES PROVIDED HEREUNDER (INCLUDING WITHOUT 
LIMITATION AS A RESULT OF ANY BREACH OF ANY WARRANTY OR OTHER TERM 
OF THIS AGREEMENT), REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE PARTY LIABLE OR. 
ALLEGEDLY LIABLE WAS ADVISED, HAD OTHER REASON TO KNOW, OR IN FACT 
KNEW OF THE POSSIBLITY THEREOF. 

6.06 Communications - Notices 

Any notice under this Agreement shall be in writing, and any written notice or other document 
shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) on the date of personal service on the Parties, (ii) on 
the third business day after mailing, if the document is mailed by registered or certified mail, (iii) 
one day after being sent by professional or overnight courier or messenger service guaranteeing 
one-day delivery, with receipt confirmed by the courier, or (iv) on the date of transmission if sent 
by telegram, telex,·telecopy or other means of electronic transmission resulting in written copies, 
with receipt confirmed. Any such notice shall be delivered or addressed to the Parties at the 
addresses set forth below or at the most recent address specified by the addressee through written 
notice under this provision. Failure to give notice in accordance with any of the foregoing 
methods shall not defeat the effectiveness of notice actually received by the addressee. 

6.07 Amendments 

The provisions of this Agreement may be modified at any time by a written agreement signed by 
all of the Parties. 

6.08 Survival -Representations and Warranties 

Each representation and warranty contained herein or made pursuant hereto shall be deemed to 
be material and to have been relied upon, and shall survive the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement, any investigation at any time made by or on behalf of any Party hereto, and the 
closing of the transaction. 

6.09 No Recourse to Constituent Members of MEA 

MEA is organized as a Joint Powers Authority in accordance with the Joint Exercise of Powers 
Act of the State of California (Government Code Section 6500, et seq.) pursuant to a Joint 
Powers Agreement and is a public entity separate from its constituent members. MBA shall 
solely be responsible for all debts, obligations and liabilities accruing and arising out of this 
Agreement. RCB shall have no rights and shall not make any claims, take any actions or assert 
any remedies against any ofMEA's constituent members in connection with this Agreement. 

6.10 Entire Agreement 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page 19 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

This document, including its exhibits, constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties, all 
oral agreements being merged herein, and supersedes all prior representations.· There are no 
representations, agreements, arrangements, or understandings, oral or written, between or among 
the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement that are not fully expressed herein. 

6.11 Governing Law 

The rights and obligations of the Parties and the interpretation and performance of this 
Agreement shall be governed by the law of California, excluding its conflict of laws and rules. 

6.12 Waiver 

Any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement may be waived at any time by the Party 
entitled to the benefit thereof, but no such waiver shall affect or impair the right of the waiving 
Party to require observance, performance or satisfaction either of that term or condition as it 
applies on a subsequent occasion or of any other term or condition. 

6.13 Attorneys' Fees; Prejudgment Interest 

If the services of an attorney are required by any Party to secure the performance of this 
Agreement or otherwise upon the breach or default of another Party to this Agreement, or if any 
judicial remedy or arbitration is necessary to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement 
or the rights and duties of any person in relation thereto, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to 
reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and other expenses, in addition to any other relief to which such 
Party may be entitled. Any award of damages following judicial remedy or arbitration as a result 
of the breach of this Agreement or any of its provisions shall include an award of prejudgment 
interest from the date of the breach at the maximum amount ofinterest allowed by law. 

6.14 Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if the 
Parties had all signed the same document. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall 
constitute one Agreement. 

6.15 Severability 

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision shall continue in full force and effect and shall in no way be impaired or invalidated. 

6.16. Publicity 

Neither Party shall issue or cause to be issued any press release, public announcement or other 
public statement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement without the prior written 
consent of the other Party as to the form, content, and timing of such release. 

6.1 7 Independent Contractors 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FIKAL Page20of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

The Parties shall be considered independent contractors with respect to each other. Tiris 
Agreement does not authorize either Party to act on behalf of or as the agent of the other Party, 
and does not create a partnership, joint venture or similar relationship between the Parties, and 
neither Party shall have the power to obligate or bind the other Party in any manner whatsoever. 

6.18 Assignment 

No Party may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, voluntarily or by operation oflaw, 
without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not unreasonably be 
withheld. 

6.19 Arbitration 

The Parties agree that any and all disputes arising out of the terms of this Agreement, their 
interpretation, and any of the matters herein discussed, shall be subject to binding arbitration in 
Sacramento County before the American Arbitration Association under its Commercial 
Arbitration Rules. The Parties agree that the prevailing Party in any arbitration shall be entitled 
to injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the arbitration award. The 
Parties agree that the prevailing Party in any arbitration shall be awarded its reasonable 
attorneys' fees and costs. The Parties hereby agree to waive their right to have any dispute 
between them resolved in a court oflaw by a judge or jury. The Parties specifically agree that 
the provisions of Section 1283.05 of the Code of Civil Procedure of the State of California are 
incorporated into, made a part of, and made applicable to any arbitration pursuant to this Section 
6.19. The arbitration shall be conducted by a single arbitrator. The arbitration also will be 
subject to the following agreed terms: 

6.19.1 After written notice of a potential claim by a Party, each Party will have thirty 
(30) days to submit the names of one or more proposed arbitrators; 

6.19 .2 The Parties will then have ten (10) days to agree upon the arbitrator based upon 
the names proposed. 

6.19.3 If the Parties cannot agree upon the arbitrator, either Party will have fifteen (15) 
days to file a motion or petition with a Superior Court in the State of California, in and for the 
County of Sacramento for the sole purpose of having the court designate the arbitrator. 

6.19.4 To the extent applicable in civil actions in California courts, the following shall 
apply and be observed: all rules of pleading (including the right of demurrer), all rules of 
evidence, all rights to resolution of the dispute by means of motions for summary judgment, 
judgment on the pleadings, and judgment under Code of Civil Procedure Section 631. 

6.19.5 Resolution of the dispute shall be based solely upon the evidence and the law 
governing the claims and defenses pleaded, and the· arbitrator may not invoke any basis other 
than such controlling law, including but not limited to, notions of "just cause." 

6.19 .6 The arbitrator shall not award punitive damages. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERA TING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page21 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

6.20 Insurance 

During the term of this Agreement, each Party shall maintain in full force and effect such 
insurance as is maintained by other entities engaged in similar businesses in the same general 
geographic area as the applicable Party, including comparable coverage amounts and 
deductibles. 

{ 1637126.DOCX; }OPERA TING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page 22 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

ARTICLE VII. 

DEFINITIONS 

Applicant. Any Borrower who submits an Application for an OBR Loan with RCB pursuant to 
the Program. 

Application. A loan request form prepared by RCB available to Borrowers to apply for 
financing of the energy efficiency measures set forth in the Energy Audit. 

Availability Period. The earlier of a) the date which is two years from the funding date of the 
first OBR Loan made under the Program orb) December 31, 2014. 

Borrower. Any Applicant who is approved by RCB in its sole discretion for an OBR Loan 
pursuant to the Program. 

Carve-Out. A portion of the Loan Loss Reserve not to exceed $5,000.00 for use as provided in 
Section 5.02. 

Commercial Property Loan Commitment. Except as provided during the Pilot Program, an 
amount not to exceed $1,000,000.00 in total OBR Lo.ans funded by RCB for the purpose of 
energy upgrades to commercial real· estate. 

Contractor. A licensed general contractor engaged by Borrower and approved by MBA to 
complete the Scope of Work in accordance with the Energy Audit. 

CPUC. California Public Utilities Commission 

Defaulted OBR Payment. Any payment due pursuant to a PGE Billing Statement that includes 
the OBR Loan Payment, the PGE Energy Amount and the MCE Energy Amount, and which is 
not paid when due unless it is a Corrected Bill as defined in Section 5.01.1. 

Energy Amount. The amount due and payable to PGE by a Borrower for energy related costs 
and expenses, which include fees and charges. 

Energy Audit. A written report prepared by MBA or its subcontractor which includes a 
comprehensive evaluation, proposal and line item summary of energy efficiency measures 
submitted upon the request of an Borrower. The En~gy Audit includes the Rebate Amount and 
is provided to Borrowers to assess potential savings and understand the estimated costs 
associated with such measures. For Multi-Family Commitments, the "Energy Evaluation 
Report" is the Energy Audit; for Commercial Property Commitments, the "Customer Report" is 
the Energy Audit. · 

Energy Project. The project as outlined in the Energy Audit and Scope of Work form executed 
by the Borrower. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page23of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Event of Default. A violation of a payment tenn, covenant or other condition of the Loan 
Documents as defined in section 2.02(1). 

Final Inspection Report. A report completed by MEA, or its designee, confirming completion 
in full of the work required pursuant to the Energy Audit and Scope of Work. For Multi-Family 
Commitments, the "Multi-Family Energy Efficiency Program Statement of Completion" is the 
Final Inspection Report (substantially in the form of Exhibit I); for Commercial Property 
Commitments, the "SmartLights Check List-Post Install Site Inspection" is the Final Inspection 
Report (substantially in the form of Exhibit J). 

Full Implementation. The period from the end of the Pilot Program to the date that is eighteen 
(18) months from the last day of the Pilot Program. 

Late Payment Notification. A notice sent by MEA on behalf of RCB notifying a Borrower of a 
delinquent OBR Loan Payment substantially in the form of Exhibit F. 

Loan Commitment. Except as provided during the Pilot Program, an amount not to exceed 
$3,650,000 in total Commercial Property Loan Commitments and Multi-Family Loan 
Commitments funded by RCB in connection with the Program. 

Loan Documents. Documents prepared by RCB obligating the Borrower to repay indebtedness 
issued in connection with the Program. 

Loan Loss Reserve Account. A deposit account established concurrent with the execution of 
this Agreement in an amount not to exceed equal to fifteen (15%) of the total Loan Commitment 
($547,500.00). 

Loan Loss Reserve Termination Date. The date as defined in Section 5.05.5. 

MEA Systems. Systems of record established by MEA or its Service Provider capturing 
Borrower and OBR Loan information including billing and payment processing. 

MCE. Marin Clean Energy - the energy program provided by MEA. 

MCE Charges: Charges for electricity generation provided to customers of the MCE program. 

Multi-Family Loan Commitment. Except as provided during the Pilot Program, an amount not 
to exceed $2,650,000.00 in total OBR Loans funded by RCB for the purpose of energy upgrades 
to multi-family real estate. 

NES. Noble America's Energy Solutions; a Service Provider ofMEA. 

OBR Loan. A financial accommodation to a Borrower issued by RCB in connection with the 
Program. 

OBR Loan Payment. The scheduled loan payment due and payable to RCB in connection with 
an OBR Loan which includes, principal, interest, fees and charges. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page 24 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

PGE. Pacific Gas & Electric Company. 

PGE Billing Statement. The monthly energy billing statement produced by PGE detailing 
energy usage and costs associated with such usage; the MCE charges for the PGE Billing 
Statement is processed by NES on behalf of MEA. 

Pilot Program. During the Availability Period, the date which is six (6) months from the 
funding date of the first OBR Loan made under the Program. 

Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments. The method for determining the pro-rata allocation of 
payments between the amount due under an OBR Loan and the Energy Amount due from a 
Borrower as provided in Section 5.01.3. 

Project Completion. The date on which all work is completed by the Contractor in accordance 
with the Scope of Work and Energy Audit as certified by MBA and the Project Consultant to 
RCB. 

Project Consultant. A Service Provider of MEA; any consultant engaged by MEA to provide 
services on behalf ofMEA related to the Program including assessment and preparation of the 
Energy Audit, review and inspection of project progress reports, requests for approval to changes 
to Scope of Work, and certification of project completion. 

Rebate Amount .. The amount of the Energy Project which is subject to refund by the CPUC as 
outlined on the Energy Audit. 

Service Provider. Any associated person, company <5r other entity directly or indirectly 
contracted by or related to either party for goods or services offered in connection with the 
delivery and ongoing maintenance of the Program. 

Scope of Work. The work to be done under a contract or agreement prepared and signed by a 
licensed contractor engaged by an Borrower to complete work as proposed in the Energy Audit, 
as reviewed and approved by MEA. For Multi-Family Commitments, the "Borrower 
Participation Agreement" is the Scope of Work (substantially in the form of Exhibit K); for 
Commercial Property Commitments, the "Customer Work Authorization" is the Scope of Work 
(substantially in the form of Exhibit L). 

Termination Date. The date on which all OBR Loans are repaid in full or terminated to the 
satisfaction of RCB. 

RCB: 

By:Alice Harris 

Its: Vice President 

Address: 2485 Natomas Park Drive 

{ 1637126.DOCX; }OPERA TING AGREEMENT- FINAL 

MEA: 

ARIN ENERGY AUTHORl'{Y 

-~~· 

By: Dawn Weisz 

Its: Executive Officer 

Address: 781 Lincoln Way, Suite 320 

Page25of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Sacramento, CA 95833 
Fax No.: (916) 567-2780 

{ 1637126.DOCX;}OPERA TING AGREEMENT - FINAL 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Fax No.: ~ <t.5<:'(·-SOC\5 

Page 26 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT A- CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

Date of Certificate: 

Borrower Name: 

Property Address: 

Date of Energy Audit: 

Date of Scope of Work: 

Estimated Contractor Cost: 

Final Contractor Cost: 

Rebate Amount: 

Rebate Amount Assigned to Contractor: Yes No 

Were there any changes to the Scope of Work provided by the Contractor: __ Yes No 

If Yes - Explain: 

Dollar cost change: 

Description of change: 

Date of Final Inspection: 

The undersigned Program Manager, Auditor and Marin Energy Authority do hereby certify that 
the above referenced energy project (the "Project") has been completed to the full satisfaction of 
the undersigned a:nd in accordance with the Energy Audit and Scope of Work. There are no 
outstanding obligations incumbent upon the Contractor or Borrower. We attach the following in 
connection with this Certification: 

1) Executed Borrower-Contractor Affidavit (notarized); and 

2) Executed Unconditional Waiver and Release on Progress payment. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page27of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Tiris Certificate is issued to River City Bank in connection with the MCE On-Bill Repayment 
Program with the understanding and knowledge that River City Bank will rely on this 
information in providing loan funds to the above referenced Borrower. 

By:--------------
Program Manager 

By: ---------------
Auditor 

By: ---------------
Marin Energy Authority 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL 

Date: 

Date: -------

Date: -------

Page28 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT B - BORROWER/CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT 

Under penalty of perjury, the undersigned Borrower and General Contractor do hereby swear, 
certify and affirm that: 

1) General Contractor was engaged to perform improvements to property located at: 
__________________ in accordance with a Scope of Work 
dated ____ for a contract amount equal to: $ ___ _ 

2) General Contractor has completed all work as agreed to the full satisfaction of.Borrower. 

3) There is no unfinished work or claims by either Borrower or General Contractor against 
each other. 

4) Borrower has executed an assignment of the Rebate Amount equal to $ ___ to 
General Contractor to satisfy that portion of the Scope of Work. 

5) Borrower will pay to General Contractor the balance due under the Scope of Work 
through loan proceeds, with said proceeds paid directly to General Contractor. 

6) Contractor has executed a Conditional Waiver and Lien Release and Unconditional 
Waiver and Release which shall be effective as of the date of receipt of the loan proceeds. 

7) There are no silent or written agreements, claims or disputes between Borrower and 
General Contractor. 

Attested to this day, the __ of ___ __, 201 

By: 
Borrower (insert full name) 

By: 
General Contractor (insert full name) 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page 29of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT C - LOAN INFORMATION NOTICE 

CONFIDENTIAL 

From: River City Bank 
Loan Servicing Department 

To: Marin Energy Authority 
Noble America's Energy Solutions 

Re: New Borrower Notice 
MCE On-Bill Repayment Program 

Date: 

Please accept this. notice as authorization to add the following information to the On-Bill 
Repayment Program: 

New Borrower 

Change to Existing Borrower 

Borrower Name: 

Reference Number: :XXXXX-1234 

Funding Date: 

Total Payment Due: 

First Payment Date: 

Term: 

Monthly Payment: 

Authorized by: 

{ 1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL 

Date: 

Page30 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXIDBIT D- OBR LOAN CORRECTION NOTICE 

PLEASE NOTE THAT A CORRECTION IS REQUIRED FOR THE FOLLOWING OBR LOAN 
CUSTOMER: 

BORROWER NAME: 

BORROWER REFERENCE NUMBER: 

REPORT DATE: 

THE CORRECTION IS REQUIRED IN THE FOLLOWING FIELD: 

o OUTSTANDING OBR LOAN BALANCE SHOULD BE CHANGED FROM: TO: 

o CURRENT OBR LOAN PAYMENT SHOULD BE CHANGED FROM: TO: 

o DELINQUENT AMOUNT SHOULD BE CHANGED FROM: TO: 

o LATEFEES:_____,.'-------------

OTHER: 

AUfflORIZED BY: 

DATE: ________ _ 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL Page31 ofS0 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT E- NOTICE OF LOAN LOSS RESERVE ADVANCE 

From: River City Bank 

Loan Servicing Department 

To: Marin Energy Authority 

Re: Defaulted OBR Loan 

Date: 

Please be advised that River City Bank will be advancing $ ______ from the Loan Loss 
Reserve Account effective as of _ _ __ (Date) for the following Borrower: 

Borrower N mne: 

Reference Number: XXXXX-1234 

Date Last Payment Received: 

Next Payment Due Date: 

Total Delinquent Payments: S 

Other costs: 

Comment: ( describe collection efforts) 

Authorized by: 

(River City Bank) 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMEXT-FINAL 

Date: 

Page32of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT F-FORM OF LATE PAYMENT NOTIFICATION 

NOTICE OF PAST DUE PAYMENT-IMMEDIATE ACTION REQUIRED 

{ 1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT- FINAL Page33of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

MCE NOTICE OF OVERDUE PAYMENT: IMMEDIATE ACTION REQUIRED 

[INSERT DA~n Weisz 
Executive Officer 

Electric ACCRlfflliti~~- 10 [INSERT SAID#] at [INSERT ADDRESS] 
Vice Chair 
County of Marin 

Our records indicate that your payment for Electric Account Service ID [INSERT SAID#] is 
overdue. 0~9EM6~'Wlso indicate that this account is participating in the On-Bill Repayment 
program offt!~~8f~Mlm partnership with River City Bank. Under the terms of the OBR Loan 
documents,'Afailure ta oay the full amount due as provided on your monthly PG&E Billing lexanara GQ'Ck . . 
Statement ~n m~Al-tJ'M§~rJmquency to both your OBR Loan and your PG&E Bill. If full 
payment has already been made or a payment arrangement has been established, thank you, 
and please 1!~~Mli,,-notice. 

Town of Fairfax 
If, however, your account is still outstanding, we ask that full payment of your PG&E bill be 
made by [IN:!J'Eittkl!>ATE]. Making this payment by [INSERT DATE] will ensure you remain a 
customer oR0'<!1! bw"c!f!Wilf avoid late fees and penalty charges per the terms of your agreement 
with River City Bank. Please see the reverse page for payment options. 

Ken Wachtel 

h City of Mill Vqlle~ .11 • h MCE I h f . . I . • W en you reVlew your our you w1 notice t at on y c arges or generating your e ectnc1ty 
while PG&loehi~§iler the transmission and delivery of your electricity. MCE's charge for 
generation ~ff9~evM!~at PG&E would charge you for generation. There are no duplicate 
charges. You will also notice a line item labeled "On-Bill Repayment Charge." This is your loan 
charge, whicbnis8dUe to River City Bank and collected on your energy bill. Failure to pay this 
charge mayC,,idlftit::brtltfi#ult on your loan. 

Please note~Af's~b only reminder you will receive. Should you fail to make your payment in 
full, your sJRYt'Be

0f~'W.5 MCE will be suspended and your electric generation service will be 
returned to_pGR.F. If vour electric account is returned to PG&E, your loan with River City Bank 

Forcrqf!i~rre 
will be TJ;RR~~fi'P..nsd!Pno default as provided in your loan documents. 

Ray Withy 
Additionall~~yodiallea1Ub.lrned to PG&E's electric generation service, PG&E will prohibit you 
from returning to MCE for one year and will enroll you in their Transitional Bundled Commodity 
Cost (TBCC)li~~~~JJ'hose rates and terms may vary from PG&E's standard bundled 
rates. For inf8'fffialioi'?'a'&aut PG&E's TBCC program, please contact PG&E at 1-866-743-0335. 

781 Lincoln Avenue 
Suite 320 
San Rafael CA 94901 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMfilff - FINAL 

1 (888) 632-3674 

Page34ofS0 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

If you think you are receiving this notice in error, you have questions about your bill, or you are 
experiencing financial hardship and wish to discuss possible payment options, please contact 
MCE Customer Service at 1-888-632-3674, Monday to Friday between 7 A.M. and 7 P.M. For 
questions about your On-Bill Repayment Loan charge only, please contact River City Bank at 
(916) 564-7144. 

PAYING YOUR ELECTRIC BILL 

Payment can be made at any of PG&E's local offices, at pay stations, by mail, by phone, or 

online. 

By Phone: 
To pay by phone using an ATM/debit card with STAR, ACCEL, PULSE or NYCE symbol or by 
electronic check, call 1-866-735-7742 at any time. You will be charged a small convenience fee 
for each transaction. PG&E will determine how payments are applied. 

Online: 
To pay on line, sign up fore-bills at www.pge.com. 

By Mail: 
To pay by mail send payment to: 

PG&E 
750 Lindaro St, STE 160 
San Rafael CA 94901 

In Person: 
To pay in person go to any PG&E local office or pay station. 

Things to remember when paying in person: 
• Credit cards payments may be made over the phone by calling PG&E at 1-866-735-7742 

and are not accepted as a payment method in person. 
• You may pay by cash, check or money order in person. 
• Bring your bill or 11 digit account number with you. 
• Retain the receipt for your records (you will need this if you call PG&E about your 

payment). 
• Payments made by 5:00 P.M. post to your account on the same day. 

Marin Payment Locations: 

PG&E OFFICE AND DROP BOX CHUBIS STORE* 

750 Lindaro Street, Suite 160 801 4th Street, San Rafael, CA 

San Rafael, CA 
SUPERMERCADO Ml TIERRA* MARIN CHECK CASHING* 

Marin Energy Authority 1781 Lincoln Avenue, Suite 320 I San Rafael, CA 94901 I (888) 632-36741 mceCleanEnergy.com 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FIRST DRAFT Page35of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

I 175 Belvedere Street 
I . . 
I . San Rafael, CA 

9 Vivian Way, San Rafael, CA 

· 1 MARIN CHECK CASHING* 

I 638 4th Street, San Rafael, CA 
North Bay Check Cashing* 

926 Grant Avenue, Novato, CA 
*Authorized Neighborhood Payment Centers are stores or other places of business where you 
can pay your PG&E bill. 

l 

Marin Energy Authority J 781 Lincoln Avenue, Suite 320 I San Rafael, CA 94901 I (888) 632-3674 I mceCleanEnergy.com 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERAT~G AGREEMENT-FIRST DRAFT Page36of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT G- SCHEDULE OF MEA SERVICE PROVIDERS 

POE - Pacific Gas and Electric (provide brief description of relationship) 

NES - Noble America's Energy Solutions 

Project Consultants (list and describe roles) 

Association for Energy Affordability: Multi-Family Program Technical Consultants 

Services Provided: Energy Audits, Project Installation Inspection, Technical Assistance 
to Program. 

Marin City Community Development Corporation 

Services Provided: Outreach and Customer Service for Multi-family Properties; Direct 
Installation of Certain Energy Efficiency Measures 

Rising Sun Energy Center: 

Services Provided: Outreach and Customer Service for Multi-family Properties; Direct 
Installation of Certain Energy Efficiency Measures 

Community Energy Services Corporation SmartLights Program: Commercial Program 
Administrator 

Services Provided: Energy Audits, Project Installation Inspection, Technical Assistance 
to Program. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FIRST DRAFT Page37 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT H- SAMPLE CUSTOMER DISCLOSURE AND CERTIFICATION 

(FOR LENDER USE) 

You have applied for a loan with River City Bank to finance certain energy efficiency 
improvements using the MCE On-Bill Loan Program to facilitate the payments of your On-Bill 
Repayment Loan (the "OBR Loan"). 

This On-Bill Repayment Certification and Consent Form will be included in your executed loan 
documents with River City Bank. 

Please read this information carefully as it contains important information regarding the 
OBRLoan. 

NOTICE: 

1) Monthly installment payments to your OBR Loan will be included as a separate line item 
on your monthly MCE Billing Statement; 

2) The OBR Loan installment payment is a separate obligation from your agreement and 
obligations with PG&E and MCE. 

3) Failure to pay your monthly MCE Billing Statement, which includes both the PG&E and 
MCE energy amounts due and the OBR Loan payment due, in full each month can result 
in a short or delinquent payment to your OBR Loan. 

4) If you become delinquent on any portion of an OBR Loan or the energy portion of your 
bill, all future payments will be applied on a pro-rated basis between the OBR Loan 
and the MCE portion of the billing statement. For example, if the MCE energy portion 
of your bill is $50.00 and the OBR Loan payment is $100.00 and you pay only $100.00, 
then $33.00 will be applied to the MCE energy portion and $67.00 will be applied to your 
OBR Loan. This short payment may result in penalty rates and defaults under your OBR 
Loan agreement. 

5) River City Bank may bill you separately for any delinquent or late charges due; these 
amounts are due and payable even if they are not included on the MCE Billing Statement. 

6) If you are not delinquent and choose to repay your OBR Loan in full before the 
anticipated final installment, this payment must be made directly to River City Banlc. 

7) Your OBR Loan will be immediately due in payable in full if any of the following 
conditions occur: 1) You sell the property to which the improvements are made, 2) You 
are no longer an MCE account holder, 3) The information provided in obtaining the OBR 
Loan was fraudulent and/or 4) You default under any term or condition of your OBR 
Loan. 

8) The purpose of the OBR Loan is to fund energy efficient improvements as provided on a 
project summary - energy audit (the "Energy Audit"); you will be required to notify 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATIKG AGREEMENT - FIRST DRAFT Page38of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

River City Bank immediately upon the discovery of any condition during installation or 
construction that would alter or increase the costs provided in the Energy Audit. 

CONSENT 

1) I HA VE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THE INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT; 

2) I HEREBY AUTHORIZE PG&E AND MCE AND ITS AFFILIATES TO SHARE MY 
INFORMATION WITH RIVER CITY BANK 

3) I HEREBY AUTHORIZE RIVER CITY BANK TO SHARE MY INFORMATION 
WITH PG&E, MCE AND ITS AFFILIATES 

4) I UNDERSTAND THAT IF MY ENERGY PAYMENTS ARE DELINQUENT, THAT 
A DELINQUENCY COULD OCCUR UNDER OBLIGATIONS TO MCE AND RIVER 
CITY BANK 

I UNDERSTAND THAT I MUST NOTIFY RIVER CITY BANK OF ANY INCREASED 
COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE SCOPE OF THE WORK APPROVED BY RIVER CITY 
BANK. RIVER CITY BANK IS UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO FUND THE OBR LOAN IF 
THE INCREASED COSTS ARE NOT COVERED BY SOURCES OUTSIDE OF THE OBR 

LOAN. 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPE~TING AGREEMENT - FIRST DRAFT Page39ofS0 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT I: MULTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM S,TATEMENT OF 
COMPLETION 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATlNG AGREE.\fENT-FIRST DRAFT Page40of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Name of Property owner 

Property address 

Owner phone 

Contractor name 

Contractor phone 

MULTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM 

STATEMENT OF COMPLETION 

CUSTOMER/OWNER INFORMATION 

City State Zip Organization name 

OWneremail 

CONTRACTOR INFORMATION 

Contractor Company Name 

Contractor email 

INCENTIVE DISBURSEMENT 

Please send the flnal incentive payment to: 

Entity receiving incentive <check one): 

Recipient name 
Downer • contractor 

Mailing address City State Zip 

STATEMENT OF COMPLETION 

By signing below, both the owner and contractor certify that all of the work In the attached proposal has been completed 
to program standards and is covered by a one-year warranty on all parts and labor effective as of the date listed below. 
The owner and contractor are In agreement that the final Incentive payment should be sent to the recipient and location 
listed above. 

Owner Signature Date 

Contractor Signature Date 

Contractor's One-Year Warranty Effective Date: _____ _ 

O Check here to confirm attachment of final Contractor's Work Order, Purchase Order, or Contract 

Mail completed Form to: MCE Clean Energy, 781 Lincoln Ave, Suite 320, San Rafael, CA 94901 

E-mail to: ee@mceCleanEnergy.com 
Fax#: 415-459-8095 
Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FIRST DRAFT 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

MULTI-FAMILY ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM 

STATEMENT OF COMPLETION 

EllGIBILTY REQUIREMENTS AND OTHER TERMS AND CONDITlONS: 

i.. ELIGIBILITY: The Marin Energy Authority's (MEA) Multi-family Energy Efficiency Program (MFEEP) offers free energy surveys, technical 

assistance, and financial Incentives for efficiency measures to customers who are property owners or managers {customers) of multi-family 
residences. Customers must receive Marin Clean Energy and/ or Pacific Gas and Electric gas and/or electric delivery service to be ellglble. 
Incentives are available to customers for the purchase and installation of energy efficiency measures at the location where the qualifying project 
Is to be installed. MEA wm not offer financial incentlws and/or rebates to those customers who have received financial Incentives or rebates for 
the same eligible measure from the Pacific Gas and Electric Company, the BayREN, or any other ratepayer funded energy efficiency program. 
Signature on this form counts as afflnnation that no other financial incentives have been applied for or collected for the same ellglble measures 
included In this Scope of Work (SOW). 

2. QUALIFYING PROJECTS AND MEASURES: Qualifying projects Include electrlc or gas energy efficiency measures Identified as ellglble for 
Incentives by MEA's implementation contractor based on an energy survey of the building. Qualifying projects do not include any electric or gas 
energy efficiency measures or energy efficiency equipment or services purchased, contracted for, or installed prior to the program start date. 

3. OWNER APPLICATION/PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT: By signing this Participation Agreement to access the building's energy usage for the 
previous 12-24 months, customer authorizes MEA's technical implementatlon contractor to enter this building for the purposes of conducting an 

energy survey of the building's common area and individual units, installlng MFEEP measures in Individual units, Installing any anergy efficiency 
measures subsequently agreed to in a Scope of Work, Inspecting Installed me11&ures and evaluating the performance of Installed measures. 

4. Residents of individual dwelling units in an ellglble building for whicli a Participation Agreement has been signed by the building owner (or 
management company) are eligible to receive certain directly Installed efficiency measures, Including but not limited to compact fluorescent 
(CFL) or light-emitting diode (LED) bulbs, faucet and showerhead Installation, pipe insulation, and light weatherization measures. 

5. INCENTIVE AMOUNTS: The amounts of the incentives for which qualifying projects are ellglble are set forth in the audit report provided to the 
customer. 

6. CUSTOMER WORK AUTHORIZATION AND PROJECT WORK PLAN: MEA and/or MEA's Implementation contractor will meet with the customer to 
discuss Individual building objectives, provide Information on alternatives, dlscu&& process and create a work project and schedule. MEA and/or 
MEA's implementation contractor may select and provide one or more approved Insta llation subcontractors to complete the measure Installation 
work, or the customer may select one or more contractors so long as the customer is willing to procure a signed form from the contractor 
expressing Intent to corporate with the quality assurance and quality control provisions of the MFEEP. MEA's technical Implementation contractor 
wlll schedule and/or monitor the required lnstallatlon services. 

7. IMPLEMENTATION OF WORK AND PAYMENT OF INCENTIVES: The customer must pay Its share of the cost for each measure to be installed 

pursuant to the Scope of Work not later than the completion of installatlon of that measure. When MEA's technical implementation contractor· 
confirms that Installation of a specific measure i& &atlsfactorily completed, MEA wlll arrange for payment of the Incentive for that measure to the 
customer or, If authorized to do so by the building owner, directly to the installatlon contractor for that measure. MEA's quality a•urance and/or 
quality control Inspectors andjor MEA, In their sole discretion, may schedule and conduct a post-installation inspection to ensure satisfactory 
measure Installation. Incentive checks will be sent after MEA's technical Implementation contractor confirms satisfactory installatlon. 

8. CUSTOMER INFORMATION: customer agrees that MEA may provide customer information including customer name, account number, electric 

andjor gas consumption data and electric and/or gas energy savings to a third party evaluation contractor selected by the California Public 
Utilities Commission (CPUC) Energy Division or by Pacific Gas and Electric for program evaluation purposes. The evaluation contractor will keep 

customer information confidential. Customer infonmation may also be provided to the Callfornla Public utllltles Commission. Any customer 
lnfonmation provided to the CPUC will be aggregated with information about other customers and not personally Identifiable. 

9. TAX LIABILITY and CREDns: MEA Is not responsible for any taxes which may be imposed on the customer as a result of measures Installed 
under this program. 

10. DISPUTES: MEA will have sole discretion to decide on the final resolution of any issues Including but not limited to ellglblllty or incentives. 

i.1.. PROGRAM CHANGES: MEA reserves the right to change, modify, or terminate this program at any time without any llablllty except as 
expressly stated herein. MEA wlll honor all written commitments made In Scope of Work provided to customers prior to the date of any change, 
modification or termination of this program, provided that project installatlons are fully completed within the time specified in the Scope of Work. 

i.2. PROGRAM EXPIRATION: This program will expire upon the earliest to occur: (I) December 3:1., 201.4, (ii) when funds are depleted, or (Ill} when 
the program Is terminated. 

i.3. DISCLAIMER: MEA makes no representations or warranties, expressed or Implied, and does not guarantee that Implementation of energy
efficiency measures or use of the equipment purchased or Installed pursuant to this program wlll result In energy cost savings. 

1.4. INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS: All work must be In full compliance with the requirements of applicable laws, rules and regulations of 
authorities having governmental and regulatory Jurisdiction. Additionally, work performed pursuant to this program must be overseen by AEA or 

other contractor Identified by MEA. In the removal of old equipment the applicant confirms that as a requirement of the program, the owner or 
any subcontractor carrying out lnstallatlon of measures under this program shall remove and dispose of any and all equipment or materials that 
are replaced or removed in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.. 

Mail Completed Form to: MCE Clean Energy, 781 Lincoln Ave, Suite 320, San Rafael, CA 94901 
E-mail to: ee@mceCleanEnergy.com 
Fax #: 415-459-8095 
Phone#: 415-464-6033 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT -FIRST DRAFT 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT J: SMARTLIGBTS CHECK LIST-POST INSTALL SITE INSPECTION 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{ 1637126.DOCX;}OPERA TING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page43 of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Site l Audit Number I 
Smart Lights Program 
1013 Pardee Street, Berkeley, CA 94710 
Fax (510) 981-0102 
Tel (510) 981-7750 
www.smartlights.org 

~,;.c.'~~~ .. , 
J CESC" 
Sm:tttf ; .,: ·' 
Ot:f:.'ll.·li\t.,IL!lar11.M, 

Project Completion and Acceptance Certificate 

Customer: 

The t11derslgned hereby certifies that a8 eqUipment and materials Included In the Customer Report and Work Order have been furnished and Installed, and that the work has been completed satisfactorily, The project is now complete and ready tn be Inspected. 

The undersigned understands.that the Contractor Is not an employee nor representative of Community Energy Services Cor;>., and agrees that ne!ther the aforementioned nor the SmartUghts Program are In any way liable or responsible for any acts or omissions of Contractor. 

Business Na-

Contractor: 

The undersigne.d hereby certifies that all specified equipment has been furnished and Installed to matd'l the SmartUghts project scope, and that the Installed equipment compiles with Smartllghts equipment specifications. Warranty Information has been proylded to the QJStomer listed below. 

Sign,ture of Contn!CIJlr/foreman/ln~tler Date 

r~-comr,a'ny ·~-- ~--•---=-r-M!J,-· -----~=-=-::----,~~~_.,_~J---~.......,.-~ ~,=oty"";""51a-~-- ~------1 
I i l 

(RLJRL) 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page 44of SO 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT K: OWNER PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page45 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Multi-Fan1ily Energy Efficiency Program Mc C ER'S AGREEMENT TO Hv1PLE1'1ENT THE BUILDING SCOPE OF WORK 

CUSTOMER NAME ADDRESS 

PG&E COMMON AREA ELECTRIC ACCOUNT NUME CITY STATE ZIP CODE 

PG&E COMMON AREA GAS ACCOUNT NUMBER DATE PRESENTED TO OWNER 

; "1 ol E "'-J~ M>c.=s ;,s In R,,.,.,..,,, Ii 1u,r,JW1,,i 

AMUII Annual Ettt:nated 
owner lnllllls Here to Con!lnn Entrlrl Energy Firat Yeev 

lnCHlhve M 10Ull1 h'llentJon to Proceed Wlttl Savings laWlgl Energy COit 
Measure 

M&lSu.'"f. (kWh) (lhetmsl 5awtgs' 

I, the owner of this building agree to implement each measure which is initialed above, and I hereby accept the Tenns and Conditions. ·. 

CUSTOMER SIGNATURE DATE 

MCE PROGRAM CONTACT SIGNATURE DATE 

EllGIBIUY REUUIREME:Nl SAND OTHl R IERM<; ANO CONDITIONS. 

Phone#: 415-464-6033 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMEl\'T - FIN'AL Page46 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Multi-Family Energy Efficiency Program MC E'NER'S AGREEMENT TO IMPLEMENT THE BUILDING SCOPE OF WORK 

1. ELIGIBILITY Th& Mann Energy Aulhont{s (MEAJ MuNam,1y Energy Effic,ency Prcqam 1MFEEP) oHers flee ene,gy surve,-s. tedmtca, 3SSISlanct: 
arnl ~nanaal 11centives !Of efficiency measures to cuSlomer.; MIO are property O'l"1ers or managers (customers) or mutti-famity resl<ll!ncfi Cl151omers 
must receive Mann Clean Energy and I c, Pacific Gas and Eledrtc gas and.lor electnc !leliveiy sel'lice to be ell!tible Incent111eS are 3'1ailallie to 
customers for tne purchase and installation of energy efficiency measu!eS at Ille locabon "'1ele Ille qualrfymg prqect ,s to be lflStaltecl MEA Will llOI offe, 
ftnanaal ncenlives 3f10lol rebaleS 10 tnose customers who have recetvoo tinanc131 mcen~ves or rebates for Ille same eligible measure from Ille Pacific 
Gas and Eteelnc Company, the BayREN or any Olher ratepayer fllnae<I energy efficiency program Signalll"e on ttus fOrm eotnts as affirmatJon !hat no 
other linanctal il1cent11Ies lla~e been app,ed tor or tolleele<I for the same eliOl>le measures 111ciuded in this Scope of Worll (SOW) 
2 QUALIFYING PROJECTS !\ND MEASURES: O\Jal1lying projeciS indU<le eled(ic or gas energy effiaency measlfts tdentJfieo 3S ettglble for llltenUY~ 
t,y MEA's lmplemenlabon oontractor based on ao energy ,;urvey or tne bUlldlllQ OUalifylng pro,ects do not 1111;tllde any eleclrlC or gas energy efficiency 

measures or energy elfiaency eqwpmer,t or ser.rces purchased. contracted tor. or tn5lalled pr,o, to the program slart dale 
3 OWNER APPLICATION/PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT By StOlllllO tnrs Partlctpallon Agreement to access the butkl,ng s energy usage tor l!"ie 
preVIOUS 12-24 m011tns. custome, aulllonZes MEA's technocal •~tementaoon contractor Ill enter ltllS bllilding for tne purposes or c011c1Uctin9 an~ 
survey of Ille IJUtlding's common area and indiVldual ums, installing MFEEP measures in indi\ndlJ;]I ul\lls. ,nstaHing any energy effioency rne;iSIIA!!' 

subSequentty agreed to in a Scope rl WOii<. lfl5Pllcirn!I 111StaHed measures and evaluating tne performante or mstalled measures 
4 Residents rA individual dweling unts II an eli!lrbte bUi1dng for wtttcll a PartJc,pabon Agreemem has been sigoed by lhe butld<ng - 101 
management company) are ellgible tD rece,ve certain directly ,nstalled effittency measures: inCIUCllllQ but not hmtted to compact nuorestent rCF ll cw l,ght• 
emitting dtode (LED) bulbS. faucet and showemead inStallation, l)lpe illsulabon. and l,gllt weathert:atiOn measures 
5 INCENTIVE AMOUNTS: Tile 3lllOUllls 01 lhe mtenUves for v.tltcll Qual,fying pro,ecls a/e el,g ble are set forth in tt.e auo t report prov,aed 10 tnf' 

customer 
6 CUSTOMER WORK AU"rnOl'IIZA TION AND PROJECT WORK PLAN. MEA ana:or MEA s 1mplementa11on tonllaticw Wt~ meet '111'11.!'. tne CtJSIOllll'r t(l 
Ciscuss indilliduat building Objeelives. pro¥tde mlormation on attemattves. di5CUSS process and create a WOfk project and sclledute- MEA and/or ME.-',s 
,n~ contractor niay select ;ind l)l'OYJde one or more approved installation subcoolratlors to a,mp1ete Ille measure instalabon WOil. or 1111' 
customer lllilV seleel one or more conlrattors so tong as the CU5tomer 1s wiling to procure a signed form from Ille conlr.lCIQI expressing llllent to 
COll)Ol"ate with the quany assurante and qua~ control pravl!llona ol tne MFEEP MEA"s teelloital imptenllil"ltabon contractor wilt sche<lu1e and/er 
Rl!llllor Ille required IIISlallafion services 
7 IMPLEMENTATION OF WORK AND PA"t'MENT Of INCENTIVES: The customer must pay Its sr.are of tile COSI lor eacn measure to lltl l'ISlalllld 
pursuanl 10 Ille Scope cl Wort, !IOI late! ~ tile C001plelloJl of 111stallat1011 Ol lllat measure Wllt!Jl MEA's teelwlical ~tation oontractor c:onllrms 
trat in$talation of a speciftc measure IS sat1sfac1only aimpleled. MEA win a!fange !of payment ol lhe ineenbve for tnat·measure to Ille CllSlornef or If 
au1hanzed to do so t>y Ille bUildl10 owner. directly to tne mtallalJOfl conllact!ll tor tnat measure MEA's quallly assurance and/Qr qualtty contrOI 
inspectors aooror MEA in ll1eir !IDie OIStletton. may sc:lledule and oonllUct a post-instaU3boo inSpettron 10 ensure sal!Sfactory measure instal1abor 
.-icenttve cnec1<s wift be sent aner ME.A's tec:twcat ~ contrxtor COllfirms salislaeloly 111s1auauon 
B CUSTOMER INFORMATION Customer 31Jrees lhal MEA may J)fOVille customer rnformabon il1Ckld,ng cuslOmer name. aCC00111 iumer, elel:lllc 
and/or gas consu~oon data and etecllk: aodior g;is er,eqiy samgs to a third party evaluaborl contractor 5elected by Ille callfomia PulJlk: utilibeS 
ConlllltSSIOII (CPUC) EnelVY Divi9ioll or~ Pa<:tfit GaS and EtetlnC for program eva111a1ton purposes Tl1e evaluation contrac:tor WIii keep customef 
lllfOmlatiorl confidential Customer inlonnaboJl Illa)/ also be J)flMded lo tne C31ifomia Pul»c UIJldlflS CQmrnisSIOI\ Mv customer informatlOfl provided 10 
Ille CPUC Will be aggreoaled Wfll1 inlormation abold Olller amon1ers and oot personally idenllAable 
9 TAX LIABILITY and CREDITS MEA as JlOI Je511011sible tor at'I'/ taxes Wllich mav be imposed on !he a.t51orner as a resutl of measures~ under 
lhtS program 
10 DISPllTES MEA WI I nave sole lll$treNn II) a,CICI!? on tne 1111a, reSOlullOrl Of 3/lY issues illctud.ng bllt not bnr.ed lo elrg!bitrly or lllOl!Jl:IYes 

11 PROGRAM CHANGES· MEA reserves tne fl!jlt to cllarlge, modtfy, or telll\lll3te 111,s program at any time wrtnout any hilbill1Y' exCfllll as express,, 
Slated herern MEA will honor ill wrjtefi comnwnents made in Scope of WOl!I provrded to cL1s1on1ers pnor IO Ille date of any mange rnodi""31iort " . 
tenntnalton of this pnqam prOWNled ttlat proiect llSlallabons are fully COOll)letell Wllhio the time specified in lhe Scope of Woo 
12 PROGRAM EXPIRATION This program w,U expire upon tne earl<esuo occur: 111 December 31 2014 (11) When l'Unds are depleted Cl' ,,-,, wt,en m; 
program IS leJTn!rralell 
13 OISCLAIMER MEA malles no representa!lon& 01 warranl•es. expressed or Irll)tled. ana co;s nol guaramee that flltltementltton of energ;-elllciencv 
ij,easures or use ol the equipment l)I.JCllased or ilslalled pursuant to this program wii resun ,n energy cosl saV1ngs 
14 INST ALI.ATION REQUIREMENTS All wor1t l1JJSI be 11 fu11 ~Janee With lhe requitements ol :,WIIC3bte laws, rules aoo regu,ai;ons ol allhooile\ 
having 9011erMl8fllal and regulatory t11nsdlcilon Addrtionally. WOil< performed pursllll'll to tn,s program must be overseen by AEA o- ott,er con1factor 
Identified by MEA In tne remov:it of old equipment Ille applrcant coofirms that 3$ a requirement of the p,ogram the o,vne< or 31>' SUbConlrattor tan\llllP 
CUI mtaUahon of measures undef this program shall relllOYe and disJ)OW of any and all equIpmenI or matenals !hat are replaced or removed•~ 
ar.Ollllance w,ltt ,1fl ~p,,t:<.iale l,l'IIS. 11lle~ m>d re<JUl,1boos 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 
{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page47 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

EXHIBIT L: CUSTOMER WORK AUTHORIZATION 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL Page48 of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

.au,l!TM Pan:r<ifler 
OUIJWtl~ 
I t'rtffU'flV bmr.:',• 5er\Mls ,.-:•~· 

Phone#: 415-464-6033 

{1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT-FINAL 

• :dr. f un-:>E"' 11170 

Page49of50 



Agenda Item #5_C.4_Att. B: Executed 1st Operating Agreement

Customer Work Order and Contracip! ~O!'.i<-"!!J~t _ _ 
<:mlDmlr 'Wcn OrdCI 

The !itnfflual'IIS W!m"et Wl)lt Om I!, pr.t "'t,-"g ~~;\' IQNll!ffltl'tt ~ ':n" 
IRO'l30Dn O:intr.laDr. J ~ b:> ~ ~ tor"1i ~-Ire :IHbC/ilaarl 
~tD "l!C-ttle~tulls "'-lhl-wcrt :,;~ 

l hwe re.aa, ..'ld&m:».cl, .i,-.c:, ~ .al Cl the ibowe ~ .!nd ~; J 
•~ the wat 'J:t P'IIQl!!lld, .and J shall bebcun:, t¥ a.I r, lhe 1l!r"'S Ind 
UlnOIX!m r; Cll'dlnKI b, !!'le~~ N ht::'ltr ~T 

.!jl-!lllllh>fe> of ~t!(! ksln-c:lil Rii!l'f11,11Mt.M!ve 

[qtr - •- -·-· ···· 

Phone #: 415-464-6033 

{ 1637126.DOCX;}OPERATING AGREEMENT - FINAL 

I •""• CUl'fON8I 00 NOt ~ UI ff~ ta1•• • 
~ ..... .., ___ ...... 

0 
I 

I 
I 
• r L 

V.es,. I c1a:e11t the proj-ect. 
t:o stdrtom 

No, I do not dCCept tne ~ -
st.rte re.ssons below: 

Page SO of SO 



 

 
 

February 18, 2016   
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  David McNeil, Project and Finance Manager 
  Mike Maher, Maher Accountancy 
   
RE:  Proposed Budgets FY 2016/17 (Agenda Item #06)  
 
ATTACHMENT: Proposed Budgets for FY 2016/17 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
Before the end of every fiscal year, MCE’s Board has the responsibility to set forth Budgets for MCE’s Operating 
Fund, Energy Efficiency Program Fund, Renewable Energy Reserve Fund and the Local Renewable Energy 
Reserve Fund for the upcoming fiscal year.  These Budgets authorize the Staff to earn revenue and spend funds 
within the limits set forth in each budget line item.    The attached Budgets reflect MCE’s anticipated revenue 
and expenditures for the 12 months ending March 31, 2017.  Anticipated results for the year ending March 31, 
2016 have been provided for information and comparative purposes. 
 
The attached Proposed Budgets for the Fiscal Year Ending March 31, 2017 set forth the following line items: 
 
OPERATING FUND 

• Revenue:  The proposed revenue reflects rates for energy that are unchanged from the previous year.  
Lower revenue in FY 2016/17 reflects higher than expected usage in FY 2015/16 and conservative 
estimates of usage in the upcoming year.    

• PG&E Service Fees:   PG&E service fees, which are primarily charged on a per customer basis, will 
increase in FY 2016/17 due to an expected increase in the number of customers and full year charges 
resulting from the expansion of MCE’s service territory in 2016. 

• Data Manager: Data management costs are charged on a per meter basis. MCE’s service territory 
expanded during FY 2015/16.  Recording these costs over the full year has the effect of pushing the 
overall cost upward.  

• Cost of Energy:  MCE’s cost of energy will increase in FY 2016/17.  The increase in projected power costs 
is primarily the result of higher anticipated sales volumes as well as changes in the composition of MCE’s 
renewable energy portfolio associated with policies adopted in the 2015 Integrated Resource Plan 
update aimed at greater utilization of bundled renewable energy power purchase contracts and fewer 
purchases of unbundled renewable energy certificates.  The average cost of the supply portfolio is 
projected to increase by approximately 1.6%, to $71.8 per MWh in the coming fiscal year from $70.7 per 
MWh estimated for the prior fiscal year. 

• Personnel:  Increased Staff costs reflect anticipated hiring for new positions in FY 2016/17, the full year 
impact of staff hired during FY 2015/16, increased salaries associated with new pay ranges approved by 
the board in late 2015, cost of living increases for all staff and performance based increases for 
individual staff members. 

MCE 



• Technical Consultants:  MCE’s technical consultant costs are expected to decrease in FY 2016/17 due to 
contract restructuring.  

• Legal Counsel:  MCE’s legal costs are expected to increase in FY 2016/17.  Increased costs are caused by 
a shifting of expenses from “Other Services” to “Legal Counsel” (see below) and increased costs 
associated with an increased number of Power Purchase Agreements expected to be concluded in FY 
2016/17.  Legal Counsel costs are also expected to increase due to increased support for energy 
efficiency, regulatory and public request activity.    

• Communications:  The communications budget is not expected to increase in FY 2016/17.    
• Other Services: The other services line item includes costs associated with audit, accounting, 

information technology, among several other services. 
• General and Administration:  The general and administration line includes:  data and office telephone 

service, insurance, equipment rentals, subscriptions, travel, business meals, other services, conferences, 
professional education, special events sponsorship, office supplies and postage, and small equipment. 
G&A costs are expected to increase to accommodate new staff, full year expenses associated with the 
expansion of MCE’s customer territory in 2015 and various expenditures for MCE’s new office facility.  

• Occupancy: Occupancy costs include lease payments, utilities, and maintenance costs.  MCE moved into 
its current location during FY 2015/16.  FY 2016/17 occupancy costs are expected to increase reflecting a 
full 12 months of lease payments at the new location.  

• Integrated demand side pilot programs: This budget category will assist MCE with achieving its strategic 
energy goals for integrated demand side management. 

• Marin County Green Business Program: Contribution to the Marin County Green Business Program.  
• Low income solar programs: MCE plans to increase its efforts to encourage solar installations in low 

income areas by alleviating some of the costs. 
• Interest and Financing Costs:  Financing costs are expected to increase to support the needs of the 

organization.   
• Local Renewable Energy Development Fund: MCE transfers 50% of the premium from deep green 

energy sales to fund local renewable projects. 
• Capital Outlay: MCE anticipates the need for capital outlay related to the new office facility and 

equipment for its staff. 
• Depreciation:  Depreciation expense is a non cash outlay related to capital equipment and leasehold 

improvements.  This is provided for informational purposes only, as the separate Capital Outlay line 
represents the actual outflow required to acquire these resources.  The net effect of depreciation on the 
Operating Fund balance is zero. 

 
ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM FUND 

• The Energy Efficiency Program is financed through the CPUC and distributes funds through its multi-
family, small commercial, single family, and financing sub-programs. The program is a reimbursable type 
program, where eligible expenses are reimbursed by the CPUC. Accordingly, the revenue and expenses 
for this program are intended to offset each other. 

 
LOCAL RENEWABLE ENERGY DEVELOPMENT FUND 

• This Fund is financed by 50% of the premium from deep green customer sales. These resources are used 
to plan, create and develop local energy efficient projects.  

 
RENEWABLE ENERGY FUND 

• This Fund is intended for the procurement or development of renewable energy not planned for in the 
operating fund. Resources may accumulate from year to year and be expended as management 
determines.   

 
Recommendation:  Approve Proposed Revenues and Expenditures for the Operating Fund, Energy Efficiency 
Program Fund, Renewable Energy Reserve Fund and the Local Renewable Energy Reserve Fund for Fiscal Year 
Ending March 31, 2017. 



 Projected  
2016 Results 
(information 

only) 

 Proposed 
2017

 Budget  Variation  Variation %
ENERGY REVENUE
    Revenue - Electricity (net of allowance) 147,443,380    144,507,000$  (2,936,380)   -2.0%
    Other Revenue 428,512          (428,512)     
      TOTAL ENERGY REVENUE 147,871,892 144,507,000 (3,364,892)   -2.3%

ENERGY EXPENSES
    Cost of energy 125,671,563    126,864,000    1,192,437    0.9%
    Service fees - PG&E 882,146          918,000          35,854        4.1%
      TOTAL ENERGY EXPENSES 126,553,709 127,782,000 1,228,291    1.0%
NET ENERGY REVENUE 21,318,183   16,725,000   (4,593,183)   -21.5%

OPERATING EXPENSES
    Personnel 3,141,797        4,367,000        1,225,203    39.0%
    Data manager 2,868,024        2,899,000        30,976        1.1%
    Technical consultants 638,795          536,000          (102,795)     -16.1%
    Legal counsel 386,793          717,000          330,207      85.4%
    Communications consultants & related 751,000          751,000          -             0.0%
    Other services 465,040          404,000          (61,040)       -13.1%
    General and administration 343,930          368,000          24,070        7.0%
    Occupancy 233,706          288,000          54,294        23.2%
    Integrated demand side pilot programs 36,190            50,000            13,810        38.2%
    Marin County green business program 10,000            10,000            -             0.0%
    Low income solar programs 35,000            35,000            -             0.0%
      TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 8,910,275     10,425,000   1,514,725    17.0%
OPERATING INCOME 12,407,909   6,300,000     (6,107,909)   -49.2%

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
    Interest income 7,500              15,000            7,500          100.0%
    Interest expense and financing costs (123,680)         (213,000)         (89,320)       72.2%
    Depreciation (supplemental) (80,000)           (100,000)         (20,000)       25.0%
      TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) (196,180)         (298,000)         (101,820)     

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 12,211,729   6,002,000     (6,209,729)   -50.9%

    Net position beginning of period 13,256,319      25,468,048      12,211,729  92.1%
    Change in net position 12,211,729      6,002,000        (6,209,729)   -50.9%
    Net position end of period 25,468,048      31,470,048      6,002,000    23.6%

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, INTERFUND TRANSFERS & OTHER
Capital Outlay 295,656          156,000          (139,656)     -47.2%
Depreciation 80,000            100,000          20,000        
Repayment of Loan Principal 2,024,038        -                    (2,024,038)   -100.0%
Transfer to Renewable Energy Reserve 1,000,000        -                    (1,000,000)   -100.0%
Transfer to Local Renewable Energy Development Fund 151,383          173,263          21,880        14.5%
      TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, INTERFUND 
         TRANSFERS & OTHER 3,551,077        429,263          (3,121,814)   
Net increase (decrease) in Operating Fund balance 8,660,652$      5,572,737$      (3,087,915)$ -35.7%

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY
OPERATING FUND
Proposed Budget 
Fiscal Year 2016/17

 

Agenda Item #6_Att: Proposed Budget for FY 2016/17

r 

~ 

T 
' 

r r 

~ _J I I I 

-
-

I -
I I I 

L I I -
L I I -

[ 
' I r 

-
-

L I I 
I I I -

f t 

} t f -
I I r -

I I I 
I I 

[ 

I 

I I 

-

[ 



 Projected  
2016 Results 
(information 

only) 
 Proposed 

2017 Budget 
 Increase 

(Decrease) 
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
    Public purpose energy efficiency program 1,505,702$    $1,220,267 (285,435)$    

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES:
CURRENT EXPENDITURES
    Public purpose energy efficiency program 1,505,702      $1,220,267 (285,435)      

Net increase (decrease) in fund balance -$                  -               -               

 Projected  
2016 Results 
(information 

only) 
 Proposed 

2017 Budget 
 Increase 

(Decrease) 
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
  Transfer from Operating Fund 151,383         173,263$     21,880$        

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES:
Capital Outlay 111,115         173,263       62,148          

Net increase (decrease) in fund balance 40,268$         -$                 

 Projected  
2016 Results 
(information 

only) 
 Proposed 

2017 Budget 
 Increase 

(Decrease) 
REVENUE AND OTHER SOURCES:
  Transfer from Operating Fund 1,000,000$    -$                 (1,000,000)$ 

EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES: -                    -                   

Net increase (decrease) in fund balance 1,000,000$    -$                 

Proposed Budget 
Fiscal Year 2016/17

RENEWABLE ENERGY RESERVE FUND
Proposed Budget 
Fiscal Year 2016/17

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY

Proposed Budget 
Fiscal Year 2016/17

LOCAL RENEWABLE ENERGY DEVELOPMENT FUND

ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM FUND

 

Agenda Item #6_Att: Proposed Budget for FY 2016/17

-

I I I I 

I I I I I 

I I I 

l l ~ ~ l l 

-

+- +-

I I I 
-



 
 
 
 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  John Dalessi, Pacific Energy Advisors 
 
RE: Proposed Marin Clean Energy Rates for Fiscal Year 2016/17 

(Agenda Item #07) 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
 
SUMMARY:   
The Marin Clean Energy Community Choice Aggregation Implementation Plan and 
Statement of Intent (“Implementation Plan”) describes the policies and procedures for 
setting and modifying electric rates for the Marin Clean Energy (MCE) program.  As 
described in the Implementation Plan, the MCE annual ratesetting process is 
coordinated with the establishment of fiscal year program budgets.  MCE rates are 
typically reviewed on an annual basis during the month of January to determine whether 
rate changes are warranted in consideration of the next fiscal year’s proposed budget, 
rate competiveness, rate stability, customer understanding, efficiency and equity among 
customers.  
MCE’s ratesetting policies establish a thirty-day public review period for proposed rate 
changes before final rates are adopted by the Board.  Public release of the proposed 
rates in February typically initiates the public review period.  Rates for the next fiscal 
year are typically adopted by your Board during the month of March.  
 
MCE’s current rates are projected to yield sufficient revenues to recover the proposed 
FY 2016/17 expenditures and build reserves, and no changes from the currently adopted 
rates are recommended for FY 2016/17 for MCE’s existing rate schedules. As described 
below, two new residential time-of-use rate options are being proposed this year, 
corresponding with similar rate options adopted by PG&E which will allow for proper 
billing of MCE customers who will begin transferring to the new PG&E rate schedules on 
March 1, 2016. 
 
BACKGROUND – MCE RATESETTING CYCLE, POLICIES AND PROCESS 
  
Ratesetting Cycle 
 
MCE typically adjusts its rates on an annual basis, and the new rates go into effect on or 
about April 1.  Ratesetting is coordinated with the annual budgeting cycle due to the 
inherent linkages between the MCE Budget and MCE rates.  Rates could be adjusted 
more frequently, if necessary, to ensure recovery of all MCE program costs, but this is 
not typical and has not been necessary to date. 
 
Proposed rates are typically presented to your Board in February, based on the 
proposed upcoming fiscal year budget.  This release of the proposed rates initiates a 

MCE 



thirty-day public review and comment period.  If rate increases are being proposed, the 
affected MCE customers are provided with notice of said rate increase.  Following 
completion of the thirty-day public review and comment period, final rates are adopted 
by your Board in March and placed into effect on April 1.  Final rates may differ from the 
initially proposed rates to account for changes resulting from adoption of the final fiscal 
year budget, consideration of public comments received during the aforementioned 
review period, and/or other factors that may be considered by your Board.   
 
Ratesetting Policies 
 
MCE has established various policies that are considered in designing MCE rates.  
These ratesetting policies are as follows: 
 
Revenue sufficiency: rates must recover all expenses, debt service and other 
expenditure requirements, and build prudent reserves; i.e., the “revenue requirement”. 
 
Rate competitiveness: rates must allow MCE to successfully compete in the marketplace 
to retain and attract customers.  
 
Rate stability: rates changes should be minimized to reduce customer bill impacts.  
 
Customer understanding: rates should be simple, transparent and easily understood by 
customers. 
 
Equity among customers: rate differences among customers should be justified by 
differences in usage characteristics and/or cost of service. 
 
Efficiency: rates should encourage conservation and efficient use of electricity (e.g., off-
peak vehicle charging). 
 
To the extent that the policies may be in tension with one another, the rate proposal 
attempts to strike an appropriate balance.  For example, a cost-of-service analysis might 
suggest that a particular rate should be increased, but the increase might be limited in 
the interest of rate stability and/or rate competitiveness. In accordance with the 
Implementation Plan, the policy of revenue sufficiency may not be violated; however, the 
Board may use discretion in how the other ratesetting policies are reflected in MCE 
rates.  
 
Ratesetting Process 
 
The ratesetting cycle begins with a forecast of MCE electric energy sales for the coming 
fiscal year.  The forecast includes the number of customers that are expected to be 
enrolled and take service on each of the MCE rate schedules as well as the monthly 
billing quantities expected under each rate schedule.  Depending upon the rate schedule 
in question, billing quantities can include monthly kWh, kWh during specified time-of-use 
periods (e.g., on-peak, partial peak, off-peak), maximum monthly kW demand and 
maximum kW demand during specified time-of-use periods.  The forecasted billing 
quantities are used to derive a forecast of revenues at current (and proposed) MCE 
rates.  
 
The projected revenue at current rates, termed “present rate revenues”, is compared to 
fiscal year budget items that must be funded through such rates (the “revenue 



requirement”) to determine whether rate adjustments are warranted for purposes of 
addressing any projected surplus or deficit. 
 
As an interim step in the rate design process, the revenue requirement is first allocated 
to customer classes.  Customers are classified based on end-use and other service 
characteristics in an attempt to represent groups of customers with relatively similar 
cost-of-service profiles.  MCE has established nine customer classes that include: 
residential (Res-1), small commercial (Com-1 and Com-6), medium commercial (Com-
10), large commercial (Com-19), industrial (Com-20), agricultural (Ag), street lighting 
(SL) and traffic control (TC) end uses. Revenues are allocated based on a cost of 
service analysis, assessment of rate competitiveness, and other policy considerations.     
 
Typical end uses within the commercial customer classes are described below: 
 
Rate Group Example End Use 
Com-1 and Com-6 Small office, small retail 
Com-10 Bank, restaurant, mixed use retail 
Com-19 Department store, large office building, grocery store 
Com-20 Institutional, hospital, college, water treatment facility 

 
Rates are designed for the various rate schedules associated with each customer class 
in order to recover the revenue requirement allocated to that class.  There are currently 
41 rate schedules under which MCE customers may take service subject to the relevant 
eligibility criteria. 
 
FY 2016/17 PROPOSED RATES 
 
MCE’s current rates are sufficient to recover the proposed FY 2016/17 revenue 
requirement, based on the proposed budget referenced in Agenda Item #6.  Staff 
recommend no changes to current rates for FY 2016/17.  This recommendation is also 
consistent with each of MCE’s rate design policies articulated above.  The 
recommendation to maintain current rates through FY 2016/17 has been discussed with 
the MCE Ad Hoc Rates Committee and the MCE Executive Committee, and is supported 
by both Committees. 
 
The only recommended changes to MCE rates are adoption of two new residential time-
of-use rate options: Schedules Res-TOU-A and Res-TOU-B.  These rate schedules are 
designed to be consistent with similar rate options adopted by PG&E, which are 
expected to become available on March 1, 2016.  
 
FY 2016/17 Revenue Requirement 
 
The FY 2016/17 revenue requirement is based on the proposed FY 2016/17 Budget for 
MCE’s Operating Fund.  The difference between the revenue requirement used for 
ratesetting and the budgeted revenue is due to the revenue deficiencies associated with 
uncollectible customer accounts as well as costs and revenues associated with the net 
energy metering (NEM) program.  The proposed revenue requirement for FY 2016/17 is 
$145,564,329 as shown in Table 1, which is equivalent to projected revenues at present 
rates.   
 
The proposed revenue requirement, including a reconciliation to the proposed FY 2017 
Budget, is shown in Table 1. 
 



Table 1: Proposed FY 2017 Revenue Requirement 

 
Revenue Requirement  
  
Proposed FY 2017 Operating Fund Budget 
Revenue 

$144,507,000 

Uncollectible Account Expenses and NEM Costs $1,057,329 
  
Proposed Revenue Requirement $145,564,329 
  
Present Rate Revenues $145,564,329 
Surplus (Deficiency) in Funds $0 
Required Rate Increase 0% 

 
 
Rate Schedules Res-TOU-A and Res-TOU-B 
 
As part of the CPUC’s residential rate rulemaking, PG&E is implementing new optional 
time-of-use rate schedules for residential customers, E-TOU-A and E-TOU-B, as well as 
the discounted versions for low income customers (known as California Alternative 
Rates for Energy or CARE), EL-TOU-A and EL-TOU-B.1  These rate schedules are 
expected to become available on March 1, 2016 and will replace most currently available 
time-of-use rates for residential customers. The time-of-use periods defined for 
Schedules E-TOU-A and E-TOU-B are closely aligned with evolving grid utilization 
patterns which involve a shift in peak usage periods to later in the day.  This shift is 
occurring due to the increasing prevalence of solar generation on the grid, which offsets 
demand during the hours of maximum daylight. 
 
Schedules E-7 and EL-7, which have been closed to new customers since the mid 
2000’s, will be eliminated with the implementation of E-TOU rates.  These customers will 
be placed on E-TOU-A by default and may elect E-TOU-B.  At that same time, 
Schedules E-6 and EL-6 will be closed to new customers, but existing customers will be 
allowed to continue service on Schedules E-6 and EL-6 for several years before 
transitioning to the new time-of-use schedules.   
 
Customers taking delivery service under the new PG&E rate schedules who were 
previously served under a time-of-use MCE rate schedule (e.g., Res-7 or Res-6) cannot 
be properly billed on the previous MCE rate schedule because the monthly usage data 
provided by PG&E for use in MCE’s billing process will be inconsistent with the previous 
time-of-use definitions. The billing usage data provided by PG&E for residential 
customers includes total KWh by time-of-use period, and this data would not be accurate 
for rate schedules with a different time-of-use period definition.  MCE’s adoption of 
comparable rate schedules, with the same time-of-use period definitions as used by 
PG&E, will enable the customer to continue taking service on a time-of-use rate and 
allow for proper billing of these customers.  
 

                                            
1 The discounts for qualifying low income customers are provided through delivery rates, and 
there are no differences in generation rates between the standard rate and the low-income 
equivalent. 



The equivalent MCE rate schedules proposed for adoption are Res-TOU-A and Res-
TOU-B.  These new rates have been designed based on the PG&E equivalent 
generation rates, less the applicable Power Charge Indifference Adjustment and 
Franchise Fee Surcharges so that total customer costs are expected to be similar 
between MCE and PG&E service.2  All customers taking service on PG&E’s E-TOU-
A/EL-TOU-A and E-TOU-B/EL-TOU-B will be billed on the MCE equivalent rate.   
 
The proposed rates are as follows: 
 
Res-TOU-A 
 

Time Period Proposed MCE  Rate 
($/KWh) 

Summer On-Peak 0.157 
Summer Off-Peak 0.082 
Winter On-Peak 0.070 
Winter Off-Peak 0.056 

 
Summer (service from June 1 through September 30) 
 
Peak:  3:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.  Monday through Friday 
Off-Peak: All other times including holidays. 
 
Winter (service from October 1 through May 31) 
 
Peak:  3:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. Monday through Friday 
Off-Peak: All other times including holidays. 
 
Res-TOU-B 
 

Time Period Proposed MCE  Rate 
($/KWh) 

Summer On-Peak 0.174 
Summer Off-Peak 0.072 
Winter On-Peak 0.076 
Winter Off-Peak 0.057 

 
 
Summer (service from June 1 through September 30) 
 
Peak:  4:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. Monday through Friday 
Off-Peak: All other times including holidays. 
 
Winter (service from October 1 through May 31) 
 
Peak:  4:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. Monday through Friday 

                                            
2 PG&E’s proposed rates are set forth in Advice Letter 4769-E.  As discussed in the advice letter, 
these rates may be revised prior to their effective date of March 1, 2016.  MCE staff does not 
anticipate the need to adjust the proposed Res-TOU-A and Res-TOU-B rates during 2016, but 
will review the effective PG&E rates when available and, if any changes are recommended, would 
bring such a recommendation to a future MCE Board meeting for consideration.    



Off-Peak: All other times including holidays. 
 
There are approximately 2,430 customer accounts currently taking service on Res-7 who 
would be transferred to Res-TOU-A after March 1, 2016.  Of these, 748 are net energy 
metering customers.  An unknown but likely small number of MCE customers on other 
rate schedules may elect to switch service to one of the new residential time-of-use 
rates.  It is expected that customers formerly served on schedule Res-7 will experience 
lower generation costs overall, while the compensation provided for net energy metered 
solar generation will be diminished relative to the Res-7 rate.  The majority of MCE’s 
5,727 net energy metered customers will not be impacted because they receive service 
on a rate schedule other than Res-7.      
 
The impact on MCE revenues is expected to be small (less than 1%) because of the 
small number of accounts involved.   
    
Recommendation: Maintain current rates through FY 2016/17.  Adopt MCE rate 
schedules Res-TOU-A and Res-TOU-B to become effective on March 1, 2016. 
 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy 
 
FROM:  Kirby Dusel, Pacific Energy Advisors, Inc.  
 
RE: Electric Schedule Local Sol – 100% Local Solar Electricity Supply 

(Agenda Item #08) 
 
ATTACHMENTS: A. Draft Electric Schedule Local Sol – 100% Local Solar Electricity 

Supply 
 B. Presentation – Local Sol: 100% Local Solar 
      
Dear Board Members: 
 
 
BACKGROUND:   
In August 2010 (at its inaugural Board retreat), MCE began studying and discussing the 
feasibility of developing a locally-focused retail solar program, which would allow MCE 
customers to voluntarily purchase renewable energy from one or more designated small-
scale generators located within the MCE service territory.  The primary impetus for 
considering such a program was to eliminate participatory barriers commonly associated 
with rooftop solar development, which include excessive shading, non-optimal roof 
orientation, occupancy of non-owned businesses and residences, as well as various 
other considerations.  There were also a number of key benefits that were identified in 
conjunction with such programs, including increased utilization of local renewable energy 
resources, reduced GHG emissions related to electric energy consumption, and 
enhanced local economic development opportunities – these benefits were generally 
aligned with MCE’s charter goals and objectives, which were determined to be important 
threshold criteria when evaluating the development of prospective complimentary energy 
programs administered by MCE.   
 
MCE staff researched existing program structures and products that were effectively 
implemented in the service territories of the Sacramento Municipal Utility District 
(program name: SolarShares) and Tucson Electric Power (program name: Bright Tucson 
Community Solar) – each program incorporated different structural elements and pricing 
mechanisms, but both allow the respective customers of each utility to voluntarily 
purchase 100%, locally generated solar energy as a substitute for some or all of the 
broader mix of energy products that would otherwise be delivered.  In general terms, 
participating customers are charged a premium rate/price for the local solar electricity 
that is supplied through the program – the price charged by each service provider is 
intended to reflect the actual cost of service, less certain subsidies that were 
incorporated to encourage program participation and the achievement of each utility’s 
overarching policy objectives. 

MCE 



2 
 

 
More recently, PG&E received approval to offer two additional retail supply options to its 
customers: PG&E’s Solar Choice and Regional Solar Choice.  Both programs provide 
customers with the opportunity to procure varying amounts of solar electricity, which will 
be supplied to participating customers in place of PG&E’s general resource mix.  With 
regard to PG&E’s Solar Choice option, supplying projects will vary in size and may be 
located throughout the PG&E service territory; for PG&E’s Regional Solar Choice option, 
the geographic parameters are more narrowly defined with projects located within the 
same county as (or within 10 miles of) participating customers.  Regional Solar Choice 
product availability will be dependent upon a sufficient level of community interest to 
support development of the requisite generator(s).  In addition to applicable program 
charges, participating customers must also pay the Power Charge Indifference 
Adjustment to prevent cost shifting to non-participating PG&E customers.  With regard to 
PG&E’s Solar Choice program, the current residential rate premium is 3.58 cents/kWh. 
 
After researching these programs and engaging in discussions with MCE’s governing 
Board and Technical Committee, the following elements of an MCE-administered 100% 
Local Solar Program were developed for and approved by your Board (in April 2014): 
 

• Program name: “Local Sol” 
• Product description: 100% solar; 100% local; 100% new generating capacity. 

o The product purchased by participating customers will be “bundled,” RPS-
eligible electric energy. 

o Renewable energy certificates will be annually retired by MCE on behalf 
of participating customers.   

o Green-e Energy certification may be pursued for the Local Sol product. 
• Project(s): new project(s) to be located within MCE’s service territory. 

o Initial “host” site will be a one megawatt photovoltaic solar array located at 
the Cooley Quarry in Novato.   

o Cooley Quarry project is under contract via MCE’s Feed-In Tariff program 
o Anticipated project online date in mid-2016. 
o Annual energy use of participating customers will be supplied by an 

equivalent quantity of solar electricity produced by the host generator. 
o Program launch to follow project completion.   

• Limited participation: anticipated 1 MW project size would accommodate 
participation by 150-300 average residential customers. 

o Actual participation will vary based on the projected annual energy 
requirements of program participants. 

o MCE staff estimates that actual participation may range from 100-200 
customers. 

• Pricing: proposed energy price would reflect a significant premium relative to 
MCE’s Light Green and Deep Green service options and would replace the 
participating customer’s otherwise applicable generation rate(s). 

o Typical residential participants will incur additional costs ranging from 
$25-$50/month. 

o Program energy price is directly tied to MCE’s current FIT pricing 
schedule: $0.138/kWh + $0.004/kWh administrative fee = $0.142/kWh. 

o Price to remain fixed during initial 3-year period of program operation. 
o MCE plans to pass through long-term price/rate stability to participating 

customers in consideration of the 20-year fixed price paid under MCE’s 
FIT. 



3 
 

• Solar program should promote local economic development and may allow MCE 
to extend the relatively high price currently paid under MCE’s FIT program. 

o High levels of customer participation may warrant MCE’s consideration of 
a revised FIT pricing schedule. 

o Sustained FIT pricing levels should promote the development of 
additional, local renewable energy resources.  

• Initial outreach has resulted in approximately 100 Local Sol enrollments. 
 
In the interest of further expanding retail choice and offering a formal tariff to support its 
Local Sol program, staff have developed Electric Schedule Local Sol – 100% Local Solar 
Electricity Supply (attached), which outlines pertinent terms and conditions associated 
with this program.  Details of Electric Schedule Local Sol conform with the program 
elements previously described in this staff report.   
 
BUDGET IMPACT:  Revenues and expenses associated with the Local Sol program 
have been included in the FY 2016/17 Budget that will be submitted to the Board for 
approval at the March 2016 board meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve Electric Schedule Local Sol – 100% Local Solar 
Electricity Supply for immediate implementation. 
 



DRAFT February 8, 2016  
  

Page 1 

 

 

 

 

ELECTRIC SCHEDULE LOCAL SOL – 100% LOCAL SOLAR ELECTRICITY SUPPLY 

APPLICABILITY:  This Schedule Local Sol is available on a voluntary, first-come, first-served basis to any 
MCE customer who appropriately enrolls in the Local Sol service option, subject to the availability of 
specified local solar electricity production.  Customers participating in the Local Sol service option will be 
supplied with a quantity of locally produced, photovoltaic solar electricity matching their respective net 
electricity usage, as measured by MCE.  Charges associated with Schedule Local Sol are further described 
below.  The commencement of Local Sol service is expected to occur in mid-2016, subject to the 
availability of necessary power supply.  Prior to the commencement of Local Sol service, enrolled 
customers will continue to be served under their current MCE tariff election. 
 
BACKGROUND:  In an effort to expand the retail electricity service options available to customers within 
MCE’s service territory, MCE offers Schedule Local Sol, a retail electricity option providing 100% 
photovoltaic solar electricity produced by a generating facility located within the MCE service territory.  
The quantity of solar electricity generated for participating Local Sol customers will be equivalent to 
each customer’s respective net annual electricity usage, excepting situations in which certain customers 
may be enrolled in the Local Sol service option for a partial calendar year – in such instances, 100% 
photovoltaic solar electricity will be generated for the participating customer in a quantity equivalent to 
such customer’s net electricity usage during the partial period of Local Sol enrollment.   
 
Currently, MCE has identified an approximately one megawatt photovoltaic solar generating facility 
located within the City of Novato to serve as the primary source of electricity supply for the Local Sol 
service option (the “Local Sol Generator”).  Development of the Local Sol Generator is being supported 
by a long-term, 20-year, power purchase agreement between MCE and the project owner under the 
terms of MCE’s Feed-In Tariff (“FIT”) program, which is designed to support the development of small-
scale, locally situated renewable generating facilities.  Generation rates charged to Local Sol customers 
are based on the wholesale power supply costs described in MCE’s FIT and are intended to pass through 
such costs as well as costs associated with general administration of the Local Sol program. 
 
Based on assumed electricity production at the Local Sol Generator, approximately 1.5 million kilowatt 
hours per year will be available under the Local Sol service option.  In consideration of such production 
estimates, MCE anticipates that initial Local Sol participation will be limited to approximately 100-200 
MCE customers, depending on electric usage characteristics of the participating Local Sol customer base.  
MCE will, at its sole discretion, determine the quantity of local solar electricity production that will be 
made available through the Local Sol tariff option and may periodically increase or reduce the quantity 
of such production without notice.  MCE may also change or add local solar generating facilities in an 
effort to provide sufficient power supply to participating customers.   
 
At the time that expected annual electricity sales to participating Local Sol customers generally 
approximates the anticipated annual electricity production at the Local Sol Generator, enrollments will 

Agenda Item #8_Att. A: Draft Elec. Sched. LS - 100% LS Elec. Supply

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



DRAFT February 8, 2016  
  

Page 2 

be suspended and a customer waiting list will be formed.  To the extent that a Local Sol customer elects 
to change service options, MCE will notify customers on the Local Sol waiting list until the service option 
is fully subscribed.   
 
TERRITORY:  The entire MCE service area. 

RATES:  The generation rate charged to participating Local Sol customers shall not exceed 14.2 cents per 
kilowatt hour ($0.142/kWh, “the Local Sol Rate”) and shall apply to all net electricity usage during each 
billing period.  The Local Sol Rate shall replace the participating customer’s otherwise applicable MCE 
generation rate(s) and shall remain in effect during any continuous period of enrollment in Schedule 
Local Sol, extending up to twenty (20) years from the customer’s initial date of service in the Local Sol 
program.  All other charges described in the participating customer’s otherwise applicable MCE rate 
schedule, including monthly minimum charges, customer charges, meter charges, facilities charges, 
demand charges and surcharges, and all other charges owed to MCE or PG&E, shall continue to apply. 
Charges for net electric generation, as measured in kWh, supplied by MCE will be based on the 
aforementioned Local Sol Rate. 
 
PARTICIPATORY LIMITATIONS:  Participation in this Schedule is limited to MCE customers on either 
residential or small commercial (e.g., COM-1, or COM-1 TOU) service elections. Additionally, MCE 
customers taking service under this Schedule are subject to an annual electric energy usage cap, which 
may impact eligibility in this Schedule to the extent that a participating customer exceeds such cap.  
Currently, the electric energy usage cap for individual customers participating in this Schedule is set at 
3,000 kWh/month, measured in consideration of average net electricity consumption over a rolling 
three-month period.  Customers with average electricity usage in excess of the prescribed cap may be 
subject to removal from this Schedule, depending on the availability of electric power supplied by the 
Local Sol Generator. In such a scenario, customers will be returned to their otherwise applicable MCE 
service election without penalty.     
 
MCE’s STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICE:  MCE customers electing to take service under 
this Schedule will be subject to MCE’s standard terms and conditions of service, which can viewed online 
by visiting: http://www.mcecleanenergy.org/terms_and_conditions/.     

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION & ENROLLMENT:  Eligible MCE customers may enroll in Schedule Local Sol 
by contacting an MCE customer service representative at 1 (888) 632-3674, Monday through Friday, 
7:00 A.M. to 7:00 P.M. Pacific Prevailing Time or by emailing info@mceCleanEnergy.org.  Additional 
information regarding Schedule Local Sol can be viewed online by visiting: 
https://mcecleanenergy.org/100-local-solar/.   

 
 
 

Agenda Item #8_Att. A: Draft Elec. Sched. LS - 100% LS Elec. Supply

http://www.mcecleanenergy.org/terms_and_conditions/
https://mcecleanenergy.org/100-local-solar/


Local Sol: 100% Local Solar 
A Local Renewable Choice for MCE Customers 
 
Marin Clean Energy | February 18, 2016 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol

MCE Clean Energy 
My com mun ty. My choice. 



Program Overview 

• Program name: Local Sol 
• Opportunity for MCE customers to purchase electricity from a new, 

local solar project located at the Cooley Quarry in Novato 
• 100% Voluntary 
• 100% New 
• 100% Local 
• 100% Solar 

• Eliminates participatory barriers and risks associated with solar 
• Shading 
• Roof orientation 
• Non-owned structures/facilities 
• Tariff volatility 

• “Bundled” RPS-eligible generation = electricity + REC 
• Limited participation (based on projected solar production) 

• Participation limited to 90% of projected solar output (eliminates “over-selling”) 
• Need to “match” projected use of participating customers with expected 

project output 
• Likely 150-300 residential customers per 1 MW project 

• Energy price/rate directly tied to MCE’s Feed-In Tariff 
• PG&E delivery charges will continue to apply 

 
2 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



Establishing the Program 

• MCE has studied similar, successful programs offered by 
SMUD (Sacramento) and Tucson Electric Power (Arizona) 

• Existing retail solar offerings were identified as feasible ways to 
promote key MCE objectives: 

• Support development of local renewable energy projects 
• Enhance opportunities for local economic development 
• Provide innovative service offerings to MCE customers 
• Promote electric rate stability 

• Technical Committee discussions identified preferred 
program elements/terms 

• MCE Board approved program elements/terms in April 2014 
• Feed-In Tariff underwent minor adjustments to accommodate 

additional local solar project (1 MW), which will support Local 
Sol 
 
 

3 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



Program Comparison 

4 

100% Local Sol Deep Green PG&E Solar Choice 

Renewable Content 100% 100% 50% or 100% 

Project Location(s) Local – Novato CA + Western U.S. Same County as 
Participating 
Customer 

Product Certification RPS Bucket 1  Green-e Energy Green-e Energy 
Age of Generator(s) New – 2016  CY 2002 COD or 

later* 
New – will depend 
on subscribership  

Fuel Source Solar Wind & Solar Solar 

Residential 
Generation Rate 

$0.165/kWh – 
fixed** 

$0.115/kWh*** $0.097/kWh 

Monthly Program 
Premium @ 500kWh 

$30.00 $5.00 $17.91 (estimated) 

*For deliveries occurring in 2016; eligibility dates move forward with time. 
**Proposed rate ties directly to MCE’s Feed-In Tariff rate of $0.138/kWh + administrative 
component of $0.004/kWh + PCIA. 
***RES-1 tariff rate of $0.082/kWh + Deep Green premium of $0.01/kWh + PCIA. 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



Key Program Elements 

• Limited Participation 
• FIT production @ 1 MW (solar) ≈ 1.8 million kilowatt hours per year 
• Sales limited to 90% of expected project output – eliminates the 

potential for over-selling  
• Actual customer participation ≈ 100-200 accounts, depending on 

historical usage and customer type (residential vs. commercial) 

• Proposed Pricing/Costs 
• Price based on cost (of FIT resource) 
• Price reflects significant premium relative to Light Green and Deep 

Green options ≈ additional cost of $25-$50/month (relative to Deep 
Green) for a typical residential customer 

• FIT contract term allows MCE to offer price certainty over an 
extended term: 20-years, contingent upon continued enrollment 

• MCE’s retail generation rate for Local Sol shall not exceed 
$0.142/kWh (but may be adjusted downward, depending upon 
program subscribership and applicable contract prices) 

• Local Sol rate = $0.138/kWh (FIT price) + $0.004/kWh 
(admin/overhead) 
 

 
5 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



Key Program Elements (Cont.) 
• Economic Development 

• Significant customer interest may allow MCE to extend current FIT pricing 
levels for additional FIT capacity 

• MCE FIT pricing creates enhanced financial incentives for qualified local 
developers/contractors 

• MCE FIT development creates local economic benefits 
• Annual Reconciliation 

• MCE tracks monthly/annual solar production at the project 
• MCE tracks monthly/annual electricity use by participating customers 
• MCE to annually compare actual energy production and customer 

energy use 
• Annual staff report demonstrating sufficiency of energy production in 

supporting program participation (copies sent to program customers) 
• Billing 

• Program generation price/rate would be substituted for participating 
customer’s otherwise applicable generation rate 

• No rate differentiation based on time of use – program rate would apply 
for all usage 

• May simplify billing/bill presentation for certain customers 
• Applicable demand charges, if any, would continue to apply for participating 

customers 

• Green-e Energy certification may be pursued 
6 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



Illustrative Residential Cost Comparison 

7 

PG&E 
Regional 

Solar 
Choice 

MCE  
Light 

Green 
50% 

MCE  
Deep 
Green 
100% 

MCE 
Local  

Sol 
100%  

Generation $48.48* $41.00 $41.00 $71.00 
Premium Incl. in fees N/A $5.00 N/A 
PG&E Fees $17.91** $11.62 $11.62 $11.62 

Total 
Generation 

Cost 

$66.39 $52.62 $57.62 $82.62 

*Estimate: actual generation cost to be based on PPA between PG&E 
customer and project developer 
**Incremental cost estimate based on PG&E web calculator 
Assumed electricity usage: 500 kWh/month 
Applicable rate schedule: E-1/Res-1  
Currently effective MCE and PG&E generation rates 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



Next Steps 

 
 
 
 
 
 Questions & Discussion 

 
 

8 

Agenda Item #8_Att. B: Presentation - Local Sol: 100% Local Sol



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board  
 
FROM:  David McNeil, Finance and Project Manager 
 
RE: MCE Reserve Policy (Agenda item #09) 
 
ATTACHMENT: Draft Reserve Policy 013 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
 
SUMMARY:   
Since inception MCE has recorded annual surpluses and accumulated reserves.  These 
reserves appear in MCE’s audited fiscal year end results as Total Net Position in the 
Statement of Net Position.  The Net Position is the difference between Assets and 
Liabilities.  If approved this Reserve Policy would guide the accumulation of reserves at 
MCE.   
 
Background 
The purpose of accumulating reserves is to enable MCE to meet its strategic objectives, 
secure favorable commercial terms from both third-party service providers and lenders 
and to enable MCE to acquire an investment grade credit rating. Adequate reserves will 
enable MCE to satisfy working capital requirements, procure energy at competitive rates, 
adhere to loan covenants, cover unanticipated expenditures and support rate stability. 
 
Calculation of Reserve Targets:  
The Policy recommends the accumulation of reserves using the following calculations: 
 

• Available Cash Reserve: equal to 90 days of operating expenditures; and  
• Contingency/Rate Stabilization Reserve: equal to 15% of projected annual 

revenues 
 
The calculation of reserve requirements is illustrated in the following table: 
 
Estimated Expenditures (FY 2016/17)        138,622,418  
Days Expenditure Target 90 days 
Available Cash Reserve Requirement          34,655,605  
Estimated Revenues (FY 2016/17)        144,507,388  
% of Revenue Target 15% 
Contingency Reserve Requirement          21,676,108  
Total Reserve Requirement          56,331,713  

MCE 



2 
 

 
MCE is projected to have reserves of $25 million as of March 31, 2016.  Available cash 
was $18 million as of December 31, 2015.  This amount of available cash is expected to 
be at or near the high point of the fiscal year 2016. 
 
Budget Impacts: No direct impact.  The amount contributed to reserves each year is 
subject to Board approval through the budget setting process.    
 
Recommendation: Approve the Reserve Policy. 



 

 1
 

 
 
 

POLICY 013:  Reserve Policy 
 
 
Policy Statement 
 
MCE will adopt budgets and establish rates that provide for a growing Reserve until target 
funding levels are met.   
 
The Reserve will grow to and be maintained at the following funding levels: 

• Available Cash: equal to 90 days of operating expenditures; and  
• Contingency/Rate Stabilization: equal to 15% of projected annual revenues.  

 
The MCE Board will adopt budgets and establish rates for MCE with the goal of building up 
the Reserve by March 2019, subject to MCE’s ability to meet operational expenditures and 
maintain competitive rates.   
 
 
Policy Purpose  
 
MCE will prudently manage its operations in a manner that supports its long-term financial 
independence and stability while providing sufficient financial capacity to meet short term 
obligations.  This Reserve Policy (or “Policy”) is important in meeting MCE’s strategic 
objectives, securing favorable commercial terms from both third-party service providers and 
lenders and in the development of a future stand-alone MCE credit rating. The Reserve 
Policy will govern the accumulation of reserves in the enterprise fund.  The Reserve will be 
accounted for as the Net Position in MCE’s financial statements. 
Adequate Reserves will enable MCE to satisfy working capital requirements, procure 
energy at competitive rates, adhere to loan covenants, cover unanticipated expenditures, 
and support rate stability.  

 
 
Relationship to the Budget and Periodic Review 
 
Authority to spend from reserves must align with Board approved Budgets. Staff will review 
the Reserve Policy annually to ensure it meets the needs of the agency.  The future 
development of MCE may require the expansion of reserve requirements to support new 
activities such as major expansion of MCE activities or the acquisition of generating assets.   
 

Agenda Item #9_Att: Draft Reserve Policy

MC E Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



1 

 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  David McNeil, Finance and Project Manager 
 
RE: Update Regarding Voting Shares (Agenda Item #10) 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
 
Section 4.9.2.2 of the Joint Powers Agreement establishing Marin Clean Energy 
attributes voting shares to each Director based upon the Annual Energy Use of the 
communities they represent.  Section 4.9.2.2 requires that voting shares be adjusted 
annually based on prior year energy use no later than March 1st of each year.   
 
Annual Energy Use information is provided to MCE by PG&E when any communities 
have been served by MCE for less than one calendar year.  Due to factors beyond 
MCE’s control and due to no fault of its own, energy use information for 2015 is not 
expected to be received by MCE until June, 2016.   
 
Staff have consulted with MCE’s Attorney Gregory Stepanicich from the firm Richards, 
Watson & Gershon.  Mr. Stepanicich advises that MCE can delay updating voting shares 
beyond the March deadline provided that MCE updates the voting shares as soon as it 
receives the data from PG&E.  While a JPA amendment can be drawn up to address this 
situation, Staff and Mr. Stepanicich do not think it is necessary at this time.  If the data 
lag persists in future years, an amendment could be considered at that time.   
 
Budget Impact:  None. 
 
Recommendation:  Discussion item only. 
 

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



1 

 
 
 
February 18, 2016 
 
TO:  Marin Clean Energy Board 
 
FROM:  Jeremy Waen, Senior Regulatory Analyst 
 
RE: Regulatory Update (Agenda item #11) 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
 
Executive Summary of Regulatory Affairs for February 2016 

Below is a summary of the key activities at the California Public Utilities Commission 
(CPUC) for February 2016 impacting community choice aggregation and MCE. 
Highlights include: 

Energy Efficiency: 

• On February 1, the Commission held a prehearing conference to discuss the 
status of MCE’s Application for $88 million in energy efficiency funding. 

• MCE held two productive workshops regarding its Application – one in San 
Rafael in January and another in Richmond in February. 

• MCE requested an increase in energy efficiency funding for its existing programs 
to reflect MCE’s increase in service territory. The request is pending. 

Power Charge Indifference Adjustment (PCIA) 

• The Commission will hold a workshop to discuss potential reforms to the PCIA on 
March 8. 

• The Commission issued five “optional homework questions,” due February 16. 
• To date, MCE has propounded extensive data requests on PG&E in order to fully 

develop responses to the questions and develop concrete solutions for PCIA 
reform. 

• Separately, MCE has sought relief from two high-cost PG&E contracts that 
PG&E has the option to terminate. 

Storage: 

• MCE successfully requested revisions to a Proposed Decision that would have 
limited MCE’s energy storage portfolio. The final revised Decision was voted out. 

Agenda Item #11: Regulatory Update

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



2 

 
1. MCE Participates in Prehearing Conference on the Application for $88 

Million in Funding to Run Energy Efficiency Programs in 2016 and Beyond 
(A.15-10-014) 

 
On February 1, 2016 the CPUC held a Prehearing Conference in the Application 

Proceeding launched as a result of MCE’s recently filed Business Plan and Application 
for $88 million in funding over a 10-year period to run a comprehensive Energy 
Efficiency (EE) program. The Prehearing Conference was related to the schedule and 
scope for reviewing MCE’s Application. The CPUC is expected to issue a ruling following 
the Conference in the next few weeks. MCE has also conducted two public workshops to 
provide community members and stakeholders an opportunity to learn more about the 
Application and to provide feedback. The MCE workshops were held on January 28th, 
2016 in San Rafael and on February 4th, 2016 in Richmond.  

2. MCE Requests Additional Funding to Cover Energy Efficiency Programs for 
Communities Included in 2015 to Existing Programs (R.13-11-005) 

 
On January 25, 2016 MCE filed a Petition for Modification of CPUC Decision 14-10-

046. The requested modification is an increase of $374,046 to MCE’s annual energy 
efficiency budget starting in 2016. This increase accounts for the approximately 30% 
increase in customer accounts that resulted from MCE’s inclusion of new communities in 
2015. These communities include unincorporated Napa County and the cities of El 
Cerrito, Benicia, and San Pablo. 

3. MCE Seeks Power Charge Indifference Adjustment (PCIA) Reform in PG&E 
2015 Energy Resource Recovery Account (ERRA) (A.14-05-024) 

 
In accordance with the Commission Decision (D.) 15-12-022 on PG&E’s 2016 

ERRA, the Commission staff and interested parties are taking steps to prepare for a 
workshop to consider reform to the PCIA within the ongoing PG&E 2015 ERRA 
proceeding. Though the Commission originally intended for this workshop to occur on 
February 16, the Commission staff more recently changed the date to March 8. In 
addition Commission staff circulated a list of five questions as an “optional homework 
assignment” for parties planning to participate at this workshop, which is due on 
February 16, 2016. 

Agenda Item #11: Regulatory Update

FOUNDATION 

1 / Foundation 
2 I Policy 
3 I Fact 

» application / rulemaking 
» protest I response 
» reply to protest I response 

4 / Law 

2 I Policy 
3 I Fact 
4/ Law 

5 / Proposed Decision 
6 / Final Decision 
7 I Implementation 

5 / Proposed Decision 
6 / Final Decision IMPLEMENTATION 

» scoping memo 
» comments / reply 
» workshops 

3 I Fact 6 / Final Decision 
4 / Law 7 / Implementation 
5 / Proposed Decision 



3 

Since December of last year, MCE staff has been taking steps to prepare for this 
workshop. These steps include conducting discovery of facts relating to the PCIA 
through issuing data requests to the Investor-Owned Utilities. MCE staff issued the first 
Data Request to PG&E on December 23, 2015. PG&E responded with a Data Request 
to MCE on January 12, 2016, which MCE staff responded to in a timely manner. MCE 
subsequently issued a follow-up Data Request to PG&E on January 28, 2016 along with 
similar data requests to both San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E) and Southern 
California Edison (SCE) on January 29, 2016. MCE staff utilized the responses to all of 
these requests to inform MCE’s response to this “homework”. MCE staff continues to 
coordinate with other CCAs and other parties and await the circulation of the final 
agenda for the upcoming PCIA workshop. 

On a separate but related front, MCE staff protested PG&E Advice Letter (AL) 4761-
E which sought Approval of Forbearance Agreements between PG&E and Solar 
Partners II, LLC and Solar Partners VIII, LLC for Ivanpah Units #1 and #3. In this AL 
PG&E seeks to extend cost recovery for two large, high cost solar thermal facilities that 
have been underperforming to the point that PG&E could seek termination of the 
contracts for these facilities. Since PG&E is choosing to continue purchasing power from 
these resources instead of terminating the agreement, MCE staff has argued that its 
customers, which have departed from PG&E’s generation service prior to the timing of 
this choice, should no longer have to pay for this resource through the PCIA. 
Commission staff is currently reviewing the protests presented by MCE and other parties 
and will ultimately draft a formal Resolution to address this AL that the Commission will 
have to approve via a public vote. 

4. MCE Advocates for Fair Treatment regarding Energy Storage Procurement 
Obligations in the new Energy Storage Roadmap Rulemaking (R.15-03-011) 

 
Phase 1 

On January 28, 2016 the Commission voted to approve its Decision regarding 
revisions to how Energy Storage (ES) procurement will be counted by MCE and other 
Load-Serving Entities towards meeting their storage procurement obligations. Under 
current rules, MCE must procure storage equal to 1% of its peak load by 2020. This 
Decision resulted in two significant changes for how CCAs will be able to count 
resources towards meeting their ES procurement obligations. First, the Decision allows 
for CCAs to count ES deployed voluntarily by customers within the CCA’s territory. 
Second, the Decision allows for CCAs to count half of the capacity of ES deployed within 
the CCA’s service territory when Self-Generation Incentive Program (SGIP) funding is 
used to incentivize this deployment. Previously CCAs could not count any of the capacity 
from SGIP-funded ES towards the CCAs’ storage procurement obligations. As a result of 
this Decision, MCE will be able to count 0.8 MW of the 1.6 MW total resource capacity 
for the College of Marin onsite storage installation towards MCE’s ES procurement 
obligation. MCE staff was instrumental in helping bring about the development of this 
resource. The remaining 0.8 MW will be counted by PG&E because they are the 
administrators of the SGIP funding program. Both MCE and PG&E bundled customers 
contribute through rates to the SGIP funding pool. 

Agenda Item #11: Regulatory Update

1 / Foundation 4 / Law 
2 I Policy 5 / Proposed Decision 7 I Implementation 
3 I Fact 



4 

This recent Decision also impacts the recently submitted MCE AL E-012 that MCE 
staff submitted to the Commission on December 18, 2015. As such MCE will submit an 
amendment to this AL once directed to by Commission staff. 

 
Phase 2 

The Energy Storage Roadmap Proceeding remains open as the Commission 
continues to explore additional policy matters through a second phase to this 
proceeding. Among these policy questions is whether the ES procurement targets for 
CCAs should be changed (increased or decreased). MCE staff remains engaged in this 
proceeding to ensure energy storage targets for CCAs remain reasonable. On February 
5, MCE and Lancaster jointly filed comments on these second phase matters. 

Agenda Item #11: Regulatory Update

» scoping memo 
» comments / reply 
» workshops 

3 I Fact 
4 / Law 
5 / Proposed Decision 

6 / Final Decision 
7 I Implementation 


	2.18.16 Board Agenda
	Oath of Office - Sashi McEntee
	C.1_1.21.16 Board Minutes
	C.2_Staff Report - Report on Approved Contracts
	C.3_Staff Report - Monthly FY15-16 Budget Report
	C.3_Att_MCE Budget Reports 2015-12
	C.4_Staff Report - OBR Agreement with River City Bank
	Att. A_Second OBR Agreement 1.15.16
	RECITALS
	PROGRAM OVERVIEW
	1.01. Name.
	1.02. Program Phases.
	1.03. Pilot Program Goals.
	1.04. Service Description.
	1.05. Term of Agreement.
	1.06. Representations and Warranties

	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
	2.01. Marketing and Information Delivery
	2.01.1 MCE
	2.01.2 RCB

	2.02. Summary of OBR Loan Terms
	2.02.1 Basic Terms
	2.02.2 MCE Delivery of Information in connection with Loan Applications

	2.03. Documentation, Changes to Scope of Work & Project Completion
	2.03.1 RCB approval of Applications
	2.03.2 Changes to Scope of Work
	2.03.3 Project Completion


	LOAN FUNDING AND PAYMENT PROCESSING
	3.01. Loan Balances
	3.02. MCE as Billing Agent
	3.02.1 Monthly Reports
	3.02.2 Reconciliation of Loan Information
	3.02.3 Loan Correction Notice
	3.02.4 Delivery of Payments
	3.02.5 Prepayments on OBR Loans


	CUSTOMER INQUIRIES – DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	4.01. Customer Inquiries
	4.02. Dispute Resolution

	LATE PAYMENTS, SHARING OF PAYMENTS AND LOAN LOSS RESERVE
	5.01. Late Payments
	5.01.1 Timing Issues – Corrected Bills
	5.01.1 (a) Carve-Out
	5.01.1 (b) Termination of Carve-Out Availability

	5.02. Payment Default
	5.02.1 Notification to Borrower

	5.03. Pro-Rata Sharing of Payments
	5.03.1 Method for Determining Pro-Rata Sharing

	5.04. Excess Payments Received During Default
	5.05. Loan Loss Reserve
	5.05.1 Charges to the Loan Loss Reserve Account
	5.05.2 Credits to the Loan Loss Reserve Account
	5.05.3 Reporting of Loan Loss Reserve Balance
	5.05.4 Loan Loss Reserve Account – Early Termination of Program
	5.05.5 Loan Loss Reserve Termination Date
	5.05.6 Interest Earned on the Loan Loss Reserve Account


	MISCELLANEOUS
	6.01. Modifications to Program
	6.02 Information Security – Delivery of Information
	6.03 Confidentiality
	6.04 Reliance among Parties
	6.05 Limitation of Liability
	6.06 Communications - Notices
	6.07 Amendments
	6.08 Survival – Representations and Warranties
	6.09 No Recourse to Constituent Members of MCE
	6.10 Entire Agreement
	6.11 Governing Law
	6.12 Waiver
	6.13 Attorneys’ Fees; Prejudgment Interest
	6.14 Counterparts
	6.15 Severability
	6.16. Publicity
	6.17 Independent Contractors
	6.18 Assignment
	6.20 Insurance

	EXHIBIT A – CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION
	EXHIBIT B – BORROWER/CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT
	EXHIBIT C - LOAN INFORMATION NOTICE
	EXHIBIT D – OBR LOAN CORRECTION NOTICE
	MCE CUSTOMERS ONLY
	EXHIBIT E – NOTICE OF LOAN LOSS RESERVE ADVANCE
	EXHIBIT F – FORM OF LATE PAYMENT NOTIFICATION
	EXHIBIT G – SCHEDULE OF MCE SERVICE PROVIDERS
	EXHIBIT H – SAMPLE CUSTOMER DISCLOSURE AND CERTIFICATION
	EXHIBIT I: Multi-Family Energy Efficiency Program Statement of Completion
	eXHIBIT j: Commercial Check List-Post Install Site Inspection

	Att. B_RCB Operating Agreement - Fully Executed 7.11.13
	SKMBT_C22413071111490
	SKMBT_C22413071111491

	06_Staff Report - Proposed 2016-17 Budget
	SUMMARY:

	06_Att_Proposed Fiscal 2016-2017 Budget
	07_Staff Report Proposed MCE Rates for FY2017
	08_Staff Report - Electric Schedule Local Sol 2.8.16
	08_Att. A_DRAFT Schedule Local Sol 2.8.16 (004)
	08_Att. B_MCE Local Sol 2.8.16
	Local Sol: 100% Local Solar�A Local Renewable Choice for MCE Customers
	Program Overview
	Establishing the Program
	Program Comparison
	Key Program Elements
	Key Program Elements (Cont.)
	Illustrative Residential Cost Comparison
	Next Steps

	09_Staff Report Reserve Policy
	09_Att_Policy 013 - Reserve Policy
	POLICY 013:  Reserve Policy

	10_Staff Report - Votings Shares Update
	11_Regulatory Executive Summary



